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signed letter, ffl-2v, pen, black-edged paper

£f1 27. Norfolk Street. ({printed address:}
Park Lane. W.
6/1/65
My dear Capt. Galton
I have received the
enclosed from Capt.
Pilkington Jackson, R.A.,
who 1s now in London (at
the Junior United Service
Club.)
In matters of this
kind, I have always
felt the greatest
reluctance, & have
usually positively
declined, to interfere.
But in this instance

flv
you will perhaps
remember that you
wrote me a note
early in 1863, saying
Do not let poor
Jackson think that
he will be passed over.
The first opening we
have he shall be
thought of (or words
to that effect.)

A little later in
1863, & shortly before
Sir G. Lewis death,



£f2

when I was in Cleveland
Row, Lord de Grey
was so good as to
have some conversation
with me there, &
speaking of Pilkington
Jackson, regretted
that he had indisposed
Sir G. Lewis against
himself, & then stated
almost the same
as you did, as quoted
above; tho’ not
implying that I was
to give the comfort
to him, P. Jackson.

These are my reasons

f2v
for enclosing the note
I have received. And
I hardly need repeat
the opinion I have
given that Capt. P.
Jackson’s services
merit acknowledgment.
The best acknowledgment
would be to use them.

yours most truly

F Nightingale



unsigned letter, ff3-4v, pen,

£3
6804/2320

3

black-edged paper

27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}

Park Lane. W.
6/1/65

There is no objection to
the Director General’s
proposal, provided it
be carried out with
perfect fairness. To
do this, however,
something more must
be done than he
proposes. The men
entered the Service
without studying at
Netley, & consequently

£f3v

they gained 6 months

in time, before their

Commission - which

they would have lost

if they had gone to

Netley. To make

everything equal,

do as follows: -

1. admit the men to the
competitive examination
in February

2. give them 6 months
at Netley

3. take from their period



f4

of service these 6 months
This will be equivalent
to placing them 6 months
back as to the date
of their Commission.
This, you will see, 1is
only fair - otherwise
men could gain the
6 months by simply
volunteering for
Africa, & then being
allowed to compete.
Therefore the D.G.’'s
proposal that they
should retain their
present position

fiv
according to their
respective dates of
Commission, would be
unfair to the others.
Of course, while at
Netley, they will
receive only the pay
of “Candidates”. The
case 1s an important
one, & should be
carefully considered -
The dates of the men’s
Commission are: -
A.J. Belmore 16 April 1862
A. Lewis 24 Nov. 1863
Every year in Africa counts as two
years for promotion & retirement.
Would it be fair in surrendering
this, to retain the dates of the Commissions?
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initialled letter, ff5-5v, pen, black-edged paper

£5 6899/259
27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.
10/1/65
My dear Capt. Galton [15:407]
I have been making
enquiries as to the D.G.’s
proposed alterations
in the Diet Scale.
Would you be so good
as to get from the
Purveyor in Chief: in
how many instances
Medl Officers have
departed from the
Diet Scale or claimed

£f5v
to depart from it -
at home Stations
within (say) the year
186472
Yours most truly
F.N.
It would be most
important if the
kind of wvariation
could be stated. [end]



signed letter, ff6-7, pen, blue paper

f6
27 Norfolk St. [15:170-71]
15/1/65
My dear Capt. Galton

Dr. Sutherland told me, about
ten days ago, that Mrs. S. Stewart had
written for leave to take on a Nurse
under age.

In this matter of age, in all Hospitals,
Civil & Military, at home & abroad,
religious & secular, the Regulation
is made, merely to prevent kind
friends, e.g. (like Col: Wilbraham & Sir
E. Lugard) from sending you orphan
girls for a provision, or old ladies
for a superannuation, who ought to
be in an almshouse -

And all Superintendents of

fov
whatever denomination, have
always plenipotentiary authority
to break it, in favour of a fit
object. [We are always breaking it at St. Thomas’
& King’s Coll: Hospitals.]
If there is anything you may
trust Mrs. S. Stewart in, it is this.
If there is anything in which
the Supt. should have power to break
a Regulation, it is in a matter of
which she can be the only judge,
& of /upon which the person who is
responsible for the efficiency of
the Nursing Service must be capable
supposed—to—Pbe/of giving the only competent
decision - & can only wish to uphold discipline.
To thwart her in this, while
Governor P.M.O., Capt. of Orderlies
have been so flagrantly violating



£7
all Regulations, to the destruction
of all discipline, for two years,
would be indeed to strain at a
gnat & swallow a camel.
You may give my experience, 1if
you like it, that, in no Order or
Institution whatever, would this Regulation
be dorme/rigidly upheld & that the present
S. of S. for War would be the first
to set such an example.

I should have written before,
but Dr. Sutherland assured me
the paper was coming to me, as
promised. And I did not like
to appear to interfere especially in
a woman’s matter, where the S. of S. would

be sure to ever yours truly
seek my advice
as he said I was F. Nightingale

in an “official position”
with regard to Mrs. S. Stewart!!



8
signed letter, ff8-11, pen, black-edged paper [8:169-70]

£8
The papers on Female Hospitals
just returned to Mr. Cooper
27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.
16/1/65
My dear Capt. Galton
I should have made
very short work of
answering those papers.
But Dr. Sutherland
would keep them, till
he could go down &
inspect the Chatham
Hospital.
The gquestions in
them were two:
1. should Erysipelas &
such like cases be
received into the

f8v
General ward of a
Lying-in Hospital?
Answer (by F.N.)

No:
in the best Civil Hospitals,
all Erysipelas, Gangrene
& generally what are
called “offensive” cases
(which does not
mean the Supt. of
Nurses) are always
placed under complete
segregation, (or removed
when, unfortunately, they



£f9
arise within the Hospital)
to complete segregation)
in a separate set of wards
under a separate Head
Nurse & Nurses.

The reason is: that
no ventilation or
construction will
make these cases,
(or any, where there
is offensive discharge,)
non-infectious, as
Scarlet Fever &c may
be made. Because
good-natured Patients
will lend their things,
whatever you do to

fov
prevent it.
Now the very mug
of a case, like the
above, ought to be
washed separately.
Such cases ought
therefore to be always
in a ward entirely
detached.
2. Would not the
appointment of
separate Medical
Officers, one for the
Lying in Ward, one for
the General ward, (including



f10

fever, bronchitis &
such like, but not
Erysipelas & such
like,) obviate all
danger of “carrying”
infection?

Answer (F.N.)

If a Medical Officer
is such a fool that,
either by dirty hands
or any such neglect,
he can “carry” anvthing
from the general to
the Lying-in Ward,
he will do as much
harm to the lying-in

fiov

cases, with OR WITHOUT
the general ward

under him.

There is no such thing

as “carrying” infection.

Please however to
return us those
papers, in order that
Dr. Sutherland may
inspect the Chatham
Female Hospital -

And we will then
give you a splendid
answer.
ever yours truly
F. Nightingale

10
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f1l1

I have had a letter
from Col: Wilbraham
overflowing with milk
of charity, quite
“relieved that there is
not to be a change

in the Supt. Genl.”
she has made him

an apology, which was
all he wanted &c &c
It is really a nice
letter. But how long
will it last?

Is it that the Supt.
Genl has had her dose,
but the Commandant
has not yet had his

from the S. of S?

signed letter, ff12-13, pen, black-edged paper

£f12
27. Norfolk Street. [15:171]
Park Lane. W. {printed address:}
17/1/65

My dear Capt. Galton

As Mrs. Shaw Stewart
has been desired to
“adhere” “to Regulations”,
& to”allow” no “deviation”,
(with regard to the
age of Nurses) and
as I have had a
letter from Col:
Wilbraham, stating
that Mrs. Shaw Stewart



12

fl2v

has been so dealt
with (by the S. of S.)
as to write an
apology to him,

Col: W., with which
he is greatly satisfied
might I ask what

steps have been
taken, upon your
Netley Report, in
order to bring before

£13

Col: Wilbraham'’s

notice the gross

breaches of discipline

which he has

allowed to exist

in several Departments

under his charge? [end]
yours very truly
Florence Nightingale

initialled letter, fl14, pen, black-edged paper

f14
27. Norfolk Street. [15:407]
Park Lane. W. {printed address:}
25/1/65

My dear Capt. Galton
Sir H. Verney has -
with a rapidity of which,
of course, the W.O. has
been to him the example,
been to Gosport, as
you desired, seen the
Reading room. And
here is the result:
Pray take a note of
what requires notice
And return me the
enclosed
ever yours truly
F.N.
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signed letter, ff15-19v, pen, black-edged paper

£15

Private

27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.

26/1/65
My dear Capt. Galton
I understand from [9:397]

Dr. Sutherland, that
there has been a tempest
in a pint-pot, about

Sir C. Wood receiving
from me a copy of

your ‘Remarks’ upon

Dr. Leith’s Report.

That Report was

publicly circulated in
extenso in the newspapers
of India as far back as

£f15v

August last. It was
widely quoted from,

in such terms as these
viz. that it shewed the
R. Commission’s Report
to be all nonsense.

I first received it in
a newspaper from India
from a private hand.

I wrote to Lord Stanley
to ask Sir C. Wood to
submit the Report,
which was doing such
extensive mischief



14

f16
to your Commission.

And then (& not till
then, I believe) it was
sent you from the India
Off:

Another 2 * months
elapsed before the reply
was ready.

In the mean time I
received (on November
18) a note from Sir
C. Wood, who had taken
the trouble to find
out my direction - a
very kind note - but
quoting Dr. Leith’s
Mortality of 12 per 1000

fleéev
as a kind of triumph -
After your “Remarks”
came out, I waited
for several days, not
only till after I knew
they had been officially
distributed, but till
after I was informed
that the covering letter
had been written & sent
to Sir C. Wood. I then
replied to his note,
already two months old,
& sent him a copy
to his own house.
All that I regret is,
my excessive discretion



15

£17

(which indeed is my
besetting sin)

which prevented me

from fore-stalling the
reply to Dr. Leith, and
my answering to Sir C.
Wood, instead of
waiting for some days
till after it had come
out. Since it would

be far better if the temporary
12 per 1000 had
remained at 69 per 1000,
if people are to be
deluded by it into the
belief that any
material improvements

- securing a permanent

£f17v
improvement in health
have been made at
Indian Stations

As we are going to
have exactly the same
game to play in
replying to Col: Norman’s
answer (to the R
Commission’s Report)
which has arrived
at the India Office -
& may arrive in the
course of years at your
Office, I have submitted
to your Honour my
sentiments on the
occasion.
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f18

As for Sir John Lawrence,
of course I send him

all this class of papers.
The extreme celerity
with which the “Suggestions”
were prepared, which

he begged & prayed for
on December 1, 1863,
(when he was appointed
Governor Genl), & for
which he wrote for
repeatedly in these
terms, “we are standing
still for want of them,”
“we are in danger of
doing worse” &c &c &c

£f18v

emboldens me to hope

that, as it is desirable

such papers should

reach him during his

life-time, my master

will condone the sin

I have committed - &

shall commit - in

sending them him

by Book=post direct [end 9:398]
ever yours truly

F. Nightingale

To sum up: it will be fully [9:399]

seven months and a half

since the public circulation

of {printed address: 27. Norfolk Street.
upside down} Park Lane. W.

Dr. Leith’s Report by
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f19

_3_
newspapers in India,
before the Reply, sent
by me direct to Sir
John Lawrence, will
reach him.

[It may be seven
years and a half,
for aught I know,
before the copies sent
by the India Off: will
reach him. ]

O’ Connell said: it
was worth while to
make a lie to last
24 hours.

How very much worth
while, then, for Indians

fl9v

to make a lie which
lasts 7 * months,
at shortest!

I hope, then, that
the over-haste and
indiscretion, with
which this lie will
have been treated, so
as to receive its reply
in less than 8 months,
will be pardoned - !! [end 9:399]

F.N.

£f20, D. Galton, February 18, 1865, cd we usefully make any enquiry into the
apparent cause of scarlet fever?, on embossed WO
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unsigned note, f21v, pencil

f21v

I am not sure that it would
do to submit this paper to
Mrs. Wardroper -

She conceals it even from the
Probationers.

It strikes me very much that
it would not do to send

this paper either to Mrs.
Wardroper or Miss Jones

I ought not to call

Miss Jones our Training &c”
anyway

initialled letter, ££f22-23, pen, black-edged paper

£22
Private 6998/107
27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.
2/2/65
My dear Capt. Galton

This is a remarkably
good letter of Mrs. Shaw
Stewart, & bodes well
for the future.

About the Night
Orderlies, the difficulty
is one which necessarily
results from the
absurd construction of
the Hospital. No one
can re-echo more strongly



£f22v

than I do Mrs. Stewart’s
observation about the
difficulty of night
attendance on these
small wards.

Yet, for all that.
Orderlies must not
sleep in the wards.

Remit the question
to the Appropriation
Committee when it
goes down, as to
where Night Orderlies

£23
should sleep -

And give no other
answer in the meantime
Of course the Appropriation
Committee will hear
Mrs. S. Stewart’s “reasons”,
which she further
alludes to.

yours very truly

F.N.

19
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initialled letter, f24, pen, black-edged paper

£24
7390/942
27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.
3/2/65
My dear Capt. Galton
It will be very
useful to make an
enquiry into the
apparent cause of
Scarlet Fever at these
Stations.
I would suggest that
it should be made by
the B. & H. I. Commission.
But of course you are
the best judge whether
the D.G. should not
make it.[Dr. Logan’s services
will be on it either way.]
ever yours truly F.N.

initialled letter, ff25-26v, pen, black-edged paper

£25
7557/579 and 624
27. Street. [15:407]
Park Lane. W. {printed address:}
10/2/65

My dear Capt. Galton

The Assist Commandt
is an Officer whose
existence is absolutely
ignored by Regulation.
He may be of any class of
officer - and added
for any purpose, as
in this case for invaliding;
but he is only a third
hand to the Governor.
When Col: Wilbraham
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£25v
leaves Netley, Dr. Anderson
is undoubtedly Governor.

If this is not set
right, you may, on the
very first emergency,
in time of war, have
a disaster.

For Commandant is
specially commissioned,
P.M.O. is specially
selected - But Assistant
Commandt is merely
an unrecognised Officer

£f26
of the Governor; and (in
his absence) of the P.M.O.
acting as Governor

After this exposition,
it need hardly be said
that Dr. Anderson, in
the absence of the
Governor, was quite
right in forwarding
his communication,
regarding the Billiard
room Gas, direct to
the S. of S., and not thro’
the Asst. Commandt

f26v
As to the Gas, I am
indifferent: also as
to the nocturnal
Billiards. Let them
pay to play. [end]
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signed letter, ff27-28v, pen, black-edged paper

£27
27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.
21/2/65
My dear Capt. Galton
I have to trouble
you and (if you will
forward my note)
Lord de Grey about
the oft-repeated
matter of pay to the
Custode (an English
N.C. Officer, Serjeant
Lyne) of the Scutari
Burying - ground. The

£27v

salary was fixed - &
was to be paid at
the English Embassy
at Constantinople.

But “Serjeant Lyne
“‘has heard nothing
“further about his
“appointment, & has
“been left without any
“salary for more than
“3 months, which has
“placed him in a
“position of very great



23

£28

“embarrassment all
“the more as his wife
“is again expecting
“‘her confinement.”

I have been asked
to ask Lord de Grey,
if he would be so
good as to remind
the Foreign Office of
this fact.

Believe me

Yours very truly

Florence Nightingale

initialled letter, ££f29-30v, pen, black-edged paper

£29
Private
27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.
Mar 4/65 [14:1020]
My dear Capt. Galton
I send you the short
statement I made of
what Sidney Herbert did.
That work is still going
on. The Death rate in
the Infantry was in
1862 6. 69
3 8. 95 x
X

Mla = i) )
(J.J.J.J.D wdado dllulllieal tlily " yT&dal

cl.ll |GAVASH N Euglaud)

I do not know, of
course, what Ld Panmure’s
point is. But, the last



£29v
time I ever saw Ld Panmure,
he told me himself:

(I tell you this in

confidence)

“You claim for S. Herbert
all the credit of what
I began.
“It was up to 746 that
the Mortality (Infantry)
was per 1000 18 (17.9)
“I brought it down to
per 1000 15 in ’56 when I was
in Office.
“From whose measures, too,
originated the Crimean
diminution of sickness

£30
& Death-rate? mine not
S. Herbert’s”
I tell you just what he
said. Of course I have
a great deal to say
on the other side.
But I would concede to
him that he did begin
measures for bringing
down the Mortality at
home - also that the
Crimean measures were
certainly his.

But you cannot have
a better illustration,
in brick & stone, than
Netley & Woolwich.

24
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£30v

Hospitals, of what the

difference (essential)

between his & S. Herbert’s

measures was.

I have no influence

whatever with Ld Dalhousie.

He told S. Herbert that

I was “a turbulent fellow.”

I told him Ld Dalhousie afterwards

that I knew he had

called me “a turbulent

fellow”. And of course

we had a very good

joke over it. And of

course he denied &

apologized. But that

was all. [end]
F.N.

unsigned letter, £31, pen, black-edged paper,

£31
27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
Would it not be better for you to be
at the HO: of Lords & ‘coach’ Lord de
Grey in his answer to Ld Panmure
to night.
If we can get up anything
farther for you, pray command
us.
Ld Panmure will be sure to do his
worst. Mar. 6/65

written lengthwise on page
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signed letter, f£f32-33v, pen, black-edged paper

£32
27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.

Mar 7/65
My dear Capt. Galton
I don’t know whether [16:438-39]

you remember a certain
Revd C.B. Gibson,

a Presbyterian Chaplain,

dismissed the Irish

Convict Service,

because he wrote a

book establishing

certain facts against

that Service, & in

favour of Sir J. Jebb’s

£32v

Rather more than a

year ago, we made great
efforts to have him
made an Army Chaplain.
For quite independently
of the above facts, he
is a Chaplain who
obtains an extraordinary
permanent influence
over the men - which
Chaplains, I am sorry
to say, in general, do
not. And this, though
(perhaps because) he is



277

£33
very Irish & “gushing” &
all that.

A semi-promise was
obtained for “the Revd
C.B. Gibson” then, that
he should have the
first vacancy among
Army Presbyterian Chaplains.

It is said that “the
War Office is about
appointing two Irish
Presbyterian Chaplains”.

The Chaplain=General
told Lady Herbert, in
a note (which she sent

£33v

me) that he “had put
down the Revd. C.B.
Gibson’s name, but

that there was no
vacancy then.” There is
one now.

If you think it
desirable, Sir Harry Verney
would wait upon Lord
de Grey & restate what
we know about Mr.

Gibson.
I think I sent you
a copy of his book. [end]

ever yours truly
F. Nightingale
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signed letter, ff34-35, pen, black-edged paper

£34
27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.
Mar 7/65
My dear Capt. Galton
I thought Lord de Grey’s

speech admirable - & was
by no means alone in
my opinion. From three
peers I have heard this
morning, who were
all ready to speak in
Lord Herbert’s defence,
had it been necessary,
that it was not
needed, because Lord
de Grey had managed

£34v

the defence so admirably.
-that Ld Dalhousie

had damaged himself

essentially & that the

tone of feeling all

went with Ld de Grey

- that Lord de Grey

replied so well that

it was quite unnecessary

for any body to say

anything - that Ld

Dalhousie’s “vice’ had

done good.
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£35
I should be quite satisfied
-being quite sure that
the tone of Ld de Grey’s
answer had more weight
than a more technical
exposition.
But it has been suggested
to me to propose, if you
thought it desirable,
that we should now
make a little technical
exposition of the principles
of Hospital construction,
in answer, perhaps, to
questions py—from Lord de Grey

ever yours truly

F. Nightingale

signed letter, ff36-37v, pen, black-edged paper

£36
27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.
Mar 9/65 [15:408]
My dear Capt. Galton
A part of the Guards
at Windsor (owing to
the prohibition against
forming Military
Associations or Societies,
as being contrary to the
rules of the Service)
have affiliated themselves
to the Windsor Branch
of the “Church of England”
Temperance Society.



f36v
It is felt that, when
they come to London,
in April, they will be thrown
upon the world again,
as they have no
power to form any
temperance Society
within the Battalions.
The Serjeant Major
is very anxious about
this.
Would it not be
possible to encourage
temperance, without

£37
infringing discipline?
Would you please
to let me know about
this - as I have been
asked what to do
from Windsor.
ever yours most truly
F. Nightingale
The Serjt Major says that
one gallon of beer is
consumed instead of
eighteen - that 108
Privates & 12 Serjeants
have joined the
movement - that the

£37v
Serjts go about canvassing
among the men for

names - & that there
will be a great many
more - that, in the

Serjts Mess, coffee is
drunk instead of
beer.

30

[end 15:408]
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initialled note, £f38, pen, black-edged paper
£f38 {written lengthwise on the page}

27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.

Capt. Galton
What about my Presbyterian

Chaplain?

Shall I send Sir Harry to bother
somebody? F.N.

Mar 9/65

signed letter, ff39-39v, pen, black-edged paper

£39
27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.
Mar 10/65
My dear Capt. Galton
If your Chaplain-General
“has nothing to do with
Presbyterians,’ there
is ne’er a humbug
in all Ireland equal
to him, to use the
mildest term - as
I shall be extremely
happy to demonstrate
to any gentleman
who desires it - from
a note which I am

£39v
extremely happy to
possess, of said
Chaplain Genl’s.
Yours very truly
F. Nightingale
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unsigned letter, £f40, pen, black-edged paper

£40

7569/42

27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.

11/3/65
The fire appears to have
been accidental - at least

arising from over-heating
of timbers. The Medical
Officer has nothing to

do with visiting the
Hospital at night; -
unless for severe cases,
if he thinks it necessary
The Purveyor, only has
charge of buildings, &
should, I suppose, take
the needful precautions
against fire.

unsigned letter, ff41-41v, pen, black-edged paper

f41
27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.
Mar 15/65
My dear Capt. Galton [16:439]
The Revd. Gibson (Pres=
byterian Chaplain) has
applied for one of the
N.C. Chaplaincies “so
the Presbyterian troops
at Sheerness, Warley or
Shoeburyness” - to which
he has received an
acknowledgment,
signed Partington
or some such word.



33

falv

“"Thankful for small
mercies,’ he is greatly
encouraged by this.

But he wishes to
know if he might be
“allowed to select
between the three
places mentioned”
tho’ none has as yet been
offered Your &c [end 16:439]
him Importunate Widow

ff42-43v, unsigned, undated memorandum {probably D. Galton} re Officiating
clergymen

unsigned letter, ff44-45, pen, black-edged paper

f44
27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.

Mar 25/65

The age 26 in the Warrant

was fixed with

reference to the period

of forced retirement

viz. 55. so that,

with the increased

pay & advantages

offered, the country

might get sufficient

service out of every

one entering: You

know how & why the



34

fidv

scheme fell through,
and how you were
obliged, on account
of want of candidates,
to raise the age
temporarily. By
adopting Dr. Gibson’s

plan, you will

assimilate the ages

in the British &

Indian services -

but you will have

to throw away two

£45

years of service - which is the same
thing as giving a

man his retirement

two years sooner

than the Warrant

contemplated.

It is merely a
question of money
not of efficiency -
and you must
decide the money
question.
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signed letter, ff46-47, pen, black-edged paper

f46
27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.
March 29/65

My dear Capt. Galton

Mr. Whitfield, of St.
Thomas’ Hospital, is
standing at the door
of Hounslow Cavalry
Hospital, & has been
standing there for ten
days without food
or water - only snow.

I hear that the [9:343]
B. & H. I. Commission,

fae6v

it is proposed, shall

be called the Army
Sanitary Committee.

The two first words,
Army Sanitary, (not

‘War Office’ Sanitary)
are, I think, a great
improvement in the title. But
don’t give up the word
“Commission”. I proposed
it. Lord Dalhousie

& Sidney Herbert

acceded to it. And
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£47
now that it covers
India, it would be very
unwise to give it up.

I had a tussle
with Sir J. Lawrence
about the word for
his Presidency
Commissions. And he
gave up the word
Committee - & has, as
you see, christened
them all Commissions. [end 9:514]

ever yours
F.N.

signed note, f£48, pen, black-edged paper
£f48 {written lengthwise on the page}

27. Norfolk Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane. W.
At home
This poor creature removed to
34 South Street
Park Lane
for good (or for bad)
F. Nightingale
May 1/65 Capt. Galton

signed letter, f£f49-50, pen, black-edged paper

£49
34 South Street
Park Lane W
May 5/65
My dear Capt. Galton
Here is a case of
such obvious necessity
that it occurs to me
to ask what the
War Office is doing
at Malta in
providing Soldiers’
Day rooms.
Please be so good
as to read over the
papers I enclose.
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£49v

& return them to me
with any information
you can give me?

I see that, in
your Mediterranean,
p- 9, you advise
separate Recreation
rooms for Barracks
at Malta. To what
extent has this
been carried out?

As the Committee
of the “Soldiers’ &
Sailors’ Institute
thinks a joint

A\Y

£50

establishment needful,

the Admiralty

should surely help.

And so should the

W.0., unless you

have already

provided Barrack

day & recreation rooms.
Could you lend

them rooms? Or in

what way could you

help them? in that case.
ever yours most truly

F. Nightingale
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signed letter, f£f51-53v, pen, blue paper [note address is corrected]

£51
32434 South Street. {printed address:}
Park Lane.
London. W.
May 8/65
My dear Capt. Galton
I have looked through
your Report on the Sanitary
state of the French Army
1855-6.
It 1is to me intensely
interesting.
And I should like
to have read it straight
through.
But I return it,
because, unless you have

£51v

done so already I think

it very important you

should send it to

Dr. Balfour for his

forth=coming Report.
It gives the facts

of the Medical &

Surgical experience

of the French Army

in the Russian War,

partly compared

with the results

experienced in the



£52
British Army.

The good of it to us
would be, if you would
request the A.M.D.
to make out some
comparison (for the benefit
good/ of the Medical
Officers) between any
special methods of
treatment or operations
in the French Army
& our own - and also
to draw up a good
Statistical comparison
between the results of

£52v
the campaigns in the
two Armies -

[There are some
paragraphs in the text
extremely unfair upon
our Army. And when
you come to look at
the Tables at the end,
the results of some
classes of operations
among themselves
are appalling - we
never had anything
like that at our worst
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£53

time - they seem to
have lost nearly
every case. ]

I want to read the
book through for my
own interest in it.

If you have already
sent it to Dr. Balfour,
or when you have it
back from him, I
should like to do

so, if you will kindly
return it to me -

£53v

ever yours most truly

F. Nightingale

Please make me a
present of your
General Report

B.& H. I Commission
& 1ts Appendix.

I am always making
presents of it - &
I want one now myself.
I have had one before
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signed letter, ff54-55, pen, black-edged

£54
34 South Street W
May 13/65
My dear Capt. Galton
Would you think
well to order the a
“Howard” ambulance
to be made
immediately under
Mr. Howard’s
supervision?
You have not an
Ambulance fit to
go into the field.
Mr. Howard’s

£54v
ambulance is fit
in every respect.
I understand that
your B.& H. T.
Commission is
unanimous in its
favour
Mr. Longmore’s caution,
in his Report upon
it, has merely been
made an excuse
for not spending
money
yours most truly
F. Nightingale

£55
Please return me
Mr. Howard’s letter.
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initialled report, f££f56-58v, pen

£56
20
A H Corps
518

The Report is not
sufficiently explicit

on the following points

to enable me to give

an opinion: -

1. Are “three weeks”
sufficient for
training Orderlies?
I doubt.

2. Why is there
nothing said

about special
training of Orderlies
for Field Service?

3. Why is there
nothing said about
Nurses training
Orderlies in making
poultices &c?



f56v

4. I cannot think
it right to
appropriate
Orderlies trained
for Medical service
to be “servants” to
“Candidates”, & to
take care of
“valuable plate”

as “Mess waiters.”
It seems to me

that attendants

on the sick are
trained for quite
other purposes

than these.

At the same time,
it is perfectly
necessary that
there should be
“servants” &

“Mess waiters.”

43
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£57

But more satisfactory
reasons should be
given, than are

given in the Report,
for appropriating
men—-nurses to

do this work.

[I should as soon
have thought of
appointing an in=
=valuable Surgical
Nurse to take
care of “valuable
plate” as of
appointing her
to take care of
my cat.]

5. The proportion

of N.C. Officers &
Privates attending
on sick (vide

£57v

Table A) seems
monstrously small,

as compared with the Total
(bottom of Table A)

of the Medical (?)
branch & with the proportion of it appointed
to Non=medical
employments.

Also, 1f “two” privates
are attending on
Lunatics, is not

a N.C. Officer
necessary?

Yet there is a N.C.O.
(vide Purveyor’s
branch) to attend

on the “Dirty Linen”
but not on the
“Lunatics.” (?) Are
Lunatics less valuable



£58
than “Dirty Linen”?

We consider a
N.C.0. gquite necessary
for “Baths.” (?)

But “Baths”, it
appears, are less
important than
“Grounds”, which
have a N.C. Officer
(vide Purveyor'’s
Branch.)

There are 7 Pioneers
to keep the Grounds
in order.

[I am no longer
surprised that
they require the
“Supt. of Nurses”
to look after them]
And only 17 men

£58v
for the “Surgical
side. (“in winter”)

I look upon this
merely from the
Hospital point
of view. There
is much that
I could not
judge of, without
personal inspection.
But, as you have
asked me, I
have raised such
questions as I
think should be
brought before
you -

F.N.
25/5/65

45
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initialled comment, ff59-62v, pen [15:172-73]

£59

6848/629

1. It is quite evident that
£300 placed in the
Estimates, for both

Netley & Woolwich,

will not do. (Mr. Knox.)

2. As female Nurses

must be provided for
Woolwich, the money

must be found.

If, as the Purveyor-in-
Chief states, £600 have
been put on the Estimates,
it is clear from Mrs.

S. Stewart’s Estimate
that it is too little.

3. Mrs. S. Stewart’s
Estimate is certainly
rather too low than
too high. It is qguite
certain that a good
many (“Contingencies”
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£59v

not only but) Current
Expences have been

& will be paid out

of her own pocket -

& these not only
“washing” & “postage”,
which she admits.

4. The proposed money
allowance being
obviously too little,
on Mrs. S. Stewart’s

own estimate, it i.e. an adequate {there is a line drawn to
‘adequate’ }

cannot be said what money allowance -

it will cover. But to cover the items in

an adequate money her own Estimate

allowance should cover: -

(1) . Pay of superintendent

(2) . Pay of Nurses X X It was stated that

(3) . Regulation Dress the S. of S. for War

(4) . Mess Money proposed to accede

to the Supt. Genl’s
estimate that it was
impossible to secure
women of the class
desired, under £30

a year for the first year,
instead of £20.

the word



X It was suggested that
the Purveyor-in- Chief
should estimate the
difference between

the value of a Ration
and of a sick Diet.

48

It should not cover

fuel

light

washing

postages

travelling expences
X sick diets &

w extras

“contingencies”
These charges should be entered
separately, excepting fuel & light
to be furnished by Purveyor

5. Mrs. Shaw Stewart

ought to have been

refunded the sum

she paid for Nurses’

outfits. She ought

to be applied to for

a statement of the

cost. It is not

desirable that a

private individual

should subsidize

the State.
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f60v

{This page has a large X drawn through it}
6. The Nurse is entitled

to (annual & triennial)

dress by Regulation 32,

page 128, new Medical

Regulations.

It is not possible
that “£5 for each
Nurse once for all”,
as the Supt. Genl
proposes, should
cover this.

This does not affect
this Estimate where—dress,—&atso
outfit for ast—ZFeast
the new Nurses, 1is
provided for.

But the Supt. Genl
should be requested
to estimate the
expence of dress for

each—Nurse—annualldy.
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f6l

6. The Nurse is entitled
to a certain amount

of dress by Regulation 32
page 128, new Medical
Regulations.

The Supt. Genl has
estimated this at
£5 each for the
present Nurses, which
is not at all too
much.

I do not think that
her Estimate of £5
each; to be granted
her “once for all for
each new Nurse”, will
cover the “table” &
“dormitory” articles
required for women,
But let it stand.

f6lv
Unless you increase
the Estimate up to
her amount, i.e.
£668. 15. 0.
it appears that the
best thing to do would
be to inform her
that £600 have
been taken this year
& that she is to
draw upon it for [end]
the following items: -
pay of Nurses
Dress & outfit
Mess money
pay of Superintendent
when appointed
washing
postage
sick diets & extras
travelling expences
contingencies
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£f62

This which is necessary

to the carrying out of

the system, is inconsistent
with the amount of money
you have taken on

the Estimates.

signed letter, ff63-64, pen, black-edged, blue paper, printed address 34

f63
Private June 17/65
34 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton [9:527]

As you have no doubt
heard from Lord de Grey,
Mr. Ellis, President of the
Madras Sanitary Commission
is here - & wants you to
help him in every way
in mastering the details
of sanitary work, during
his 6 months’ leave.

With regard to the
Military: -
he wants to see & to have

explained: -

1. your best Barrack (e.g. Chelsea



f63v
2. your best Military Hosp
(Herbert)
3. your best Mil. Hosp. at
work -

he must see the Medical
School, Invaliding &
Hospital Staff Orderlie
at work at Netley.

4. your best camp with
tenting, draining, wate
supply, application of
sewage &c

(Aldershot)
He wants particularly
to see camping=out

[He thought of Chalons
But is not Chalons a

permanent camp?]

f64

5. Should he not assist at
the Meetings of your

Army Sanitary Commission?

He wants, in short, to see
how the work is done
& the results you have
arrived at.

I have all but promised
him that you (if you
can) & Dr. Sutherland,
shall take him to these
places, to reply to all

his queries, yourselves.
is no one else to do it.

ever yours sincerely
F. Nightingale
Mr. Ellis’ address is
4 York Street

52

ital

S

r

There
[end 9:527]

{ in case
you do

St. James’ Square { not know
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initialled letter, ff65-66, pen, black-edged blue paper

£65
Private June 23/65
34 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
2.30. p.Mm. London. W. [15:410-11]

My dear Capt. Galton

I have only this moment
received your note.

I have sent off a Messenger
mmote instantly to Lord
Stanley, with orders to
pursue him wherever
he is, to ask him
to defend us against
Col: Percy Herbert to-night
He is the only man who
would be of the least
use to defend us.

Besides which, every

£f65v

“independent M.P.” I
know is larking in the
country. And you see
there is no time to
prime any body

And nobody understands
the question, except
Lord Stanley.

I hope he will do 1it.
But he is quite over=
whelmed with Committee
business just now -

I must say he 15 a
worker.

f66
I have told him that,

if he wants any priming,

you will very probably

be in the House to night.

Can you? I do think it is

shameful of Col: Percy

Herbert. But what

can you expect of him? [end]
ever yours
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initialled letter, f£f67-68, pen, black-edged blue paper

£67
Private June 23/65 [15:410-11]
34 South Street,
Park Lane, {printed address:}
London. W.

My dear Capt. Galton

I sent to Lord Stanley
the moment your note
arrived. His cab was
actually at the door -
You see what he says
Please return it to me.

I don’t know that
I can do anything else.
But if I can, please
let me know -

I thought of Mr. Arthur
Mills. But I don’t know
that he would be of any

f67v

use. If you think otherwise,
pray command me.

Ld Stanley wilfully puts
“Indian Sanitary Commission,”
instead of “general Army
sanitary question” which
was what I put.

I suppose he means he

would only speak on

that, his own question.

I dare say he is quite

right.
ever yours
F.N.
I wish you had let me
know earlier - For twice
fe68

to day I have had to
communicate with him,
Ld Stanley - And you see
he would have staid for us.
Burn, please - [end 15:411]
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initialled letter, £f69-69v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£69
June 24/65
34 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton [15:411]

Would you be so very
good as to tell me
whether Col: Herbert’s
motion disappeared
(I can see nothing of it
in the “Times”) - or whether
it is to come on, & in
what shape? I mean,
is it to be a general
attack? And, if so,
is there anything to be
done, as it is wvain to
try to do any thing at

f69v
the last moment.
What does Mr. Gladstone
say? [end 15:411]
ever yours
F.N.
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signed letter, f£f70, pen, black-edged blue paper

£70
June 26/65
Essence of Meat
34 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
Would you shew the
enclosed letter to the
Purveyor—-in-Chief -
it is for the part,
marked in red,
about the Admiralty
contract - the rest
is nothing -
& return the letter to
me?
ever yours sincerely
F. Nightingale

initialled letter, ff71-71v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£f71
June 26/65
34 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I thought you might [15:411]
like to see these two
heart-felt testimonies
to your Hospital - of
which you have borne
all the personal
responsibility, acting
most nobly.
Please return them
to me -
Please tell me if
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£f71v
Col: Herbert’s Motion
against Dr. Sutherland
comes on on Friday -
whether it is to attack
the general cause -
what, if anything, I am
to say to Ld Stanley,
to Sir H. Verney, or
anybody? what Mr.
Gladstone s&ys/ said to you [end]

ever yours

F.N.

unsigned draft, ff72-73v, 2 lines pen, mainly pencil, very faint
£72 [archivist: December 1866 FN]

[not FN:] After having read that discussion last night about
Dr. S.’s salary, I have no doubt you agree with me

that some final settlement or other must
be come to about it.

You know of course that at the time the Govt.
asked him to go as Commissioner to the Crimea
he was Sanitary advisor to Ld Hanover at
that time Pres. of G. Board of Health
& that, in order to go to the Crimea, he was obliged
to surrender the appointment to which Mr. Simon
was named - with a salary I believe of
£1500 per annum for part of his time only
Dr. S. made no bargain in complying with
the request of the Govt. in regard to this
appointment. He was paid £4.4 a day
by the W.0. for every day he was in the E.

When he returned he served on the R. Army

Sanitary Commn of 1857 giving his whole time
without remuneration & holding no appointment

When the B. & H. I. Commission was organized he was
asked to serve on it by Ld Palmerston & Ld

Panmure making no bargain as to salary -

3 gs a day was offered & accepted by him

And
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£72v

The duration of the Commn was not fixed

& the manner of providing the pay appears

to have been also undecided. The work

of the Commn - as you are aware, and as I am
aware too is far more extensive now since
India was added than it was at first

And you will have many questions referred to
you from India time after time for solution.
The Committee will become more an Indian Comme
than a W.0. one in fact. Now considering all
these facts and the opposition of anti -Sanitarians
in the Ho: of C.-would it not be better that
the Govt. should decide at once what they
intend to do. It is neither safe nor fair

to allow matters to go on as they have been
doing. You must either as it appears

make the appointment permanent or fix

a time within which it must cease or

make it an altogether unpaid appointment

which of course would be ludicrously unfair

as the other Members serving on the Commission
occupy other paid appointments. Or you

must put an end to it.

£73 [very faint]

I have some voice in this because I have been
copying the facts from the very beginning

And the fixture of Sanitary improvements

both at home and in India to which I have
given my life depends [illeg] on the decision
If you think fair to show this letter to Lord
de G

£f73v [not in FN’s hand]
[ink] After what took place in the H. of C.
last night and bearing in mind the past
history, would you say what you think is the
proper course for us to take?
[upside down at the bottom, pencil]
You can teach a dog to fetch & carry -
But you never can teach a cat -
It appears that a “box” and a “bag”
partake of the same difference.

There is an Article on Sir J. Lawrence. I have
not yet read it all But if you promise to bring
it back T—cartt tuday You may have it.
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signed letter, ff74-77, pen, black-edged blue paper

£74

July 1/65

34 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
After the discussion last [9:529-30]
night about Dr. Sutherland’s
salary, I have no doubt
that we shall agree that
some final settlement,
one way or other, must be
come to about it.
You know, of course, that

at the time the Government
asked him to go as
Commissioner to the Crimea,
he was Sanitary adviser
to Lord Hanover, then
President of General Board

£f74v

of Health - & that, in order
to go to the Crimea, Dr.
Sutherland was obliged to
surrender the appointment;
subsequently given to Mr.
Simon, with a salary of
£1500 a year for part

of his time only.

Dr. Sutherland made no
bargain in complying with
the request of the Government
to go to the Crimea. He
was paid four guineas
a day by the War Office
for every day he was in
the East.
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£75

When he returned, he served
on the R. Army Sanitary
Commission. (Sidney Herbert’s)
of 1857, giving his whole time
without remuneration, and
holding no appointment -

When the Barrack & Hospital
Improvement Commission
was organized, he was
asked to serve on it by
Lord Palmerston & Lord
Panmure. No bargain
was made as to salary
Three guineas a day were
offered and accepted by
him. The duration of
the Commission was not
fixed. And the manner

£75v

of providing the pay appears

to have been also undecided.
The work of the Commission

as you are aware and as

I am aware too, is far

more extensive & important

now, since India was

added, than it was at

first. And many questions

will be referred to you

from India, time after

time, for solution. The

Commission will become

even more an Indian

than a W. O. one.
Considering all this, &

considering the opposition
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£f76

of anti-Sanitarians in the
House of Commons, would

it not be better that the
Government should settle
at once what they intend
to do?

It is neither safe nor
fair to let matters go on
as they are.

You must either, as it
appears, make the
appointment permanent,
or fix a time within
which it must cease -
or make it an altogether
unpaid appointment,
which, of course, would
be ludicrously unfair,

f76v

since the other members

serving on the Commission

& giving but +ittte/ a small part of their
time, occupy other paid

appointments - Or you

must put an end to it.

I have some voice in
this, because I have been
cognizant of the facts
from the very beginning -
And the future of
sanitary improvements,
both at home and in
India, to which I have
given my life - depends
mainly on the decision
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£77
now taken.
Should you think fit
to shew this letter to Lord
de Grey, pray do so.
Or should you wish for
a fuller account of the
circumstances, & the
information which T
should be able to give,
pray command me - [end 9:530]
Believe me
ever yours sincerely
Florence Nightingale

signed letter, ff78-79, pen, black-edged blue notepaper, printed

£78

or July 29/65 [16:787-88]

Oak Hill Park 34 South Street, {printed address:}
Hampstead Park Lane,

N.W. London. W.

My dear Capt. Galton

Dr. Sutherland
told me you would
like to see the
enclosed plans &c
of St. Thomas’
The full sized
plans are at the

£78v

London Bridge
International Hotel.
Please return me
the enclosed x in

a day or two, as

I have to write

to the Treasurer. [end]
I hope you are

x including printed paper

£79

pretty well again.
ever yours
F. Nightingale
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signed letter, f£f80-80v, pen, black-edged

£80
7644/635 Hampstead
N.W.
Aug 11/65

My dear Capt. Galton
I have never seen
the Manual. But
I have no doubt it
is very good - & that
+t/you ought to give
Mr. Longmore £50.
if you want a
“decision” more “judicial”
than this, which may
be said to partake
of the nature of an

£80v
“hypothesis”, please
send me a copy
of the Manual.
You shall then have
a “judgment” which
shall “rule”.

ever yours truly

F. Nightingale

signed letter, ff81-82, pen, black-edged blue paper

£81
Oct 4/65
34 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I send you this
letter from Mr. Longmore,
which speaks for itself.
To this has the temporizing
policy concerning
that Professorship come.
It is still in the power
of the W.0. to save it.
But you will have to
take action at once -
I need hardly say
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f81v
that you have no Army
man fit to succeed
Longmore - & that, if
you advertise for a
Civilian, you will
have the whole
Department charging
into the W.O0. (which
will be more disagreeable
than having Longmore
alone charging into
you)

Should not you
consult with Lord de

£82
Grey, and settle the
business at once?
ever yours truly
F. Nightingale

unsigned letter draft, f£f83-84, pencil JS rough hand

£83

{archivist: [see Mr. Chadwick’s letter 25 Oct., 1865]
FN to Capt. Galton

I have had more than one letter from Mr. [9:877]
Chadwick about a plan he has for
indoctrinating young engineers into the
principles of Sanitary Work. I also saw

the draft of a paper he was to send

to Lord de Grey on the subject. He

writes me to say that he had sent it

in. Now I think the proposal of the

greatest importance; and if you

can arrange something whereby the

men (whose duties on India at

least, will now to a great

extent include sanitary works &

Great canal & irrigation works)

can be brought into contact with

the experience acquired at home

you will have done a great good

not only to the service but to the

Country at large. I entirely agree with

Mr. Chadwick s views on these points &

I know Mr. Ellis will tell you he thinks the
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proposed ptrar practical instruction

is absolutely necessary, for there are
scarcely any men in India at

the present moment competent to

undertake the simplest drainage work

[Dr. P. Walker’s

letter Feb 23 1865] Some time ago I received
from Bengal an urgent request to

supply to the Commission there with

+i3Itegt the best methods of detecting

noxious substances in water & [end 9:877]

£84 end JS note
signed letter, ff85-86, pen, black-edged blue paper

£85
Private Oct 28/65
34 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I am afraid, now that [9:877-78]
you are come back you
will have a whole pile
of “Addresses” from me.
1. Mr. Chadwick has
been perpetually writing
to me about his plan
for indoctrinating young
Engineers with the
principles of Sanitary
works - He shewed me
the Draft of his paper
to Lord de Grey - &
asked me for corrections,
which I made. I
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£85v
understand from him,
that Lord de Grey has
had it, & that Ld de G
has sent it to you.
The proposal is of the
greatest importance, as
I am sure you will think.
And, if you can arrange
some way whereby the
men (whose duties in
India at least, will now
to a great extent include
sanitary works, & great
canals & irrigation works
- by Sir J. Lawrence’s
recent Enactment)
can be brought into contact

£86

with the experience acquired

at home, you will do a

great good, not only to the

service but to the country

at large.

Mr. Ellis (Madras Sanitary
President) thinks that the
proposed practical
instructions absolutely
necessary - for there are
scarcely any men in
India at the present
moment competent to
undertake the simplest
drainage works - [end 9:878]

ever yours
F. Nightingale
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initialled letter, ££f87-89v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£87
Oct 30/65
34 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
Is that unfortunate Christian, [9:878]
Capt. Galton, come back?
Then here comes No. 2.
Last winter, I received
from Bengal an urgent
request to supply the
Indian Commissions
with the best methods
of finding out how
much dirt there is
in the water they drink.
I consulted your
Masters & Pastors at

£87v

Netley. But they could
make nothing of it.
Then I consulted Dr.
Angus Smith of
Manchester. (who, I
think, is more
difficult to manage
than the whole Indian
Govt.) First, he says
one thing - then he says
the reverse - then he
listens to what his
“nephews & nieces

in Argyleshire” say
(sic) & tears up the
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£88

paper. [But I had it
in type.]

Five mortal months

& six mortal times
has this paper been
thro’ our hands -

& there is scarcely
a word in it which
there was in the
first Revise. But
Dr. Angus Smith is
the only man in
Europe who could

do it. And this paper
is well worth the

£88v
trouble it has cost
us.

I have printed this
at my own expense,
because no mortal
office could be required
to deal with Dr.

A. Smith’s wvagaries.

When it has reached

the 60th Revise, I

shall make the I.0.

& the W.O. distribute it.

Pray, make the W.O.
take copies for the
Army Medical Officers,



£89

every one of whom
may be placed any
time in the position
of being obliged to
use the methods

of testing, contained
in this paper.

[You may do this with
perfect safety, as

it is the best thing
of the kind in
existence.]

But please remember
it is quite “private”
at present. For I

£89v
must smoothe down
the ruffled feathers
of Messrs Parkes
& Hoffmann first.
Or they won’t
recommend it
to their pupils.
ever yours
F.N.
initialled letter, £90, pen,
£90
Private Oct 30/65
& most 34 South Street,
Confidential Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
Dr. Sutherland
tells me that you
“wish him to go to
Constantinople”.
I don’t think it
tanti.
There is plenty for
him to do here -
ever yours
F.N.
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[end 9:878]

black-edged blue paper

{printed address:}
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signed letter, f£f91-93v, pen, black-edged blue paper

f91
Private 1/11/65
& Confidential
34 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,

London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I have not said [9:879]

a word to Dr. Sutherland
about the subject of
your yesterday’s note.
I would not have
you think that I am
indifferent as to
whether the inhabitants
of Malta & Gibraltar
have Cholera -
On the contrary;
you will remember

f9lv

that I never left poor
Sidney Herbert in peace
till he sent you &

Dr. S. (the last act

of his 1life) to the

Medn Stations.

But Dr. S. ought to be
coming back now,

instead of going there now
We are full of Indian
business - business

which must be

settled before Parlt
meets.

Lord Stanley (which I
tell you in the closest
confidence) has consented
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£92
to take it up - One item
is: Indian Jails - And

I have pledged myself

to have it all ready by
the time Parlt meets - a
thing I should never
have done if I had
thought Dr. S. would

be sent abroad.

You are yourself aware
that Calcutta Water
supply has been sent
home to us (at my
request) And Dr. S.

told me this morning
that he & I should

have to write the Report.

£f92v

[Dr. S. is so childish
that, 1f he heard of
this Malta & Gibraltar
plan, he would
instantly declare
there was nothing to
keep him in England]

I do not weigh the
importance of the
several objects. That
is for you to determine.
I merely state to you
what is on hand - &
leave you to judge. No
one could do the India
business but Dr. S. I
think there are men



£93
who could do the Malta
& Gibraltar business.

About the “Wentilation”: -
it was I who said

to Mr. Ellis that

Mr. Rawlinson knew

little about Ventilation.
- I said the W.O.

knew a great deal

Mr. Ellis is terribly
bitten (thro’ Mr. Chadwick)
with French artificial
ventilation. And I

told him that Dr. S.

was a dangerous lunatic

£f93v
(and I a harmless lunatic)
on the subject of
natural ventilation.
But I think it would
be entire loss of time
to send Sutherland
to Algeria to convert
Mr. Ellis. [end 9:879]
ever yours
F. Nightingale
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initialled letter, £f94-95v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£94
Most PrIvaTE 9/11/65
34 South Street, {printed address:}
Burn Park Lane,
London. W.

My dear Capt. Galton

I know nothing [9:540]
except from the “Times”
& yourself - about the
D. of Somerset & Lord
de G.

But, if the D. of Somerset
comes to the W.O., our
Sanitary Commission
may be endangered
just at the very time
when India & Sir
John Lawrence depend

£f94v
upon it - & INDIA work
comes to it -

If you will tell me
the earliest information,
I will do what I can,
about this (Sany Commn)
Lord Palmerston’s loss
to us 1is irreparable -
For nine years I
have never asked
him anything (you
may be sure I did
not ask him often)
but he did it. If there
was anything right to
be done, he made a
joke, but he did it.



£95
It was he who put you
where you are -
It was he who put Lord
de Grey where he is.

&c &c  &cC
I wrote to you a letter
I have mislaid,
congratulating ourselves
you are not gone yet -
& stating that Mr. Brown
was about to be
Minister at Peking.
(I hope he will 1like it.)
I was very much pleased
with what you said
about Sidney Herbert
at Bournemouth & sorry

£95v
you had not time to say
more - You are the only
man who appreciates
him now.
How little his wife knows

him -
I wrote all this to you
in the letter I have
mislaid - small loss
to you.

Please burn this.
I hope you have burnt
that letter I wrote about
Dr. Sutherland going
abroad & the (Ld Stanley)
work - It was quite for
yourself alone -

ever yours
F.N.
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[end 9:540]
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initialled letter, £f96-96v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£96
15/11/65
34 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W. [16:444-45]

My dear Capt. Galton

I return your Herbert
Hospital.

We think it is now
complete. It will do a
great deal of good. And
I want a GREAT MANY
copies for myself - one is
promised to M. Husson
of Paris - and I want
to instruct all the
Hospital builders in
England - !!

The pictures at the end

foé6v
are very pleasing. &
will prove a great
attraction. People
do so like pictures.
[T think them better
than lithographs. But
why can’t the sun do
distances?]
We have made one
or two little suggestions
in the margins of the proof.
Remember, I want a
great many copies for
myself, please. [end]
ever yours F.N.
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signed letter, f£97-98, pen, black-edged blue notepaper printed 34
corrected to 35

£97
34/35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
22/11/65
My dear Capt. Galton
We don’t think
you could have
a better man than
this Dr. Thos. Thomson
(under the circumstances)
as Examiner.

£97v

2. With regard

to your Army &

Navy Committee,
don’t allow them

to introduce any
principle which
will damage

(or lead to further
injury to) the

£98
Medical Dept. Warrant
ever yours
F. Nightingale
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signed letter, f£99-102v, pen, black-edged blue paper, address corrected

£99
{printed address:} 3%4/35 South Street,
Private Park Lane,
London. W.
28/11/65
My dear Capt. Galton
Of course I flew at [16:445-46]

Dr. Sutherland, in order
to hear how beautifully
all your arrangements
at the Herbert Hospital
worked - how well the
Governor administered -
&c &c &c

When I heard his
account, I thought they
had been to old Woolwich
by mistake. I can’t well
conceive anything worse -

£f99v

I am sure I am thankful

M. Husson, of Paris, 1is not
now here to see.

How “gat” the Governor
there?

By accident, it seems -
And because he has 20
children.

If, after all the pains
(in sifting) which Col: Clark
Kennedy, Lord Herbert
and I took - we only got a
Wilbraham - it is not
very surprising that the
H.G. only got a donkey -
who is perfectly incapable
of grasping your details,
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£100

or bringing anything under
your Regulations -

But it is very mortifying
indeed to hear, as I do
from the whole A.M.D.,
that there is not a
P.M.O. who would not

have made a better
Governor - mortifying,
because true.

Considering the immense
interests at stake in
making your new
model Hospital work,

I think a little more
trouble might have

been taken at the
beginning to secure the

£100v
only points which could
make it work.
The ludicrous misappropriation
(which do, I assure you,
beat all my experience
of Scutari) may be put
to rights. But the heads,
which could be guilty
of such inventions, will
not be put to rights, ever,
except by a 6 months’
course under Dr. Courtly.
I was quite ashamed that
Messrs. Ellis & Chadwick
should see our model
Hospital in such a
condition.
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f101

_2_
However, there is one
thing can be set to rights
at once -

If T understood them
right, the sick are all
placed in the S. ends
of the Pavilions & the
N. ends more or less
used for stores. Any
such arrangement is
perfectly destructive
of Government or Nursing -
I thought the advantage
expressly to be secured
by the double=Pavilion
Herbert Hospl plan
was: that part of it
could be occupied,
governed & nursed

£f101lv
as well as the whole.
This was a positive
point aimed at in the
construction. That
“peculiarly helpless
creature”, the British
Army, seems to have
been incapable of
grasping this.

With the present
small number of sick,.
they must take either
pair of the end Pavilions
they like, & fill them.
- make these the
present Hospital
- cut off the communication
so as to include Library,
Chapel, Day - room in
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£102

the part of the building
allotted for sick -

And, if they must put
stores in the wards, use
the wards at the end
opposite from the sick.
This is not a matter of
choice but of necessity,

& should be done at

once.

I should think the W.
pavilions with their
Operating Theatre the

best for the purpose.

But again I say - how
“gat” the Governor there? -
que diable allait-il faire
dans cette galere?

f102v
When hundreds of
thousands have been
spent on this model
Hospital - was it not
worth while to take a
little pains to occupy
it properly?
or 1s its occupation to
be a “model” too?
Shall I occupy this
house after your model?
You make me fit for
Bedlam - which ought to have been

your Governor’s destination - only he must

be incurable. Yours distractedly
F. Nightingale
{printed address:} 34 South Street,
{upside down} Park Lane,
London. W.
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signed letter, f£f103-04v, pen, black-edged blue paper, corrected

£103
34/35 South Street, {printed address:}
Private Park Lane,

London. W.

28/11/65
My dear Capt. Galton
AZs I remembered to you [9:880]

the fact of my having
been asked from India
to obtain a Method of
Water Analysis for them
- of my having applied
to Parkes & others -
of their failure - of my
applying to Dr. Angus
Smith - of my printing
his paper, which has
been 15 times & 10 weary

£103v

months thro’ our hands -

and 5 months thro'

9 Revises thro’ the

Printers.’

Here is a rough Proof

of the final Revise -

Tomorrow Dr. Sutherland

presents it at your

meeting - & proposes

a vote for its distribution

“by authority” to Army Medical Officers

in India & to your

School at home -

I thought I had better

send you a copy first.

- asking you to consider

the number of copies, if

you do distribute it “by authority”,
that



£f104

you will take - as I
have not had it

printed off yet - &

wish to be able to do.
Also - to say that I have
made up my mind

it is better for me

to pretend to know
nothing at all about
this - instead of

making a communication
to Dr. Parkes to mollify
him (for having failed).
If it is to become a
text-book at the

Army Med. School, it

£104v

is better that Dr. Parkes
should not know
that it has any
connection with his
failure or with my
request.

Angus Smith’s paper

is perfect & (hitherto)

unique - & well worth

all the trouble. [end 9:880]
ever yours

F. Nightingale
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signed letter, f£f105-05v, pen, black-edged blue paper, 35 now printed

£105
Dec 7/65
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
Do you think you [9:699]
would be so good as
to have three more
copies made for me
of the enclosed
Malta prison?
Of the two you
were already kind
enough to make for
me, one is gone to
the Colonial Office.
And one to Sir John

£f105v
Lawrence direct.
But you see India
is rather a big place.
And one is now
wanted for the I. G.
of Prisons, N.W. Provinces,
who builds all the

prisons there - at

least his subordinates

do - one for Madras

Presidency &c - [end 9:699]

ever yours truly
F. Nightingale
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signed letter, f£f106-07v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£106
Angus Smith’s Water-analysis
paper
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
Dec 7/65
My dear Capt. Galton
I don’t know exactly [9:881-82]
how to answer your
note of the 4th.
The paper was written
at my request, in
order to comply with
a request from India -
The paper will be
very useful; but, in
order to be useful,
it must be circulated -
And, to be circulated,

fi106v

it must be bought,
either by you or by
me.

I shall want 100

copies for myself -

Dr. Angus Smith, to

(whom I have asked

will want 200.

If you can buy 1500 or

2000 copies - - - - = - - -

You may do this any

way you like. But

don’t drag me

through the Stationery



£107
Office which I know
of old - What thou

doest, do quickly. And
don’t bring me into

it. For I would
rather pay for it
than that.

I was in hopes you

would have told me

how many copies

you wanted - And [end 9:881]
then I should just

have had it printed

off.

It is of the greatest
consequence to do it

quickly. The two men

£107v
in India who originally
started the idea, &
who would have
worked it, are both
going to resign from
ill- health. It has
been already ten
mortal months on
hand. And I must
have copies to send
out (some) by Sunday’s
(i.e. Monday’s) mail.
I shall write to
Spottiswoode to send
me 6 for this purpose
unless I hear from
you to—the—contrary/ about the whole
number wanted.

ever yours truly

F. Nightingale
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initialled letter, £f108-09v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£108
Dec 9/65
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
Drunken Medical Officers
The great difficulty
lies, of course, in the
dismisfitsimrg men who
have not “sufficiently
committed themselves” -
vide Mr. Cooper’s pencil
note

1. you cannot lay down

a rule as to what
constitutes intoxication?
This question would
constantly lead to disputes
& to persecution

£108v

2. The P.M.O. should
look after his officers
& see that they are
fit for duty. If at
any time a man is
unfit from want of
care in drinking, x he
should be warned.

And the frequency,
with which he 1is
warned, should be
taken into account in

N.B.

x You may drink, but
you must take care
how & when you drink.
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£109

estimating his fitness.
3. If a man, after warning,
is found at any time
absolutely drunk or
unfit for his work,

let him be brought to
court-martial &
dismissed - or let him
be allowed to retire.
4. Abolish half-pay
rewards for being
unfit for duty through
drink.

5. The most merciful
way to deal with a
drunkard is to let him
have bread & water to

£109v
live on & to work for it.

N.B. Take it as a proof
of my utter demoralization
- brought about by your
Army - that I don’t
think, 11 drunkards out
of nearly 1000 Medical
Officers, between 1860
& 1863, a great deal.

My evidence was taken
once as to whether a
person was drunk, on
the ground that I had
more acguaintance
with persons in drink
than any one in Europe.

- which, if not true,
so much the worse
for Europe.- F. N.
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initialled letter, £f110-11, pen, black-edged blue paper

f£110
Private Dec 15/65
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
For God’s sake, - if you
can, - prevent Dr.
Sutherland going +nmto
Algeria - Find some
one else. You might
just as well send
him to Astley’s -

I have undertaken
work for a Govt. Office
(besides the India
work) on the ground

fli0v
of his assistance.
If T work with
him every day till
Feb 1, I shall not
get thro’ the work -
And to have him
taken away to go to
stare at Astley’s
does seem too bad.
ever yours
F.N.

£f111
You know - the French
Govt. won’t let them
see anything. And,
If they did, it is pure
waste of time -
Do send some one
else.
Might I write to

Lord de Grey?
Would it be of any
use? F.N.
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initialled letter, £f112-13, pen JS hand WO embossed, with FN note below

£f112
29th Dec

I have just had a note from
Capt. Galton to ask if you have
done with the proofs of the Herbert
Hospital regulations? {The next sentence is crossed out}

The paper referred to by
Sir Proby Cautley has not arrived.
[FN: ]

JS.

My dear Capt. Galton

These have been lying
here for a fortnight -

I “have done” with
them a fortnight.

Why Dr. Sutherland

fll2v

did not take them
away was because

he had not “done

with” them.

It 1is a rule without
any exception that
no Hospital attendant
should be allowed
to keep Hospital property
in his (or her) room.
I say, the Y“small
lock=up case” should
be kept in the open
ward - Dr. S. says in
the scullery. Whichever
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£113
it is, it must not
be in the Nurse’s room.
Consult Mrs. S. Stewart
& Miss Jones as to
1. whether dirty dressings
should go by the
Foul Linen Shoots.
2. whether ashes should
not be treated
like coals - &
not be sent down
by Dust Shoots.
F.N.

ff114-15v, Dr Sutherland’s hand, pencil undated,
rooms., on FN blue stationery

initialled note, ff116-18, pen, black-edged

fl1e6

As to a “proof” (about
appropriation of Wards
& Officers in General
Hospitals,) sent me
some time ago.

Please look at p. 130
Reg. 44, green book, last
3 lines -
where it is said that
“nothing appertaining
to the ward is to be
kept in the Nurse’s
room."” -
& where it is laid down
that “lock-up places
“are to be provided
in the ward.”

[This is still MORE

notes about Nurses’



flleév

appticabte/ essential where there
are men, instead of

women, in charge -]

I marked the passage in the “Proof”
for omission. where

it says, the in the above
mentioned Proof, that

there is to be a lock=

up place for extras

in the Ward Master’s

room -

I brought Dr. Sutherland

so far as to say “scullery” -

but I say “ward” -

There are many reasons

for this - But no Hospital

£117
properly should ever be
kept in an attendant’s

room -
F.N.

incomplete letter, f£f118-18v, pen
£118 {archivist: [1863-1865]}

_2_

into her room, & “knocked”
them “about”, instead
of the “chairs & tables”.
They richly deserve
it.

It appears to me
that Col: Wilbraham
has interfered
entirely beyond his
province. And what
she has to do in his
“Office”, if both had
adhered to Regulation,
I can’'t see.

To shew you what
an impracticable man
he Bas is., he told me
that he had 120 (!)

92
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f118v

Supts. to recommend.

I said, with the utmost

seriousness, “send them

to me, ‘I can train

them all, find them

all with situations” -
Not one has he

sent !! Or not one

has come !!

I don’t believe Mrs.
5.5. ever “used to hit”
a nurse over the head.”
She uses very violent
gestures. Her temper is
abominable - But you
know what Dr. Anderson
says of her & the Nursing.

It is not true, that
“we cannot get Nurses” -

But send me the

initialled letter, ££f119-22, pen, black-edged blue paper

£119
Private Jan 4/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I have expressed the [15:413-14]
strongest opinion possible
in favor of the Herbert
Hospl, against Netley, as
the position for the Army
Medical School.
I did this 4n/at great
length in writing; with
all the reasons - when
the removal from
Chatham took place.
My opinion has never
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£f119v
varied -

I can scarcely expect
that it will have any
weight, unless I could
repeat the reasons,
which I am now
totally incapable of
doing.

1. I see no course for you
to take except
re-assembling the
Committee, which
consisted, if I mistake

£120
not, of

Sir James Clark

Dr. Sutherland

Sir R. Martin

D.G.

- - ?
I think it would be
highly unadvisable, in
a case involving so
much detail, to
re—-assemble it without
Dr. Sutherland - altho’
I am certain I could
talk over the two others,
& the D.G. is already
convinced.
If I mistake not, I have
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f120v
seen (also in writing) a
good many of the self-same
arguments used by D.G.
(in enclosed paper) in
favor of Woolwich
urged by him before
in favor of Netley.
[Perdition catch my soul,
but I do love thee -
I think I have heard
that line before.]
2.
As far as I know, the
Civil opinion is,
without any exception,
but Sir James Clark {pencil} (who is connected to
Netley)
against Netley -

£f121
They think that to put
a school down in a
remote corner, out of {pencil} reach
of {pen} public opinion, (which
can only be had in the
environs of London) a
great mistake.
[If it were possible for
Parkes & Aitken to have
more than justified
this opinion, they have
more than done so,
by their aberrations.]
3. I have the strongest
remembrance that the
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f121v

D.G. urged, in favour of

Netley, exactly the

reverse of the opinion

about Invalids he now

does - {pencil} What can be said if
this is so?

{pen} I really can see no course
for you but to have

the Committee & put

it off till Sutherland

returns. Every one

knows that he was

on all the Committees

regarding this School

since its beginning.

It would be quite a

£122

valid reason - Sir J. Clark,

I believe, would refuse

to act until Dr. Sutherland

could be had to act

with him. [end 15:414]
F.N.
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signed letter, ff123-27, pen, black-edged blue paper

£123
Private &
Confidential Jan 6/65 {archivist: [1866]}
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.

The Presidency Sanitary Commission
My dear Capt. Galton

I don’t know what you
know about this affair.
Nor how to tell it you
shortly.

But it is Jjust the
greatest crisis we have
had since Sir J. Lawrence
became G.G.

Sir J. Lawrence has
written home a Despatch
“smashing our Commissions.”

£f123v
so said Dr. Sutherland.

I wrote to the I.0. &
found it was nothing of the
kind.

Pre—matter Sir J. Lawrence
proposes to modify these
Commissions - And the
whole matter has been
referred to your W.O.
Commission. The papers
have been actually
sent you from the I.0., they informed me, & as
I informed Dr. Sutherland.

Dr S. said he would
desire M. Frederick

£124
to send them to me -
But a week has elapsed
& nothing has come -
Would you take this in
hand, & make sure
that the papers
relating to Sir John
Lawrence’s Despatch
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concerning the modifying
of the Presidency Sanitary
Commissions are sent
to me forthwith?

I would (& perhaps may
write to Mr. Frederick
myself - But I don’t like



f124v

assuming this right.

It is absolutely necessary
that no decision should

be come to till Sutherland’s
& Ellis’ return (by the

W.0. Commission) or judgment

will go against us by default.

Sutherland assumes that
no meeting will take
place till his return.

I assume no such thing.

It is perfect madness
of these two men to go
away, when the very
existence of their India
Commissions is threatened.
Mr. Ellis writes to me from

£125
Private
Paris, saying that he
would get off going to
Algiers now, 1f it were
not for their Instructions.
Amc—br—meaning, I suppose,
their ladies [I find two
ladies are going!!!] And
Dr. S. that Ellis, finding
this present state of
affairs to be as it 1is,
ought to have delayed
the Expedition, altogether,
(which he certainly ought)
And then Mr. Ellis
writes to me that T
must, at all risks &

99
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£125v

costs, (by the Police, I suppose)
“delay decision” till

their return & prevent

a Meeting of the W.O.

Commission.

You see, I can’t tell you the
whole previous story.

You probably know that

our object was to get

the Presidents of these
Commissions made a

kind of Secies to Govt,

to get it ordered from

home that Public Health

f126
in India is entitled to a place
in the Budget & that the
I.0. is in earnest in
wishing that the P.H.
Dept, Civil & Military, is
to have a recognised
position as a branch
of the administration -
that the head of it should
be in direct communication
with the Govt & not be
impeded by passing
thro’ the Offices of six
Secretaries.
Every thing was in good
train. Mr. Ellis had written
a very good/able paper {pencil} upon it.
introduced him to Lord

{pen} I had
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fl26v
Stanley, who was helping
with all his might.
Here was the moment to
gain all we wanted.
For we should have said,
we will take your modification,
if you will give us our
principle.
And now these two men
have gone away to stare
at Astley’s (when we
know on the highest
authority that all they
can learn in Algeria
they could {pencil} have {pen} learnt at Paris)
And have wrecked
35 South Street, the whole thing
{upside down} Park Lane, {printed address:}
London. W.
wrecked their own business

£127

Private

if ever a thing was a

man’s own business -)

I wrote to Lord Stanley - the
only thing I could do -

And he has answered a

long & well considered
letter - but advising

the acceptance of Sir

J. Lawrence’s modifications.

Till I receive the papers,
{pencil} and while I have them
{pen} nothing can be done -
Please secure that
the papers be sent
me at once.

yours most disconsolately

F. Nightingale

f128v, D. Galton, undated note, pencil, asking the length of some paper
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initialled letter, ££f129-32, pen, black-edged blue paper

£129
Private 7391/108 Jan 9/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.

Warburg’s Tincture 1is
nothing but a powerful
tipple, which brings
back the re-action of
warmth (& an immense
perspiration) in a
marvellously short
time.

[I see he himself calls
it “Fever Tincture.” But
that is not at all
the designation I have
heard given it by

£129v
European physicians in
the East - whose opinion

of it generally is: that it is a
valuable remedy in
cases where the
(above) reaction is
required imperatively
to save life.]
or to prevent illness.]

I have read thro’
many of the enclosed
Medical Officers’ letters
and they appear to have



£130
been using it exactly as
an old woman uses

Brandy for every disease

in her parish - or
Holloway’s Pills -
They appear to have
used it even in cases
where no man in his
senses would use
Quinine - which, we

are told, is undoubtedly

one of its ingredients.
I never heard any
{but these men) suppose
that it was one
“principal ingredient” -

£130v

- as indeed its effects
shew it is not.

That the D.G. means

by saying that its

curative properties

are “due to its Quinine

& OTHER ingredients,”

I don’t pretend to know.

I rather suppose they

are- [It is like saying:

the nutritive qualities

of milk are due to its

nutritive ingredients]

I cannot say that I see
the difficulty of the

103
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£131
_2_
condition: - that “Govt-
should take what it
requires, from him
alone, for 14 years” -
What it does not “require”
it need not take at
all. And if other medicines are
found as efficacious, it will not.
He does not compel you
to prescribe it.
On the contrary, it seems
to me that now Medical
Officers prescribe it as
if they were compelled
to prescribe it.

f_quite agree that it is not

£f131v
for Govt to admit a
medicine into the
Pharmacopaeia - or
to take the place of
the “Medical Council.”
And, 1if entering into any
engagement with
Warburg implies this,
Govt. ought not to
do it.
But surely this is the
kind of matter for
a man like, & in
the position of, Sir
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£132
James Clark to decide.
F.N.

I may say that Warburg’s
Tincture is not considered
a Quack Medicine
(strictly speaking) any
more than Chlorodyne &c
[It has been prescribed
for me, by English
physicians who had taken it themselves. But I
declined taking it.]

F.N.

initialled letter, £f133-33v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£133
6911/853 Jan 10/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.

P. in C. strictly correct

technically & by

Regulation

It would be most

desirable, - if the

Female Hospitals

should come altogether

under the W.O0., &

(for Nursing) under

the Supt. Genl., - that

£133v

the Woolwich Female

- also the Auxiliary
Hospitals - should
come under the
Governor of the Herbert
Hospital.

But the present
Governor 1is certainly
not the man to

begin such a change
under - F.



signed letter, f£f134-37, pen

£134
13/3/66

35 South Street, {printed address:

Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton

I do not know whether
you know the case of
Surgeon=Major Matthew,
who died at Malta
some time ago, leaving
a widow & 3 infant
children.

Her case has been before
the Patriotic Fund, where
it was strongly urged by
Col: Halliwell, & other
Officers, & by myself -

£134v
Medical certificates - as to
Dr. Matthew having died
of disease contracted
in consequence of his
great labours during the
Crimean War - established
that fact beyond a doubt.
As to his great & successful
services, there was but
one opinion - But
perhaps none can
speak more strongly
than I can as to these.
You know that he was

}
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£135

in charge of the Castle
Hospital above
Balaclava, where the
mortality was kept
down under 3 per cent.

during the whole time that Hospital existed

He was one of the most
eminent Surgeons in
the Army. You know
that he was nominated
to be Professor of
Military Surgery.

The Patriotic Fund was

compelled reluctantly

to decline Mrs. Matthew’s

claim, in consequence of

£135

their rule that no widow
who married after
January 1, 1858, should
be considered as a
widow of the Crimean
War. And for this and

no other reason was she
rejected. But they
themselves rejected her
so unwillingly that
they have urged me,
(who had strongly
pressed Mrs. Matthew’s
claim) to ask Lord
de Grey to suggest to
the Chairman of the



£136
Royal Commission, - who is

at present the Duke

of Somerset, - to move
the Royal Commissioners
to make an exception

in favour of Mrs.
Matthew in consequence
of the importance of
Surgeon=Major Matthew’s
services. She was
engaged to Dr. Matthew
before 1858 - I believe
before the Crimean War.

But that point could
be ascertained from
herself by me, if

fl36v
desired.

This was suggested to me

as a fair point for the
Royal Commissioners to
consider.

I know scarcely any
one who has so good
a claim, if services
are to be taken into
consideration, as the
widow of Surgeon Major
Matthew -

I should be very
glad if you could shew
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£137

this letter to Lord de Grey.

But if farther

particulars are wanted,

I could give them -

And there are hosts

of Officers, Military

& Medical, who would

speak to the facts.

But I have not

mentioned to any one

that I would try to

interest Lord de Grey.
Yours very truly

Florence Nightingale
Captain Galton

signed letter, f£f138-40, pen, black-edged blue paper

£138
Private 13/1/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I wish I could say -
as to the Report on Army
& Navy Medical Officers -
as I do about the Instructions
to Cholera,
I shall keep them back &
you can’ proceed without
them.
I read the first
part of the Evidence
& was delighted with
Innes’, & with the
snubbing he gave the D.G.
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£138v

Also I have read the Draft
Report -

I would have written to you
on/last Tuesday in time for
your Meeting.

But I really could not.

I can only say: keep as
near to the intentions of
the original Warrant
as you can -

You see, I have to do whkat
carmrpe—dorme—of Sutherland’s
work as well as my

own -

If I could do it, I should

£139
not mind. I had just as soon
wear out in 2 months as
in 2 years, so the work
be done. But it can’t.
It is like two men going
into partnership with a
million each. If one
suddenly withdraws, the
other may work himself
to the bone, but he can’t
meet the engagements
with one million which
he made with two.
Add to this, I have work
given me from another
Public Office which I
never had before.

Add to this. I am so ill



£139v

now - suffering so much
sometimes from pain

that it prevents even

the possibility of having
my position altered for
48 hours often at a time.
- a thing which never
happened tome before

in all my illnesses.

Then they write to me from
all over the country to make
schemes for them - always
“by the end of a fortnight” -
for Nurse Training-Schools,
or for Workhouse Nursing,

&c &c

I need not trouble you

with my troubles.

£140

There was nothing scarcely,
of all that I do wish,
which I wished so much,
as to do that Navy & Army
Medical Officers Report -

And now I can’t.

Sometimes I think I am
like the Q. of Spain; in that
people will drive me mad.
But the Q. of Spain is
not at all a proper
body for a decent old
woman, like me, to
liken myself to - So don't
you say that -
ever yours
F. Nightingale
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signed letter, ffl141-42v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£141
Private 38653/3 13/1/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I have looked over
Instructions to Cholera
of 1856, which certainly
are “obsolete.” I have
also looked over the
M.S. which it is
proposed to print
& think it might be
improved.
But you have the
first authority, in Europe
as to preventative action

fl4lv

(about Cholera) in Dr.
Sutherland.

After him & Grainger
(who is dead) I don’t
think you have any
better authority than I.
[you see I am not modest]
But I decline to act
without Dr. Sutherland,
who writes to me from
Paris that they have
collected wvaluable
information - that

the French have had
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£142

their marches to /from Mhow, &c
& have them no longer.

&c. [You know they Sutherland & Ellis) did
not leave Marseilles till
today, instead of the

9th] Now, if this ill=

fated Algerian expedition

was to be, let us have

the benefit of it. (in
perfecting such papers

as these Cholera

Instructions)

Whether you send for them

back or not, you shall not

have them - till after

I have looked them over

fl42v
with Dr. Sutherland. If you
order me to send them
back before, I shall say
I can’t find them.
[Dr. Parkes is perfectly useless
in a question of this kind.]
ever yours
F. Nightingale

signed letter, f143, pen, black-edge blue paper

£143
38653/3 15/1/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
With the greatest reluctance
& with no confidence
I return these Cholera
papers.
Pray do (you) see that they
are not printed before
being submitted to Dr.
Sutherland (& me)
“I don’t believe in Mrs.
Harris! There 11”7
Betsey Prig
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initialled letter, £f144-45, pen, black-edged blue paper

£145
15/1/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W. [16:447]
My dear Capt. Galton
I have received with
great pleasure your
beautiful book on
the Herbert Hospital.
I wish you would
send a copy forthwith
to
Monsieur Armand Husson
Directeur de 1’Administration
Générale de 1’Assistance=Publique
(Place de 1’"Hotel de Ville
Paris

fl44v
from the War Office.
I told him (may I
be forgiven!) that the
War Office was
languishing - dying
by inches, in fact, -
from its anxiety to
send him this book
[He came over in
July to see the H. Hosp.]
Also: to
Henry Currey Eqg
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£145
4 Lancaster Place
Strand
(he is the architect of
new St. Thomas’ Hospital)
I think this would
come with a better
grace from the W.O. too.
I shall have many
more copT people
to send copies to -
But I will profit
by your kind offer
to send them for me,
If I give you a list. [end]
ever yours
F.N.

initialled letter, £f146-47, pen, black-edged blue paper

f146
Private 6998/134 23/1/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.

My dear Capt. Galton

I am very sorry to
have kept this so long.
My notes - which have
been done some days -
were all written out in
pencil. And I meant
to have profited by
Mr. Cooper’s most kind
offer (for which pray
thank him very much)
to copy them for you.
But, on second thoughts,
I conceived them to be
illegible - & that he would
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fldeév
take them for a sketch
by cat=artists -

It was really impossible
for me, to altho’ only
Balaam’s ass, to avoid
making a comment

upon the D.G.’s Minute
who is, I think, the
most preposterous
Balaam, prophet or

Head of Dept. ever
known.

When the head of a Dept
writes such nonsense,

& with such an animus,

£147

what chance is there for
this poor Nursing Staff?

I had meant to say a good
deal more, with which
perhaps I may favour
you still - But not
now -

Many, many thanks
for your offer of
service.

F.N.
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initialled letter, £f148-51v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£148
26/1/66
35 South Street,
Park Lane, [16:447-48]

London. W. {printed address:}

Female Hospital
My dear Capt. Galton

With eager carefulness, &
with all the tremendous
force of intellect, I have
spent a long & laborious
life in going over Capt
Belfield’s plan -
1. I entirely approve
the pulling out the
wards, like a book-tray,
to the utmost length
of ground - for the

£148v

simple & undisputed
reason that, the more
ground the sick (or
for that matter, the
well,) cover, the better
for them.

For the same reason, I
prefer the blue slip,
where the “WVerandah”
is open from end
to end, to the Kitchen
block projecting it
out & Interfering
with it, (as underneath

slip)
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£149

But
2. what you want a
double cook & double
kitchen for passes my
genius to discover.

You might just as well
tell me that it would
prevent the spread
of the Cattle Plague
into Scotland, 1f there
were a Queen for
Scotland different
from the Queen of
England -

Do you mean to tell
me that the Cook
will catch Lying=in

£150
& convey it to the other
ward?
And here you must put
up with some
improper observations -
I have always maintained
that the Lying=in are,
of all others, the most
susceptible of the
influences of foul air
- anp the kind of Patients
who most generate
foul air among themselves - which is
called “infection”. Therefore
you cannot be too careful to prevent
foul air. But here is the very
best exemplification
of the meaning of the



£150v
_2_

word “infection” - since

no one, I believe,

asserts that Lying=in

is caught by “infection”.
In large Lying=in Hospitals
such as the Maternité
at Paris, where no case
but of Lying=in is, of
course, ever admitted,
the destruction among
the poor Lying-in
by Fever is, - or was, in
my day - awful.
Unwashed hands of a
stupid Doctor or Nurse
+ittegt/may certainly convey
disease to & fro =&t

also

£151
between
Lying-in and Fever Wards.

But my genius was
completely at a loss
to understand Messrs
the Cattle Plague
Commissioners - or to
understand the Army
Med: /dep: on Lying-
in Wards - and,
generally et cetera,
et cetera.

Would it do if the
cook were to change
her name when she
cooks for the Lying-
in - & call herself
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£f151v

Mary Smith - & Betsy
Godfrey when she cooks
for the other ward?

I really know not what
to advise you - as it
is no use kicking
against the pricks

(of the Army Med. Dep.)
And if the D.G. tells
you Lying-in is
catching - of course
we must say Amen.

But, as this is to be
a pattern Female
Hospl, I would
strongly suggest, for

£f151v

the sake of precedent,

that you do not publish

the plan till

Wombwell’s Menagerie

comes back from

Algeria. Let him

fight the battle of

Infection with the

D.G. I can’t. [end]

unsigned letter, f152, pen, black-edged blue paper

£152
26/1/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
I have heard from Algiers.
Wombwell’s Menagerie
(including 3 ladies &
Her Majesty’s Commissioners,
the two ladies’ maids)
was going after a
column in the interior
in a cart - H.M.’'s
2 Commissioners very
sea-sick in the
cart -
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initialled letter, f£f153-53v, pen, black-edged blue notepaper

£153
29/1/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W. [15:173]
I am thinking of some
Russian & Italian names,
(for the Herbert Hospl
Report,) which I will
send you -
Have you sent to the
C. in C. to tell him
that the D.G. apprehends
a serious Mutiny
at Netley (“resistance

£153v
is provoked”) & that
H.R.H. must
send down the 1st
Royals & some
Artillery immediately
You need not say
that the “resistance
is provoked” by five
poor women.

F.N.
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signed letter, ff154-55v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£154
1/2/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
Anent Fire-grates
My dear Capt. Galton
You know you are an
immense man for fire -
grates -
Could you advise me
of a smokeless one?
This house is infested
with smoke.
My bed-room is
intolerable -
At first I thought
an open window checked

£f154v
it. And I have seldom
objection to an open
window.
But, lately, with window
wide open & no
change of wind, the
smoke in my bed-room
has been so thick that
I could not see
across the room -
I have had a “man
to look at it over &
over again.
And he says, now; there
is nothing for it but
to have a grate with
“a close Register.”

”
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£155
[He says, in these old houses
the chimneys are “full
of holes & corners” &
can’t be improved -
I don’t quite know what he
means - for he says my
bed-room chimney is
“better than the Dining-
room chimney” - which
draws perfectly.]
Could you recommend
me a grate of the
kind which suggests
itself to you, after
reading the above
description - & kindly

£155v

tell me whose & what
to order?

[It must not be anything
of the kind where
you make up a fire
in a box for the day.
For I have not a
maid capable of that
kind of thing.]

It must be the simplest
construction.

ever yours
F. Nightingale
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signed letter, ff156-56v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£f156
Feb 22/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I have been asked to
write down the last
account of the last
best Parian cement
& to furnish any
printed account, if
possible - (for Hospital
purposes —-) I conclude
it is also desirable to
add whom to employ
(or where to get it) -&
what they cost.
You have this latest

f156v
experience -

Would you kindly enable
me to answer this
question?

ever yours
F. Nightingale
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signed letter, ff157-60, pen, black-edged blue paper

£157
Private Feb 22/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I should not have
worried you again
about that unfortunate
Surgeon Major Matthew’s
widow, if there had not
been a change of masters.
I resented extremely
Lord de Grey’s message -
[not that it is any use
my resenting nor that
I usually spend much
time in that absurd
way -] for this reason: -

£157v

the War Office frequently
sends about a case;

& there can be no
reason why the

Minister should

not express an

opinion favorable

to Mrs. Matthew’s

case, as it would

not in any degree
commit him to an
approval of the

course taken by the
Committee or
Commissioners - (of the
Patriotic Fund) -



£158
This I am told on high

authority - And I know
that the Minister has
done 1it.

The same high authority

urges me to write to Mr.
Corry, the present
Chairman.

But certainly it is not

my business but the

War Secretary’s to

urge the reason why

Mrs. Matthew’s case
should be made special
on account of the

special great services
of Surgeon-Major Matthew.

The limit as to date of

£158v
marriage was fixed
under the unfounded
apprehension -
unfounded I am told
from the first
source of information
that there would not
be sufficient funds
- but that the opinion
is now strongly in
favour of disbursing
the money to the widows
of the war first, &
then to the widows
who were married after
the war to men who

lost their lives afterwards

126
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through disease contracted
in the war, instead of
keeping it over for
endowments or for
widows who had no
connexion with the
Russian War

The D. of Somerset was
not justified in saying
that there was “bad
management”, simply
because he did not
have his way, Moreover,
he Has interfered many
times since then.

[He had a new Commission

drawn out with

£f159v

additional clauses which
the Law Officers of
the Crown have said
could not be added.

And this makes him

all the more angry.]

I trouble you now in
order to know whether
you would ask Lord
Hartington (who
certainly is the right
person to do it, if at
all) to apply to Mr.
Corry, the Chairman

f160
of the Patriotic Fund.
ever yours truly
F. Nightingale
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ffl61-62v, unsigned, undated letter in support of Mrs. Matthew’s case on
embossed WO paper, unknown hand: she married to him Oct 1860, his death
caused by illness contracted "in consequence of his great labours during the
Crimean War. He was one of the most eminent surgeons in the Army & his
services in the Crimea were great & successful" widow left with 3 infant
children, his case turned down by Commissioners of the Patriotic Fund,
because she married him after 1 Jan 1858 and so not considered a widow of the
Cr War, suggested that S of S mt bring the case to the royal commissioners,
to make an exception

f163, D. Galton, April 8, 1866, asking for an opinion about Nursing wages
unsigned note, fl64v, pencil

fl163v

It’s no use recommending that.

She & they all are perfectly

incapable of comprehension

And they’ve reinstated the
Lady Supt.

unsigned note, fl64v, pencil

fle64v

The only reply I can give [15:175]
is that the woman who is

going to cook, clean, wait

& take general responsibility

of the Nursing establishment

& 1ts belongings: but and

who is at the same time

trustworthy in regard to

property which she must

finger, must be paid for

at a higher rate than

any ordinary Nurse

servant. You will find

her accomplishments stated

at length in Mrs. S.S. paper [end]
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signed letter, ffl65-66v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£f165
April 19/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
Am I to be put off
with this? --————- a question
not to be asked.
There is no more need
for Ld Hartington to
have an Act of Parlt
than for him to have
an Act of Parl to
enable me to keep my
cats.
One word from him
to the Rt. Honble — Corry
would do it.

f165v

If he won’t say that
word, tell me so -
And I will do
something else.

I mean to worry
till it is done.

The poor woman, with
3 delicate children, has
been up to London - & been here.

[The next time she
comes, I shall give
her a letter to the
S. of S., to the two Under
S. of S.s, to the Assistant
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f166
S. of S. & every clerk in
the W.0. - to the

C. in C., to the Q.M.G.,
the Adj. Genl, & every
officer in the H.G.
[And serve you right.]

If you want to know
the merits of the man
for whose widow &
children I am
bothering, ask the
whole Army Med: Dep:
& many Military
Officers.

The management of
the Pat: Fund have
told me that the



131

fle66v
simple expression of the
Minister’s opinion -
& this, without
committing himself
to any approval of
the management -
would do it.
I mean to worry till it
is done. And, if Ld
Hartington won’t do it,
I shall try another
plan -
Yours, “unjust judges”
that “importunate widow”.

initialled letter, f£ff167-70v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£167
Private May 9/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,

London. W.

My dear Capt. Galton
Dr. Sutherland, whenever [9:555]
he wants to worry me,
always announces that
he is going to start next
Friday for some months’
absence - And this he
has done perpetually
(about Malta & Gibraltar)
But he has now

stated definitively that
he is going in a fortnight
- that he does 1t, because
of YOUR urgency -
- that he goes over land
to Malaga & so to Gibraltar
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fl67v

by himself, tho’ he does

not l1ike it - thence to

Malta -

& consequently that he

will not be back till

the end of the Session -

that this Friday will be the

last Meeting of the Army

Sany Commn. [end 9:555]

I am sure I am not one
to prefer one branch of
the Public Service to
another - Jjust because
I am in it - Indeed,

f1e68

as you will remember - the
Mediterranean Stations
expedition was originally
my doing.

If you tell me that it
can’t be helped that
Dr. Sutherland should go
now, (instead of after
the Session,) I shall
submit.

If you tell me that it
is of real importance
that he should go now,
instead of in the autumn,
I shall submit cheerfully

But I shall pack up

my duds, & leave London,

because I cannot

undertake alone the



fle68v

daily applications I have
and what I must do

(by myself) I can Jjust
as well do out of London.
But I will just tell you
how we are situated -
What we have lost by
their absence in Algeria

cannot well be exaggerated.

We have lost a London
Workhouse Infirmary

Bill this Session.

But I don’t consider that
strictly Dr. S.’s work -
Still I have almost

daily references about
Infirmary (Workhouse)
work - not only in London
But what is certainly Dr.

£169

S.’s work (even more than
mine) 1is certainty the
Indian Sanitary work.

If T were to see you, I
would tell you the whole
history.

As it is, I will tell you
that a Despatch of Sir

J. Lawrence’s has been
waiting since January

19 at the India Office
(re=organizing the whole
India Public Health
Service) -

that Sir J. Lawrence
wrote to me by the

same mail about it -

that it was never found
till last Saturday, &

[9:555]
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£f169v

then only by Lord de Grey’s

own hands, urged by me

- that we are now doing

this -

that I cannot possibly
undertake this
responsibility, without
Dr. Sutherland

that, for, at least the
next 2,3,4 months,
this will be going on -

[I am the only person

left except Lord Stanley,

- Ld Stanley consults, he

does not advise, me -

upon this India Sanitary

affair] If Dr. Sutherland

£170

goes, I must give it up.

[I am not afraid of

responsibility - (I think

my life has shewn that)

But I do not choose

to incur responsibility

which I am incapable

of properly fulfilling.]

If you wish for more
information, wviz in
what way it was the
absence of Messrs. Ellis
& Sutherland which
did the Indian mischief
-.& what there is now

to be done to repair it,

which cannor be done

in the autumn, whereas
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£f170v

Dr. S.’s absence in the
autumn would not at

all affect the Indian
business, I am ready

to give it.

Please BURN this

[N.B. The I.0. is thoroughly
ashamed of itself for
having been unable to
find this Despatch for

4 months -] [end 9:555]
Therefore do not mention
it-

ever yours

expectantly
F.N.

{printed address:} 35 South Street,
{upside down} Park Lane,

London. W.
signed letter, ff171-72, pen, black-edged blue paper

£171
May 9/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,

London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
Could you give me [16:790]

such a letter to some
one in the Herbert Hospital
as will enable Mrs.
Wardroper & Mr. Whitfield
(of St. Thomas’) to go
steadily over it, seeing
all the fittings especially
& all the arrangements
at their leisure?

They wish to go
Friday or to morrow
or some day next week.



£f171v

They would be much
obliged if the letter
(of introduction) left
the day open - as
Mr. Whitfield is 1il1l

If you could send me
the letter kindly
by return of Messenger,
I would send it
by hand to them -

I am particularly anxious
that they should
accomplish this
visit efficiently, as

its purpose

£172
+t is for their own new
Hospital.

Could you also kindly
send me another copy
of your Herbert Hospl
book? I have lent mine
to them.

ever yours
F. Nightingale

136

[end 16:790]



137

signed letter, f£f173-75, pen, black-edged blue paper

£173
Private May 11/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I am very much obliged [9:540-41]

to you for your note
(about Dr. S.)

Would you please
tell him to-day (he will
be at the Sanitary Comm:)
without making any
allusion to me,
that he can’t be
spared for the next
two or three months,
for a longer time than
17 days at once -

£173v
[T believe that would
decide him at once
not to go till the
autumn, for no
man on earth but
yourself could induce
him to do Malta
in 15 days - &
Gibraltar in another
17 days - He will
certainly choose to do
them both together &
take two months
about it.] But if not an absence
of 15-17 days would not
damage my business so much. ]
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£174
I am sure you will be
within the truth if you
tell him he must be
in England (to do the
business) for the next
two or three months - at least.

But he quotes you to
me: as saying that the
ought to be gone already
(to Malta & Gibraltar.)

You are the only person
who could persuade
him to stay (till
autumn)

If T were to shew him
your note, he would

f174v
only go the faster.

But you could make
him stay at once -

And, if the Indian
Sanitary business is not
settled in the next
2 - 3 months, it will
never be done at all.

But Dr. S. thinks
the world moves round
himself - & that all
the India business
witt stops till he
comes back - which
it doesn’t.

Pray be positive with
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£175
Dr. S. [I need not
supply you with
arguments for somehow
you are the only
person who can
make him do what
you want.] And put it as
“business” generally, not as India
business specially - to induce him to stay.
Burn this -
& above all, deny
my acquaintance.
like two pick pockets
in a crowd. [end 9:541]
ever yours
F. Nightingale

signed letter, ffl176-76v, pen, black-edged blue paper

f176
June 2/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I see that there
has been a sparring
in the Ho: of Lords
between the D. of
Somerset & others
about the powers
of administering
the Patriotic Fund.
Could you tell me
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fl76v
whether there is the
least chance of Lord
Hartington doing
what I ask (with
the present
management) for
Surgeon Major Matthew’s
widow & children
It waits only for him: Ld Hartington
ever yours truly
F. Nightingale

signed letter, ff177-78v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£177
Private June 11/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton

I am really sorry to
trouble you. But as this
is a matter about which
I have been in the greatest
anxiety since January 9,

- as Dr. Sutherland’s note
is perfectly unintelligible
to me - & as the only
part I do guess at is
in direct contradiction
to a private note I
have had from Lord
de Grey, I must apply



141

£177v
to you -

1. “The reply” - from
whom? - about what?

2. What is the good
of “sending” my “paper”
to me -? unless indeed
something else is coming
with it besides the “Minute”
which I have already.
3. What “paper”?
What “minute”?

If it is a Minute by
Sir John Lawrence on
the Public health Service,
dated January 9,
I have a copy of it -

£178
I will gladly let you see it -
It is a matter of the most
intense anxiety to me -
And Sir J. Lawrence has
written repeatedly to me
about it.
[It was never found at
the I.0. till May 5 -
& then only at my
repeated solicitation,
founded upon the
information I received
from Sir J. L. himself.
I believe Lord de Grey
found it with his
own hand].
(4.) Who are the “three
people”?
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£178v

But 3 is so utterly
incomprehensible to me,
that I must ask you

to explain.

I have really read it
over & over again without
being able to extract a
meaning.

(5) What is the good of
my “drafting a Minute”
upon “my own paper”
unless indeed Lord de
Grey’s “reply” is coming
to me, as he himself
proposed it should.

ever yours, in the

greatest confusion of

mind.
F. Nightingale

signed letter, f£f179-80v, pen, black-edged blue notepaper

£179
Private June 18/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.

My dear Capt. Galton

Would you be so
very good as to look
at p. 20 of Mr.
Longmore’s pamphlet
enclosed?

I understand from
Genl Codrington that

£179v
nothing has been done
to put an Ambulance
corps, in training;
altho’ Col: Clark
Kennedy’s Commission
gave a detailed
plan -

I have been
bragging of your
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£180
perfect state of
preparation to the
Italian Government.
But I am told that
the reverse is the
fact - altho’ no one
knows what a day
may bring forth
in Europe.

The Algerian Committee
has given a detail
of the French method.

£180v
[T wish the Algerian
Committee had
never been there.
But, as it +s has,
would it not be
as well to put it
in immediate
communication
with Netley in order
to see the thing done.
Yours ever
F. Nightingale

signed letter, ff181-82v, pen, black-edged blue notepaper

£181
Private June 18/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.

My dear Capt. Galton

You know the history [9:884]
of Dr. Angus Smith’s
Water=analysis
pamphlet -

Since then, I have
had a copy of Dr.
Macnamara’s paper, X
forwarded me by
x on the same subject
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£f181lv

the Govt. of India

(quoting Dr. Parkes)

which is extremely

inaccurate & unpractical.
Your Committee

on the Aide Mémoire

(which of course I

need not tell you

about) are very

£182

desirous that Dr.
Angus Smith shall
supply the Water=
analysis methods -
provided you will
sanction the
expence -

It will be well
expended - he is
undoubtedly the
best man - [But
he must see that

£182v
“Sennacherib” is kept
away out of the
pamphlet - or
“Nebuchadnezzar” -] [end 9:884]
ever yours
F. Nightingale
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initialled letter, £f183-84v, pen, black-edged blue notepaper

£183
Private June 19/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I send you a rough
Draft in accordance
with what you
said in your note
of the 16th - the
very roughest of
Drafts; only sent

£183v

because tomorrow
it may be too
late - It is based
on Sutherland’s
notes. Of course
its fault is

that it is not
specific enough
for a Minute -
being little more

£184
definite than my

paper of May 7 -
(to Lord de Grey)
I hope to hear
farther from you
about it -

ever yours

F.N.

I have not even
had time to read
it through. You must

£f184v
put sense into it.
F.N.
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initialled letter, £f185-86, pen, black-edged blue notepaper

£185
Private June 19/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I have just had your

note. I hear Ministers
will be out tonight.
In a couple of hours,
I will send you the
Minute - unless I
hear from you to the
contrary - Better
to send a half-
prepared imperfect

£185v
Minute than miss

the whole thing

by a few hours.

I could not get
Sutherland to do a
thing yesterday -

And I shall not
see him again till
Thursday. He left saying
I was to consider it.

He is just like
one possessed -

ever yours

F.N.

£f186
Please answer.
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initialled letter, £f187-88, pen, black-edged blue notepaper [5:310]

£187
Private June 20/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton

Dr. Sutherland is
here -

Would you like to
send me back the
Minute I wrote so
hastily last night,
with your criticisms
on the margin, &
let us add anything

£187v
in fact re=writing
it more definitely -

Is there time?
[The Messenger will
walt your answer.]

I hear privately
that Ministers have
resigned but that
the Queen may have

£188
to refuse their
resignation -

Is that what
“communicating
with the Queen”
means?

What a disaster
it is.

ever yours

F.N.

R.S.V.P.
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initialled letter, £f189-89v, pen, black-edged blue notepaper

£189
Private June 21/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
All the members
of the Indian Council
are against us - except
Cautley. But I will send
a Messenger to Dr.
Sutherland tomight
- confound that
Norwood -

£189v
at once, and let
you have an
answer at your
own house tonight,
if it be possible -
yours ever
F.N.

signed letter, f£f190-91, pen, black-edged blue notepaper

£190
June 22/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.

My dear Capt. Galton

Dr. Sutherland &
I looked over your
Guards (Medl) papers
- the “Charter of their
Liberties” - as they
call the D. of
Cumberland’s Letter
of April 1804 -
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£190v
I don’t know that
we are capable
of advising any
thing but what
I have written.
If you conld
give me some
idea of ministerial

f191

prospects, &
especially i1if you
will tell me

what you did

about advising
Lord de G. as to
his “Committee of
five” regarding the
Minute in reply

to Sir J. Lawrence,
you would much

£f191v
oblige a most
unfortunate
female

F. Nightingale
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unsigned minute, £f192-95v, pen, white, no mourning

£192
22/6/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
When the Warrant of 1858
was drawn up, it was
intended to include all
cases & branches of the
Service; it was not
expected that cases of
individual hardship
could be avoided -
A number of such
have occurred &
have never been
specially compensated.
It certainly was
intended that the

£f192v

Warrant of 1858 should
include the Guards -

& that the whole
service should be in
future uniform.

How to make it so
is a matter of
departmental
administration.

And we do not know

how a warrant came

to be made special

for the Guards in 1860 -
unless it were for

some other than



£193
Medical reasons -

If the question came
here for the first time,
on the simple ground
that the Warrant of
1858 inflicted loss on
certain Assistant
Surgeons of the Guards,
we should say: provide
for this in some
special administrative
way. But let the
Warrant of 1858 & the
New Medical Regulations
remain intact. As

£193v

regards the present

proposals, it must

not be forgotten that

the Medical Officers

of the Guards are the

persons responsible

for the health of the

Corps by regulations

- & not any Inspecting

Officers—whose/ whom it may

be proposed to

appoint.

So far as we know,
there is no reason
whatever why the
Medical Service of the

151



£194
_2_
Guards should be
made a distinct
branch - On the
contrary, we think
it would be very
much to their
advantage if they
passed thro’ other
Corps at home &
abroad. They would
be all the better
Medical & Sanitary
Officers for doing so.
We should think it
undesirable that
the Treasury should

£194v
be asked for money
specially for these
men. And
apparently the best
method of proceeding
would be for the
D.G. to send you a
scheme for meeting
the present hardships
by existing means
of pay & promotion

- taking care that,
whatever is recommended,
has for its ultimate
object the making

152
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£195

of but one Medical
Department with

equal privileges for
the entire Army.

What is wanted, in fact,
is simply some
transitory arrangement
to meet a few existing
cases of hardship.

On looking at the
letter of April 26, 1804,
one would say that the
plain common - sense
way of dealing with
the question

£195v
would have been this: -
Give all the then
existing Medical Officers
the additional 2/9 a day
from 20 years’ Service
onwards - and in
their special case
don’t exact the
compulsory retirement
at 55. Then
let all in -comers
into the Guards
come under the
Warrant of 1858.
And do away with
{printed address:} 35 South Street,
{upside down} Park Lane,
London. W.
Guards’ Medical Service

the Departmental
character of the
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signed letter, f£f196-97v, pen, white, no mourning

£196
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
June 23/66
My dear Capt. Galton
I transmitted =& [9:884]
messages, which Dr.
Sutherland told me
he had received
from you, to Dr. Angus
Smith, relative to his
writing, (for Sanitary
Aide-Mémoire,) a
Water=analysis Chapter
& the cost of doing so
He will, I think,
undertake it.
He wishes not to
ask any sum of money

f196v
until it is seen what he
has done.

Perhaps the best way
will be for your Commission
to recommend that
some remuneration
should be given,
when you see the work.

If this can be managed,
we will write out a
List of Instructions as
to what the said
water=analysis Chapter
should contain.
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£197

Please, if you have
a moment, tell me
the Ministerial
prospects -

I am furious to that
degree at having lost
Lord de Grey’s 5 months’
Ministry at the India
Off: (mainly owing to
that stupid Mr. Ellis,
consorting & colloquing
with Dr. Sutherland)
that I am fit to
blow you all to pieces,
with an Infernal
Machine of my own

£197v
invention, which does
me credit. [end 9:884]

ever yours
F. Nightingale

initialled letter, ££f198-201v, pen, black-edged blue notepaper

That dreadful M.
Husson, Directeur

of the Assistance
Publique at Paris,
is coming over

here again from

next Sunday till

the Friday after
(July 1 to July 6) -
to see all the
Workhouses & Hospitals

£199v
in London & England
in 5 days -
[He really terrifies
me like a
Whirlwind or Cyclone].
Could you send me
an introduction
to the Herbert
Hospital, which
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he wants to see
again, for him?
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£200
And, is there any other
Military Hospital
you would recommend
him to see?
e.g. Hounslow -
Would you see him
yourself? - [end]

£198
Private June 27/66 [16:725]
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.

My dear Capt. Galton

I send you a note
from the Clerk of
Chorlton Union
about their new
Workhouse Infirmary
built on our plan.

It appears to be
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£198v
about £50 a bed -
Would not you
send some one down
from the Surveyor’s
Office to see it
& to verify about
the cost?
Please be so good
as to return me my
note at once.

£199

That dreadful M.
Husson, Directeur

of the Assistance
Publique at Paris,
is coming over

here again from

next Sunday till

the Friday after
(July 1 to July 6) -
to see all the
Workhouses & Hospitals

£199v

in London & England
in 5 days -

[He really terrifies
me like a
Whirlwind or Cyclone].

Could you send me
an introduction
to the Herbert
Hospital, which
he wants to see
again, for him?
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£200
And, is there any other
Military Hospital
you would recommend
him to see?
e.g. Hounslow -
Would you see him
yourself? - [end]

" Now do write to [5:311] [9:885-86]
a wretched female,
(F.N.) about who

£200v
is to come in WHERE.
Does Genl Peel come
to the W.0.?
If so, will he
annihilate our
Civil Sanitary
element?
Is Sutherland to
go all the same
to Malta & Gibraltar
this autumn?
Will Genl Peel imperil the Army

£201

Sanitary Commission?

I must know: ye

Infernal powers -

Is Mr. Lowe to come
in to the India
Off:?

It is all unmitigated
disaster to me -
For as Lord Stanley

is to be Foreign, -

(the only place

he can be of -

no use to us,) I shall
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£201v
not have a friend
in the world.
If I were to say
any more, I should
fall to swearing
I am so indignant. [end 9:885]
ever yours
furiously
{printed address:}35 South Street, F.N.
Park Lane,
London. W.

signed letter, ££f202-05, pen, white no mourning

£202
6998/175
35 South Street, [15:173-74]
Park Lane,
London. W. {printed address:}
July 3/66
My dear Capt. Galton
1. I do not think,
in time of peace ( - in
time of war, it is
different) you can
“order” the Supt. Genl of
Nurses to the Herbert
Hospital before the
time she herself fixes,
viz. Oct. 1.
If anything were to
go wrong, she would
say: it was the fault
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f202v

of the War Office that
she had told you:

She was not ready.

[T may not agree with
her. But I think

you can’t do otherwise
than what she requests.
She is gquite correct
in saying that never,
till April last, were
the arrangements

for the Nursing made
at Netley, which,
ought to have been
made when she

first entered. These
necessitate some

£203

further experience
on her part.

Otherwise, for the
matter of that, I do
not think it
signifies much
such is Netley
whether there are
Nurses there now
or not.]

2. Before you finally
decide, it would be
better to let Mrs.

S. Stewart go to the



£203v
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Herbert Hospital &

3.

£204
of cases that are to

204v

see the Governor &c

[ Col: Shaw ought

certainly to know
if Nurses are
coming, in order
to provide the
proper fittings &c]

I would tell her
(1) the average number

of Patients

(2) that the Lock

cases are not to be
given over to the
Nurses

(3) the average number

be given over to the
Nurses

(4) I would certainly

let her take the Linen
in strict accordance
with the Regulation

& include the “Mending”.

After she has been
informed of these
things & has seen the
Hospital, I would
make her report to
you, & fix her down
to October 1, as the
date when she must
take possession.

ever yours truly

F. Nightingale
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£205
You say the S. of S. is
an “impersonal creature”
I wish he wuz. [end 15:174]
F.N.

signed letter, f206, pen

£206
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
July 6/66
My dear Capt. Galton
The enclosed photo =s &
Rapport of the new
Hbétel Dieu were given
me by M. Husson -
Dr. Sutherland says
you would like to see
them.
Please return as soon
as convenient
ever yours
F. Nightingale

signed letter, ff207-08v, pen, black-edged blue notepaper

£207
Burn July 7/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W. [15:610]

My dear Capt. Galton

Could you send me
6 copies or 3 copies
Or even one copy
of your General Report
of the Barrack &
Hospital Commission
18637

Both sides in the
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£207v
War ask me for
Hospital Advice.
And I have
just been asked
for another copy
of this - having
given away six
I had —for the
Head Quarters of
the “Bund” x Army.

x P. Alexander of Hesse

£208
Burn
Alas! where is it
now? - [end]

ever yours
F. Nightingale

Dr. Sutherland told

me (I dare say it

was his own invention)

that you thought

I ought to reach

£208v

Ld Cranborne thro’

Ly Cranborne. I

have a much

better recommendation

to him than that.

& have already been

put into “direct
communication” with

him; not

at my own

request.

But, o ye Gods (if there
are any,) what a

crush & crash & ruin

it all is! BURN [5:311]
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signed letter, f£f209-11v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£209
Private
& Confidential July 28/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Burn Park Lane,
London. W.

My dear Capt. Galton

I am growing, like
England, gquite Christian
& humble. And I only
write to you by way of
enquiry: - what will
be done about Dr.
Sutherland going to the
Mediterranean?

I should like to have
some vague idea.

[You know it is wvain
to expect him to make

£209v

two journeys, one to Malta,
& one to Gibraltar - each
of 17 or 18 days. He
will do both at once,
take his time about
it, & perhaps that
(his) time will be two
months. ]

My situation is this: - [9:885]
Ld Cranborne has

written to me, (urged,

of course by Ld Stanley),

that he will do the

Public health business

next - & with me -
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£210

immediately after the
Officers’ claims are
settled.

Mr. Gathorne Hardy - that

he will bring a

Metropolitan Workhouse

Infirmary Bill before

the Cabinet in November

- that he will devote

the two months after

August 10 to preparing

it - & that he will

come to me “to advise

& suggest”. [About

the Bill is, I believe,

no secret - I think

£210v

he said so to the Deputation
on Thursday. It IS, of
course, a secret, that
I am to have a hand

in it.]

Now, neither Indian

nor Poor Law business
should I undertake
without Dr. Sutherland.
[I merely want to know
what his course is
likely to be.]

We let the Metropolitan
Workhouse bill slip
thro’ in January -
mainly owing to his
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£211

absence in Algeria. I
do not mean to let
it slip through now,
if T can help it.

For myself, I have offered
to go & see poor mother,
(whom we think altered)
But I should time

my visit home to coincide
with Dr. Sutherland’s visit
to the Mediterranean.

And I should certainly
postpone it to the

India & Poor Law business.
Indeed, nothing could

f211v
be easier -
Please BURN this [end 9:885]
ever yours
F. Nightingale
Pray tell me how
Marianne is
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signed letter, f£f212-13, pen, black-edged blue paper

£212
Private July 30/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I have not anything
to add to my note of
Saturday) about Dr.
Sutherland & the Medi=
terranean) - except that
he says to day he shall
take ten weeks (!!!) for
Malta & Gibraltar. And
we know him well
enough to know that
his ten weeks will be,
at least, ten weeks -
[i.e. the whole time
intended

£212v
to be given for the
preparing of the
Metropolitan Workhouse
Infirmary Bill -]
But I merely ask to be
informed - I make
no comments -
He says that you say
that owing to the delay
which I have occasioned,
it is no use his going
at all - Would it were so! Or,
If he could but take
the time of a
reasonable mortal!!!
ever yours
F. Nightingale

£213
Please BURN.
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signed letter, f214, pen, black-edged blue paper

£214
Aug 3/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.

My dear Capt. Galton

Is there anything I
could do for this Serjeant
Green (enclosed) who
wants to be promoted
to Serjeant Major?

I remember him at
Scutari as a very good
Ward Master. And, if
I am not mistaken, he
married (after the War)
a very [++regt/trustworthy Nurse of
mine, named Sullivan.

yours sincerely
Florence Nightingale

signed letter, f£f215-16, pen, black-edged blue paper
£215

6998/190-2 Aug 9/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.

My dear Capt. Galton

Let Lord Townshend
& his 3 Clients settle
their own personal
matters between themselves.

With regard to the W.0.: - [15:175]1-76
my opinion would be
that you have gained
all the information
by your enquiry that
there is to gain -

Proceeding on Mrs.
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£215v

Shaw Stewart’s own
letter, I should, (if
I were the authority)
reprimand her &
give her a farther
trial as Supt. Genl.

If you think I can be
of any service as to
the nature of
reprimand which
would do most good,
I would put down
notes for you (at the W. 0O.)

£216
I need hardly say that
whatever the S. of S. is
pleased to decide - the
sooner it is done, the
better - [end 15:176]
Believe me
Yours sincerely
Florence Nightingale
Capt. Galton

initialled letter, f£f217-20v pen, black-edged blue paper

£217
6998/190-2-3 archivist:{[c. Aug. 1866]}
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W. [15:174-75]
Private & Confidential
As there is no question
now to pre=judge, I
may perhaps say: -
1. 1if T were Supt. Genl &
Mrs. S.S. Supt., I should
feel confidence as
absolute as tho’ I
had been there myself,
that the account she
gives of herself is the
truth & all the truth.
2. that she will never
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£217v
do such a thing again
as “beat a Nurse,” (!!!)
having said she
will not -
that there is much
more probability now,
(instead of less,) that
she will improve
her ways & temper
with the Nurses.
3. that no witness
who had signed
by one name on
the 1st & last day
of a month, & by

£218
another name on the
middle of that month
(vide ) Caroline Dilkes
“  Cobbold)
would have her evidence
comptaint entertained
by an ordinary court
of justice in all
probability for a moment.
4. that all three
letters of complaint appear to be
written by one & the
same person - vide style
5. that Ld Townshend
has, in my own
personal case, got
hold of the most
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worthless women he
could find & sent
them to me “to be
“maintained for
“life, as the proper
“object of the
““Wightingale’ Fund”

6. that I consider, -
from my personal
experience, - Mrs. S.
Stewart’s desire to
be a perfectly
legitimate one, viz that
no Officer ought to
give recommendations

£219
to Nurses dismissed
from H.M.’s Service.
It repeatedly happened
to me, (as Supt. Genl
in the Crimean War,)
to find, - not only
that Medical Officers
who had themselves
preferred the charge
of (say) intoxication
upon which I had
sent home a Nurse,
gave that Nurse
a written recommendation,
signed by themselves
- but also that I
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have had to keep a
Nurse, - dismissed

by one of my seven
Superintendents, upon
quite sufficient
cause, - to the great
detriment of the
Service (for the
Nurse had

ultimately, of course,
to be dismissed

after doing grievous
injury) - to keep her,
I say, with myself,

by the command of
some Superior Officer

£220

[Of course I afterwards
arranged/ effected that no
such commands should

be valid.]

My conclusion is: that,
tho’ I do not see

how Mrs. S. Stewart’s

desire can be carried

out, my experience is
that, unless officers
can see the impropriety
of supporting Nurses,

(& Nurses whom they
themselves may have
reported against)
in defiance of their
own Superintendent,

£220v

grievous damage will

be done to the Service.
(in haste) F.N.

173

[end 15

:175]
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initialled letter, £221, pencil, black-edged blue paper

£221
Aug 17/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W. [15:176]
My dear Capt. Galton
1. Am I to “reprimand” Mrs.
Shaw Stewart?
2. Is Ld Cranborne in town?
3. Is Mr. Gathorne Hardy
in town? [end]
ever yours
F.N.

signed letter, f£f222-27, pen, black-edged blue paper

£222
6998/197 Aug 30/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.

My dear Capt. Galton

Roughly. I would answer
the question as to what
should be the “scale
for Superintendents” thus.

minimuam £150

maximum £300

Practically, I would
earnestly advise that the
question should be put
off at least another year, as
we are without
experience as to paid



175

£222v

Superintendents - & as
we found, upon experience,
that the Regulation scate/minimum
for Nurses was too low.

Also: the scale of pay., (wages,
salaries &c) is rising
ever year for women
in Civil Life.

Provisionally, I would take
£200, as you propose, in
Estimates.

[N.B. Mrs. S. Stewart
proposed £200 for a
Supt., - supposing the
Supt. to pay her own

£223
6998/134
servant, (who, you will
remember, 1s also General
Servant to the Nurses
such an one could not
be well had under £35 a
year, including washing
& free rations besides.)
& “to provide & maintain
a supply of bed & table
linen,” “pay for postage, &
stationery “ &c &c &c x for Nurses
The P. in C. thought - and
I rather agree with him
- that it is better to give
the Supt. a fixed rate of
pay, without deductions -
that the Supt. should

x These deductions amount
altogether to from £55 to £95
from Supt’s pay.
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provide these articles &
the Paymaster pay for
them.

£150 was fixed by Lord
de Grey 6998/56
as the pay, x And I
would make that the
minimum]
as to the Treasury question,
6998/197
I would say/answer that there
are no Regulations about
Supt.’s pay - that they
were purposely omitted
x without the deductions

£224
And I would ask for

farther delay - in proposing such.
If you fix the pay of
your Supts, you must
fix that of your future Supts
=General. [Mrs. Shaw
Stewart never has had
pay; & will never take
any, (while she is Supt.
Genl) But this may not
be the case with your
next Supt. Genl] We
have therefore no
experience whatever as
to what the pay of Supts or of
Supts Genl should be -
It is extremely unwise,
in England, where, I

_2_
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believe, more than in any
other country, widows
& unmarried women (in

educated 1life) support their families by

their own exertions -
where you do not wish,
(as in conventional
establishments,) to make
the power of serving
without pay the condition
of fitness to serve
- where, 1in Civil Life,
competent women can
command every year
a higher rate of pay
so as to enable them

even to educate sons or younger
brothers really well -

It would be extremely
unwise, under these

£225
circumstances, to fix a
rate, without experience,
by which it would be
afterwards found that
H.M.’s Service would
not be able to compete
with Civil Life in
attracting capable women.
Speaking, then, totally without experience: - (& also with
the prospect of India in view: -)
£300 a year would not
be at all too much for
a Supt such as the
Supt. Genl could trust
to go to a General Hospital
abroad or in the field,
& to train Probationers -
while £150 would be
quite enough for one
serving under ordinary
conditions increased after
a time by £25,& after
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a further term, by £25 more
vide 6998/134
[The Matron of St. Thomas’
Hospital, who is also
Training Matron to the
“Nightingale Fund”, receives
considerably more than
£300 a year, including
certain allowances - and
is werr worth it]

But, as I have said,
after a careful
comparison with Civil

Life - after considering
{printed address:} 35 South Street, this fact, - viz. during
{upside down} Park Lane, the last 10 years,

London. W.

the wages, salaries &c which

£226

competent women can command
have been steadily (& happily)
rising & will probably,
if not certainly, rise
much more.

also: it would be very
desirable if widows &
daughters of Officers
& of professional men
could be attracted into
the Nursing Service -
[the Matron of St. Thomas’
is the widow of a
professional man]

considering these things, I
would submit that “My
Lords should not settle
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any salaries for Superintendents
at present - (& especially

as there is not one
Superintendent at present/this moment
to receive a salary -
but should leave it
open for a year or more
till we have some
experience for them
to decide upon.
[I do not quite know what
is meant by “proposed
addition.”] Lord de Grey settled £150.
And the surplus £50 was
for necessary expences necessary
wherever there is a Supt.
6998/197
Yours sincerely
Florence Nightingale
Capt. Galton

£227
Private

It should always be kept
in mind that IF we could
supply Supts to India, we
could command almost any
salaries for them. Sir John
Lawrence says: — spare no
expence.

Also: -
I hear you ask whether
you could not have Mrs.
Wardroper for yourselves -
“Don’t you wish you may get her.
Why, If you were to have her,
I should have no Supts or
Nurses to send any where -
It’s taking away the goose
that laid golden eggs.

F.N.

” )
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signed letter, f£f228-29v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£228
Private Sept 23/66
35 Suuth StLCCt, {LJJ.J‘.llth Cl.de.CDD.}
Embley Perk—Tearmres
Romsey Formrdomr—W-=
My dear Capt. Galton
I am sure I exchange
condolences with you at your
the holiday, small as it is,
being invaded.
But I must ask you
to look over the enclosed
letters & return them to me.
The writer, Wabe, is a
Romsey man, a well
educated man, & an
admirable N.C. officer.
[T have seen all his
certificates, which are
excellent. (from his C.0.’s)
One of them told him, if
he would re=enlist, he (the
C.0.) would re-instate him
as Serjeant Major]
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The Allsop, to whom the letter
is addressed, 1s a farmer
of my father’s -

I think the case is a hard
one. Certainly it is a good
thing to &p employ N.C.
Officers as Clerks - they
generally are much
worthier than the Civil
Clerks - & they are treated
much worse, tho’
undoubtedly good service
in the Army constitutes
a claim.

At the same time, I know
what can be said on
the other side. And I
suppose it is a Warrant
business.

I have not given the man
the least hope, as far as
I am concerned.

£229

Do you think there is any
thing I could do? anything
to be done?
Would Sir Hope Grant do
anything? - or could he?
Please not to let the
letters injure this man; at
all events.

A Mrs. Daniell & a Col:
Arthur Herbert, Q.M.G.,
have applied to me (in
& very unbusiness-like letters)
for a Midwife for Aldershot
Soldiers’ Wives Hospital - -
Their “Mrs. Taylor,” Matron
& Midwife, having signalized
herself in the drunken line.
[She was not our appointment]
I have felt sure of this for a
long while - And a woman
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has died in her second

confinement from the sheer

neglect of this drunken

Midwife.

If you can give me any

information, x I shall be glad.

But, remember, I don’t

give you this information

“officially”. Don’t quote it.

x Do you, the W.0., exercise any (real)
control over thig Aldershot Female Hospital?

Give my love to the little
girls. I hope Marianne
has been well enough
to join you. And, if
Mrs. Galton should
remember me, which is
hardly likely, please give
her my respectful regards.
ever yours
F. Nightingale

signed letter, f£f230-30v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£230
Private

Embley

Romsey Sept 27/66

My dear Capt. Galton

Enclosed is the manifesto
of my Military Clerks.
It does not appear to me
well=drawn up, nor
calculated to advance
their cause - which
nevertheless I believe
to be a just one.

Please however not
to let it injure them.
You have the letters
of Wabe, the Romsey
man, in connection with
this - ever yours

F. Nightingale
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£f230v {written across the corner of the page, on a diagonal}

It was a

young woman

of the 28th who

died in her confinement

“entirely from neglect”

at the Aldershot Female

Hospital. We have no

Midwife for them at our School

all ours (in training) are long since engaged -
They seem to think we have always a large
supply of such articles on hand.

Private 27/9/66 F.N.

signed letter, ff231-30v, pen, black-edged blue paper [6:354-55]

£231
Private
& Confidential Embley Oct 28/66
Romsey
35——Soutihr—Streets {printed address:}
Park—tare
LUlldUll. ‘\—/\-l,.
My dear Capt. Galton
I hear that you are on
a Committee upon Workhouse
Infirmaries of which Dr.
Watson 1is President, - but
that its object is mainly
to determine cubic space.
I hear also that you
return to the W.0. on Monday.
I have had a great
deal of clandestine correspondence
with my old loves at
the Poor Law Board these
last two months.
And I have been a
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good deal behind the scenes.
The belief is (among the

old loves) that the new

master is bent - - - - on doing

nothing - & that he means

to help himself to do nothing

by obtaining such Reports

as will enable him to tell

the Ho: of C. next February

that all that was wrong

is put right - that no

sweeping measure 1is

necessary - & that it was

all a mistake about the

sick poor not being in

Paradise in the Workhouses.

- that, as there was such

£232

a “row" made about Dr. E.
Smith’s unimaginable report,
& especially about his 500 c. ft.
- therefore they have called
together this committee of yours,
as a kind of blind - as if
cubic space were the one
thing needful, or indeed

even the main thing needful.
I should be very glad if you
would kindly tell me all
about your Committee -

its members - whether

you have yet met - how

soon it is likely to report
&c &Cc -

Also: 1if you could send me

a copy of Dr. Markham’s
Report on Workhouse
Infirmaries -

[Fleming, the Secretary & our
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bug:bear at the P. L . Board
says; - he (Dr. Markham)

is as bad & gives us as
much trouble as that
other fellow (Farnall) -]
In all this miserable mess, this
cruel farce, there is only
one thing of which I am
gquite sure - And that is: -.
that Mr. Villiers will lead
Mr. G. Hardy no easy life
in the Ho: of C. next February.
Mr. G. Hardy has crowed
too loud. And Ld Derby
does not like his cocks
to crow, & then be laughed
at. [Don’t play into Mr. Hardy’s hands.]
I need hardly tell you that,
having been concerned in

£233

this matter from d=st

February, 1865, I look upon

the cubic space as the

least of the evils - indeed,

as rather a good - for it

is a very good thing to

suffocate the “pauper sick”

out of their misery.

I would tell you much more

of the by=play at the P. L.

Board. But till I hear

what view you take, it is

of no use.

Also: I would send you a few
notes on our view of the
matter, if that would be of
any use.

I venture to repeat: - don’t let your

Committee play into Mr. Hardy’s hands.

= 2. Could you tell me any
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thing about the affair of the
“N. C. Office Clerks of the
Manufacturing branches of the
W.0.” as connected with
that man Wabe’s letter which
I sent you. They have sent
me a copy of their Memorial
to the S. of S. for War.
ever yours
F. Nightingale
Private & Confidential
Burn

signed letter, ff234-37, pen, black-edged blue paper [6:357-59]

£234
Private
Embley Oct 30/66
Romsey
35—South—Street; {printed address:}

D 1 I
rdal N L4dlle,

LUJ.ldUJ.l. ‘l’l\},.
My dear Capt. Galton

Thank you very much
for Dr. Acland, which I return -
& for Dr. Markham which I
keep -

Dr. Acland’s is a most
sensible letter. But even he
does not look at all at the
question - whether under
Workhouse administration,
proper Hospitals can exist
at all.

We say not.

But it seems to be Mr.
G. Hardy’s determination
that this question shall
not be considered. And
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the Committee is not of such
a nature as to consider it
in spite of him -

As to Dr. Markham’s paper: -
it is to my mind a highly
dangerous paper - almost
as dangerous as Dr. Edward
Smith’s, because it has
a greater amount of truth
in it, & is much more
modestly & ably written..

But, you know, we entirely
repudiate most /some of the
conclusions of Mr. Holmes,
in Mr. Simon’s Report,
(quoted in Dr. Markham’s)
as being unpractical &
unscientific as well

£235

I fancy Mr. Homes is on your
Committee: He is able; but
as we consider, wholly
incompetent on the Hospital
health & Administration
question

He & Bristowe are always
considered “jobs” of Mr. Simon.

I would send you a criticism
on Dr. Markham’s paper
but that the criticism
which I want to be
perpetually repeating is: -
Cubic space be hanged!
(excuse swearing -
I spend my life in it)
It is not the One Thing
Needful.
It is hardly the first thing
needful.
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I am in very low spirits
indeed. I think, from
what I hear it is a
parti pris to stifle the
most important elements
of the subject.

I have not the least faith
in any Doctor - not even
Dr. Acland - entering into
practical questions of
administration & government
of Workhouses - Least of
all is Sir R. Watson
capable of doing so.

I think we may write & write
& explain & explain to
these people in vain.

They will never understand
that the two administrations
must be separate - the
administration of the
sick must be different
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from the administration of

the poor.

The present Workhouses,

If

however improved, cannot
be worked with. two
different administrations
Mr. G. Hardy says: - I will
act on Dr. E. Smith’s Report,
or on Dr. Markham’s
“Suggestions” - you should
answer: - you can do no good
- the only principle
on which the
improvement of the
London W. H. Infirmaries
can be carried out
is entire reconstruction
on sound principles -
& entire separation
between management
of paupers &
management of sick
After you have got
your Act of Parlt for
this purpose, we can
help you with the details.
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Both as to Poor Law & as
to Sanitary Law, you know,
the Boards of Guardians
constantly undertake to
administer it only in
order to defeat it.
But to return -
All the Doctors will never
understand that, tho’ it is
a very good thing to give
good cubic space to “hands”
in a “factory”, that does
not enable you to manage
the manufactory.
Or, suppose you were to put
a Hospital under the same
government as the factory,
would that be a likely
arrangement for the
Hospital?

£237

A Hospital has nothing

to do with a factory.

And what has it to do with
a Workhouse? -

What indeed? -

N.B. Mr Corbett is a
wretched Inspector,
a very good fellow,
& the most indiscreet
blabber of private official
secrets that ever was
invented.
Also: he & some others
play into Mr. Hardy’s
hands a qui mieux mieux
You will see that all this
is Private & Confidential
Burn ever yours
F. Nightingale

190
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signed letter, f£f238-39, pen, black-edged blue paper

£239
Private
Embley Oct 31/66
Romsey
35—Soutih—Streets {printed address:}
Park—tare
LUlldUll. ‘I—/\-l,.
D.G. which does not mean
Deo Gratias {Thanks be to God -
Dei Gratia {By the grace of God -GW}

My dear Fap# Galton

I have had several
private letters in the last
two months, - one from Sir
Jas. Clark, who thought
he should be consulted
by Genl Peel - asking who
had better be the new
D.G., when this one
retires (qy? in March)

Of course I reply; Muir.

£239v
[Muir is now in Canada,
is he not?]

But I understand that
Beatson &
Balfour

are also spoken of -

The whole redemption of the
A.M.D., 1if it be still
possible, depends upon
the appointment of Muir.
This man, Gibson, has been
truly a disastrous D.G.
to us.

Of course I do not offer
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this to you as information.

I understood from you,
March 1865, when there
was a mistaken idea
that Gibson would retire,
that, whenever he did,
Muir would succeed him
naturally as D.G. And
therefore there was no
occasion to fash oneself -
What I want you now
kindly to tell me is: -
whether Muir is safe -
(to become D.G.) Or whether
there is anything that can
be done or that ought to
be done to make him
safe - ever yours

F. Nightingale

initialled letter, ff240-44v, pen, black-edged blue paper [6:359-61]

£240
Private
London W.H. Infirmaries
31/10/66
My dear Capt. Galton

I should not have troubled
you about this again, but
that Dr. Sutherland is
anxious, as I dare say he
told you, that your
Committee should ask
me some such question
as this:

“How many cubic feet
“should suffice for a sick
“pauper in a W. H. Infirmary?”

I'm agreeable.

“Barkis is willing”.

[to tell them a bit of his (her) mind.]
But, as you know, I don’t

think all the writing in

the British Museum
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would make the least difference
The conclusion (at the Poor
Law Board) is already
settled. Nothing will be
done till present Ministers
are out again.

I saw most of the private
official papers (on this
subject) including, the
Statistics which were to have
been laid before the Cabinet
in January last, in order
for Mr. Villiers to obtain
a new Bill, with an
uniform London rate

And no other conclusion
could be derived from
these (reaching from February 1865
to July 1866) - in spite of
what Dr. Edward Smith

£241
most unjustly calls the
“sensational” nature of the
public opinion on this matter
- but -
that the question of cubic
space is subsidiary altogether
- that no cubic space, either
great or small, would alter
the present evils, which
are essentially those arising
out of bad or no administration.
- that it would be better to
stand on this principle rather
than to enter into any
agreement with those who
would put forward one
element, such as cubic space,
as the element of importance
THEN — after the adminis=
tration is settled by placing
the sick under a totally
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different management from
the able=bodied, and after
the buildings, i.e. the kind
of buildings & sites required
is (generally) determined
upon - then will be the

time to consider what is

the smallest cubic space

you can work with for
health, administration,
nursing & economy.

N.B. I would just humbly
inform the “Chronic”
stickers - (I mean, as to
the small cubic space
required for “chronic” cases
in Workhouses - versus

the large cubic space -
supposed to be required

for Military cases in

£242
_2_

Military Hospitals) that, in
every Workhouse I have
ever seen, or known of -
(thro’ Statistics or otherwise)
the severe cases are as
10 to 1 of the severe
cases in any Military
Hospital I have ever
seen or known of - (thro’
Statistics or otherwise) -
always excepting, of
course, War Hospitals or
Military Hospitals during
any severe Epidemic of
Fever or Cholera -
In other words, if you were

to put the ”“severe” Military
cases into the Workhouse,
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they would be classed among
the “1light”, “mild”, or
“chronic” Workhouse cases.

Or, 1n other words still,
if you were to say that

severe
"acute” cases are to the
light
"chronic” in the Workhouse
in the reversed proportion
of what they are in the
Military Hospital, you
would not be far from
the truth -

That is - if the really severe
cases are to the really
light cases in the
Workhouse as 10 to 1,
the really severe cases in
the Military Hospital are

£243
to the really light cases as
1 to 10.

And yet these Doctors call
large cubic space unnecessary
in the Workhouse, &
necessary in the Military
Hospital.

I have been over the infirm
wards of the old men in
Greenwich Hospital with
Sir John Liddell who
called them his “triumph
of Nursing”, (which
indeed they were). Now,
in these cases, always
dirty & diseased, the most
perfect ventilation will
do nothing without a
large amount of cubic

195
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space, And, again, you
must consult warmth,
which Dr. E. Smith never
does. You can’t have a
hurricane blowing upon
these infirm cases - which
is what he seems to
look for “to keep the
ward fresh”.

Now, in every Workhouse
Infirmary that I have
ever known I will
mention particularly the
Liverpool one - you have
these cases, requiring such
ample cubic space, male
& female, by the score to

{printed address:} 35 South Street, what they had in
{upside down} Park Lane, Greenwich by the
£244
_3_
one or two - People are so

deceived by the word
“chronic” & “infirm”.
Also: Mr. Holmes, in his
instances drawing from
the Brompton Consumptive
Hospital, quoted by Dr.
Markham, mis=stated the
case, as we think.
Because you can’t have a
breeze blowing over
consumptive patients,
therefore you require
more cubic space rather
than less, in order to
prevent the horrible
foulness of air induced
by an agglomeration of
diseased lungs - But
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there you see is the misery
of the “contagious” theory -
They think nothing of the
foul air produced by
consumptive cases -
because it is not
“contagious” like “Cholera,
Cattle Plague, or Fever”.

What are we coming to? -

However, as you know, I don’t
think the cubic space
question the important

one - This is only introduced
as a pleasing episode or
Divertimento ever yours
for your Royal F.N.
Highness
{printed address:} 35 South Street,
{upside down} Park Lane,

London. W.

initialled letter, f£f245-45v, pen

£245
Burn

Mr. Villiers is, as you know, frantically angry
because Mr. Hardy told him twice, in the
Ho: of C. that, had he only known how to
use, with dexterity & wisdom, the weapon
of the Law, he would have found it a
very sufficient weapon -

This is a very good thing for use, IF only Mr.
Villiers comes in again before public
opinion has subsided in our favour.

But don’t let our side play into Mr. Hardy’s
hands; let Mr. Hardy cut the sorry figure
he deserves to cut viz. that he has done

£245v
nothing (& can do nothing} without a
new B Act of Parliament).
And don’t let him think cubic space
all the question - throwing dust in people’s
eyes.
31/10/68 F.N.
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£246
Burn 6/11/66

35 reh—Street;y {printed address:}

Romsey

My dear Capt. Galton

I had a letter from my
old loves (at the P.L.
Board) this morning -

It then came into my
head to write to Mr. Villiers
& ask him the question
(I never write unless I am
written to) what you asked me
as to whether ther you
should call for a paper, X
& (1if any such paper
exists) on a scheme of

x from the P. L. Board

f246v

organization for pauper

sick in Metropolitan
Infirmaries from/ at the P. L.

Board -

I will let you know the
result by in haste
Friday. ever yours

F.N.
Burn
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initialled letter, ££f247-48, pencil

£247
Poor Law Board Committee
Embley Nov 7/66
Romsey

Burn
My dear Capt. Galton

I was convinced at first & have been
more convinced than convinced - by your
letter that it is just waste of time & strength
to try to do anything in this matter -

Still, because you proposed to me an amendment on
Dr. S.’s suggestion & because he was so anxious,
I have written a letter (enclosed) which you
said you should “like to be able to shew.”

And I hope that you will think o I have

done what you wished viz “commence with
“assuming to fix a cubic space & then shew
that x x x some organization &c 1s a necessary

“sequence”. Of course you will do
with the letter what you like, - put it in
the fire - Perhaps the disastrous answer

that was carried to the first Resolution (in
the printed paper) makes any step/such letter useless
[Any one who knows Sir R. Watson could
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have fore=told that that is just the sort of thing
he will do - viz he is led by any body - &
will say “he had been less well informed

when he signed the paper suggesting 1000

c. ft.7iri]

But I don’t agree with you that there is
“no use in your & Dr. Acland being on
the Committee.

That the Committee is “packed” we knew.

But what I heard from my old loves at the
P. L. Board (yesterday) is this: -

they know most accurately all that is

going on -

& it will be his (Mr. Villiers’) “duty” to
“unmask” Mr. Hardy “when Parliament meets”

& it will “also be his duty to bring in a
“Bill that shall consign Mr. Hardy’s patch=work
“to” &c &c.

Now, certainly it will be a stumbling=block
in Mr. Villiers’ way 1f Mr. Hardy is able to
quote the unanimous verdict of a Committee
of experts in his favour Both for the
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cause, & for the honour of our side, I do
hope you & Dr. Acland will make a
protest, (or a Divided Report, or
something) It will much help Mr. Villiers when
he comes into action.

I have now read Mr. Corbett - & I send
you my remarks in answer. [He is easily answered.]
& my remarks upon such clauses of the
printed paper as modify the other
remarks -

[Dr. S. still wanted me to write you a
letter in his former sense - But I was
so good as to resist.]

It is quite possible that you may think all
that I have written needless, in consequence
of that vote for “720 c. ft. per bed.” In
which case put it in the fire -

I grudge my trouble & your own -

I will return the printed questions - and
F—row—return Dr. Acland

ever yours
F.N.
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signed letter, ff249-52v, pen & pencil, black-edged blue paper [6:361-63]

£249
Private Embley 9 Nov/66
Romsey
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,

Burn London. W.

My dear Capt. Galton
I have heard again from

Mr. Villiers.
The main object of his second

letter appears to be to

remind you “that there is

“a passage in the General Poor

Law Report of 1834, recommending
separate Infirmaries for the
poor. And a Bill was
introduced in 1841 to carry
out that idea, & provided
for District Infirmaries - that
is there were to be separate
Establishments, supported by a
district rate & superintended
by some kind of representative
Boards, elected by rate=payers”
“"It looks, therefore” (he says)
as if the principle of separate
Hospitals had been once recognised
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“by the authorities at

Whitehall - but, I believe,
local interest & prejudice
prevented any progress
being made in that Bill.”

The folly of the printed paper
I now return to you is
such that I don’t see
what you & Dr. Acland
can do but “make a
“separate Report,” as Mr.
Villiers says.

[If the P. L. Board refuse to
print it, let it be sent to
Mr. Villiers.]

Whoever drew up these Questions
can know absolutely nothing
of the structure & management
of Hospitals

There was a Regimental M. O.,
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if you remember, who put his
Orderlies to sleep in a ward
& apportioned the beds to the
cubic space in the proportion
of 600 cub. ft. to the Orderly
& 1200 ™ ” A Patient/

Of course, you passed a strict
regulation that the Orderly
was not to breathe more
than his 600 cub. ft.

I trust you will do the same
thing in this instance.

The “sore leg’ is to breathe 720
ft. The Operation Case 2000
&c &c -

If such & such cases of acute
disease are to have more &
such & such less cubic space,
of course you are etther
going to make Breathing
Regulations; or—toPbuitd—=
ward—for—each by Act of
Parliament.
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I presume even Dr. Markham
would not consider his 720 ft.
enough for Bronchitis - which
you can’t possibly ventilate
without sufficient cubic space,
because Bronchitis must be
warm.

But it is all, such folly.
I can’'t think what you

can do (you & Dr. Acland) but

frame a distinct terse protest

setting forth your dissent

from the principles of the

enquiry & from the conclusions.

1. objecting to separating the

acute sick into classes with

different amounts of space

2. objecting to the amount

already voted

3. objecting to fix any amounts

of space in existing Workhouses,

unless you see each ward.
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4.

objecting to any proposal

to leave the sick under existing
management

pointing out that efficient

& economical management

of Metropolitan sick requires
that they should be separately
administered & cared for by
those who have some
Parliamentary responsibility.

I think a clear terse protest

ought to shew that any
answers to these printed
questions would leave the
great questions of the
Metropolitan sick just
where they were -

You would strengthen Mr.

Villiers’ hand very much -

The reform must come sooner

or later - And I had much
rather for the honour of our
side, that our side should

be consistent throughout - in
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protesting -

These printed questions show
that the present P. L. Board
had determined on doing
nothing, before the Committee
was appointed.

Do you put forward this
And you will help the cause
immensely

Separate sick administration
is the whole key to the reform.

Question 13
In my (public, not private)
letter to you I entered into
the question of introducing Trained Nurses
I think you ought to shew
(in your protest) that no
reply can be given to this
question unless the
administrative authority
is first settled.
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- that nursing under the
present authority is impossible

- that Workhouse Infirmaries
must train their own Nurses

- that no training under the
present system is possible

- that the administrative
authority involves the
question of Hospital construction

- & that administration &
nursing involve the question
of area & consequently of
space.

But give no sanction, direct

or indirect, to the existing

system of Poor Law sick

administration, for it is

certain to be abolished

And “we” ought to be in

the van & not in the rear

of the reform.
ever yours

F. Nightingale P.T.O.

£252v
{pencil}

Please let me have the framing of
your Act of Parlt. c. ft.
Bronchitis not to breathe more than
Dropsy A " A 500
“Sore leg” ” W 300

When Operation case (to breathe = 2000
is placed in same ward as

“Sore leg” (to breathe = 300

“Sore leg” to keep strictly to the
Act of Parlt limits of

atmosphere - If his “effluvia” pass
these limits, to be prosecuted as Law directs

Victoria R.

720
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initialled note, £f253, pencil, black-edged paper

£253
Burn

My dear Capt G.

I do hope you will make
a separate Report

Be careful, please, to say nothing
even to Dr. Acland, which
implies my correspondence with
Mr. Villiers -

F.N.

initialled letter, ff254-57v, pen, black-edged pale blue paper

£254

Embley BURN

Romsey Nov 14/66

My dear Capt. Galton

I write one line which
I ought to have written
yesterday, to say that I have
heard again from Mr. Villiers
- that he would like to see
the papers referring to the
P.L. Board Commission -

Mr. Villiers is much too
much of a man of the
world to say that he has
seen them - much less
that he has seen them
thro’ me -

Still, I would not
send them him without
your leave -
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I have only: -
Dr. Markham’s “Suggestions” -
Mr. Corbett’s paper copied by
Marianne
[i1f you like Mr. Villiers to see
the 13 Printed Questions,
(which I returned to you)
you must please send me
a copy]
I have also -
Dr. Angus Smith’s paper
on Ventilation (your copy)
But I am not sure I should
like to send that to Mr. Villiers,
even 1f you gave me leave -
It is so amazingly like Dr.
Angus Smith - so clever -
so full of fallacies Dr. A.S.
is & immensely more able
than Dr. Parkes (vide e.g. his

£255

Water=analysis paper) But

he is like Cornelius Agrippa’s
Familiar, & can only work
under direction - And he
makes the most provokingly
clever mistakes.

Everything in that paper is
calculated to do us as

much harm as good.

Angus Smith has no practical
sense -

Mr. Villiers is extremely angry
with Sir R. Watson - he

says - Watson has given

the subject considerable
attention & can’t say

now he was less well

informed then - he has

knew quite well what

he was appending his

name to on that paper -
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- he has been at different
times with deputations
to the P.L. Board - & has
advised Miss Burdett Coutts,
(who, you know, in the St.
Pancras affair, as a
Large Rate=payer, took
a prominent part
against the Guardians) -
And she & Sir R. Watson
were always supposed
to represent our side
in full.

Mr. Villiers says that he
believes Dr. Acland has
very decided views upon
the necessity of greater
Space & separate
establishments -

I hope this is true - But indeed

£256

I have given up all hope
of any one having “decided”
views upon anything.

I hear from others, besides
Mr. Villiers, (people
connected with the press,

I mean,) that it is
supposed, IF your
Commission reports
unanimously, the cause
of the reform of
Workhouse Infirmaries
may be put off for
years - perhaps for

a generation -

Indeed, I think so - [I am [9:564]

satisfied that, owing

to a long imbroglio
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of Mr. Ellis, Dr. Sutherland

& the India Off: about a

Despatch of Sir J. Lawrence'’s,

the cause of Sanitary Reform

in India has been put

back for years - perhaps

for half a century. Mr.

Ellis writes to me, from India, that
our delay has cost

“thousands of lives”.] [end 9:564]

This note ought to have
gone the day before
yesterday - But I could
not possibly get it off.

I wish I were in London -

£257
Unless I hear positively
to day from Dr. Sutherland
that he comes here
to morrow, I shall
come up to South St.
on Saturday or Monday

Please burn

ever yours
F.N.

One word more: -

I am terrified to hear
that Dr. Markham’s 60
superficial feet makes
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above 900 (953) cub. ft. & not
much less than your
amendment (cub. ft/966)
Because now - Sir R. Watson
can say - he has not
ratted.
It only shews (what we
have always said) that
we must begin with
superficial area as a basis,
& not with cubic space.
Now, *+ 80 sup. ft. is the
smallest floor space
you can possibly assign {pencil} with safety
even in properly constructed wards.
{pen} It would be less objectionable
to have 960 cub. ft. with
that. But Dr. Markham
has actually got 960 cub. ft.,
with only 60 sup. ft. (which
is fatal.) F.N. [end hosp]

initialled letter fragment, £f258, pen

£258
of “reasons” - (reasons
a non reason = ando)-

& Dr. Acland’s paper
I believe that wvillain
(Dr. Sutherland) kept
them from me on
purpose.
He sent them back -

ever yours

F.N.
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unsigned contd. letter (on back of preceding
pencil

£258v

Private Embley
Romsey 19/11/66
BURN

My dear Capt. Galton
I send back the enclosed,
with some remarks.
Of course you do not
let my remarks go to
Mrs. S. Stewart, which
would only get you
into trouble.
Please ask Mr. Cooper
to send me
Purveyor’s Regulations (blue
New Medical ™ (green
and
Instructions drawn up
by Committee for

£259
management of Herbert
Hospl.
Without these, I cannot
answer your other
papers - which I
have had ever since
Nov 3 - which I
might just as well
have answered
Nov 3 as now - {pencil} 6998/209
But I have been in
such a “scrimmage”
& in such a “fix” -
owing to having to
decide every day for
the last month as to
papers [not yours -
I wish you sent me
more] which of them were

ending),

f£258v-59v,

pen &
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most pressing to answer
- which of them I should watt/keep
for Dr. Sutherland (who
was coming every day)
to do & which not.

I have not a word
of apology - But I
say this, because I wish
you sent me more
papers - & I am
afraid, if I say nothing,
you will think I shall
always keep your
papers 3 weeks - &
never send me any.

I wish you could let me
see Sir R. Watson’s paper

signed letter, f260, pen, black-edged pale blue paper

£260
Embley
Romsey  Nov 20/66
My dear Capt. Galton

The enclosed (from the
Delhi Gazette) has been
sent to me -

It appears so absurd
that - should it not be
brought before the next
meeting of your Army
Sanitary Commission?

Yours sincerely

Florence Nightingale

f261, letter to the Editor, Delhi Gazette, Aug 23/66
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initialled letter, £f£f262-63, pencil, black-edged pale blue paper

£262

Private Embley Nov 20/66 [16:729-30]
Romsey

My dear Capt. Galton

Have you seen the “British
Medical Journal” on your
Workhouse Commission work?

It is quoted in “Times” of
Nov 19 -

If anything could prove necessity
of your insisting on independent
inquiry, this paragraph would
do it.

These men will sacrifice
all Hospital improvement
for the sake of carrying out
their own views - [which they
have been writing up in
this “Brit: Medl: Journal”]

£262v

I kept Angus Smith to shew
Dr. Sutherland -

But, he says, it is now in
print.

Dr. Sutherland entirely concurs
with what I have said.
(enclosed)

Please remember that Dr.
Angus Smith & I are the
very fastest friends

[His Water=analysis paper
passed thro’ my hands, (&
Dr. Sutherland’s) 15 times.]

There is a great deal that,
in his pros & cons (in this
enclosed paper) is good. Because a
man, like Angus Smith,
cannot fail to write in his

£263
pros & cons, now & then,
a good pro - [end 16:730]
ever yours
F.N.
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signed letter, ff264-66, pen & pencil, black-edged paper

£f264

Private Embley 20/11/66
Romsey

My dear Capt. Galton

This is really a very
difficult point.

It appears to me that
the Supt. Genl was clearly
wrong & the Nurse right
in

6998/203 I. & II. 11

{pencil} [Of course the W. O. must not say the Supt.

{pen} But Col: Shaw is certainly
also wrong

6998/209 end of letter
The “Linen- Nurse” is no more
“accountable for articles
in Linenry” than the

f264v

Messenger or Postman who
takes this letter is for this
letter. It is the
Superintendt who is
“accountable for the

Linen” - The Linen-Nurse
is only a servant. I

might make the post
“accountable” for this
letter by registering it.
And the Supt. may make

the Linen-Nurse
“accountable” in some
similar way. But, by
Regulation, it is the

Supt’s accountability

we have to do with.

It seems to me a terrible

was wrong]
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scrape - & that the
consequences of departure
from Regulations in this
illogical way have

been disastrous.

I admit that I should
incline, caeteris paribus,
to Mrs. Stewart’s proposal.
But, caeteris non paribus,
I don’t.

I mean that, in Civil
Hospitals, where changes
may have to take place
10 times a day with some/bad
Patients, - where bad cases
are as 10 to 1 of Military
Hospls - where the head
Nurse has far more to do
than in Military Hospls,

£265v

- still she has the sole
charge of the Ward Linen
& the Matron & one Linen
Nurse the sole charge of
the Hospital Linen -

And it works well.

But, on the other side, it
is far more difficult

to prevent theft by
Patients in a Military
Hospl. The Civil Patient

can be turned out & not
re-admitted. The Military
Patient can’t be turned

out. And he knows

he can’t. This points

to Puttiug /lcaviug the charge in
hands of Capt. of Orderlies.
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And then there is the
paramount consideration
of war when (clearly) men,
& not women had better
be in charge - at
least as our Nurses are
at present.

All things considered, I
incline to stick to
Regulation. And, if
you & Mr. Robertson
would look over
enclosed together - T
might then be able
to help you better -

yours sincerely
F. Nightingale

signed letter, ff267-69v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£267
Private Dec 9/66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W. [15:474]

My dear Capt. Galton

We are extremely anxious
to find out the fate of a
young man, age 22, named

Charles Henry Watson
supposed to have enlisted
in the R. Artillery, at
Woolwich, in February or
March of this year (1866)

He is the only child of a
widow, an excellent &
superior woman, my
mother’s confidential maid.
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[She once lived (under me
first) as Head Nurse &
Housekeeper at the Institution
at 1 Upper Harley St. Seven
years ago, when she left,
I should have snapped her
up as my own maid, but
gave her up to my mother,
as I knew I never should
find any one like her
to suit my mother.]

The young man, Charles H.
Watson, was in an excellent
situation as Clerk, earning
above £100 a year, with
prospects of promotion -

& so well thought of by his

£268

employers that they kept
his situation open for him
some time, in hopes of his
return.

Nothing is known against
the young man except an
occasional running into
petty debt - But his
mother had paid his
debts and paid them again
after his disappearance -
so that this cannot be
the reason of his wilful
concealment.

He was the spoilt child
of an uncle & aunt, who
treated him as their own
son - And they do not
know where he is.

Of course, I being a soldier
myself, do not think so
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badly of him for enlisting
as his family does - But

his not writing to his
mother, who was only

too much devoted to him,
is altogether inexcusable.

What I fear has happened,
(tho’ it does not seem to
have come into her head,
is - that he has enlisted
under a false name, &
is dead of Cholera or
something - & no one the
wiser.

If you could have such
enquiries made as would
lead to the discovery of this
young man, I should be

£269

very much obliged. I would
write myself - but I don’t
think I know any of the
great guns of the Artillery
now.

If the young man can

be found, I wish he could

be sent up to me here,

if at Woolwich, for me to

try & persuade him to

write to his mother. [There

was no ‘petticoat” in the

case - no quarrel whatever.]
But the first thing is

to find him -
And I suppose this can

be best done from Head

Quarters, if you would be

£269v
so good as to set the
machinery in motion. [end 15:474]

ever yours most truly
Florence Nightingale
Capt. D. Galton
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unsigned letter draft, £f270-71v, pencil, undated, JS hand on FN letterhead,
black-edged blue

£270
{archivist: Nursing}
{printed address:} 35 South Street,
26/Purveyor/1176 Park Lane,
London. W.
We have gone through these
Regulations for Hospital
tittegt servants & think
them very full & good
with one exception, which
in my opinion ought not to
be suffered to exist.
Regulation 197 ought to
be expunged. The precedent
is so highly dangerous and
would open a door for so many
excuses that it virtually undoes
the work done by the regulations

£270v
for equipping hospitals. Every
hospital at home, abroad &
in the field should be complete
& there should not be the
possibility of incompleteness except
from capture or destruction
of the Purveyors Stores. The
principle of Reg. 197 was the
very one which led to half
the misery endured by the
sick at Scutari.

Suppose E.G. ¥ Soldiers
going into the field have all the
asterisked articles in the list
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The steward depends on the list
which he knows to be true. But
the pack is thrown away or
lost (an actual fact) & the
poor men had no changes at
all. I would abolish this
article 197 at any cost or
inconvenience
{FN’s hand}

Also look at
Regulation 167 &170
{JS’"s hand}
The first provides that Medical
Comforts are to be kept in a small
lock up Chest in the ward.

The second that there is to be
nothing but a table & chair in the
nurses room.

It hence follows that

£271v

you must, (as I suggested formerly)

provide suitable commodes for

each ward to hold the

Medical Comforts and the

supply of unused linen to be

given over for immediate

use to the Nurse.

{FN’s hand}

P. 59 Who is I? Is it the head

of the Army, the Queen, the C. in C,
or Sir E. Lugard? [end]

Reg 41 - The principle in this Reg leads
to indiscipline - Nevertheless I suppose
it must be left

? would it not be sufficient to
give the men the right to attend

but make it optional -
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signed letter, f£f272-75, pen, black-edged blue paper

£272

26/Purveyors/1176 Dec 20/66
{printed address:} 35 South Street, [16:450]

Park Lane,
London. W.

My dear Capt. Galton

When you send me a
publication of such absorbing
& romantic interest as this,
you cannot expect me
to skim it over lightly; I
must savour it slowly.

I have read it thus all
through - and, what is more,
I have compared it with
green Medical, & with
Col: Clark Kennedy’s Report.

I have also gone through
it with Dr. Sutherland.

£272v

We think them the Regulations very full
& very good - very carefully
& artistically drawn up.

But we think the end
rather too tragical: -

P. 42. Reg. 197. we think
ought to be expunged. The
precedent is so highly
dangerous, & would open
a door for so many excuses,

that it virtually undoes the
work done by the Regulations

for equipping Hospitals.
Every Hospital whether at
home, abroad or in the field,



£273
should be complete. There
should not be the possibility
of incompleteness, except
from capture or destruction
of the Purveyor’s Stores. The
principle of Reg. 197 was the
very one which led to
half the misery endured
by the sick at Scutari.

A man wants according
to his wants - not according
to what is in the Purveyor’s
stores.

Suppose, e.g. soldiers
going into the field have
all the asterisked articles
in the List, the steward
depends on this fact which
he knows to be true.
But the packs are thrown

£273v

away or lost (an actual
fact) and the poor men
had no changes at all.
We would abolish this
Article 197 at any cost
or inconvenience -

2. (I am progressing backwards)
please look at
p. 36 Arts: 167, 170
You see there is to be “a small
lock up case” in “each ward”.
You see that "“Nurses’ rooms
are not to be used “ for
stores “on any pretense
whatever.”
We have always said that
suitable press “for each ward”

225
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to hold the “medical comforts”
and the supply of ward=linen
to be given for immediate
use to the Nurse.

3. P. 12. Art. 41 -
The principle in the first
line leads to indiscipline.
All employment of Patients
in the Ward Sculleries, in
the ‘Kitchen,” as Orderlies; &c is a flaw
in discipline. Patients
should never be out of their
wards except for exercise.
Even after all we have
done for Military Hospitals,
the discipline among the
Patients is not equal
to that of a ward of 40 men
in a Civil Hospital under
one woman.

£274v

But I suppose the British
soldier & sailor considers
it as the Briton’s right
to see after his victuals
in Hospital. However,

At least, I would give the
“Patient” the right “to
attend”, but leave it
optional.

[end]

4. I have not checked the

Appendix
p.p. 44 - 60

but only skimmed it
through

(1). P. 46. “Arrowroot”

Cold arrowroot is very cold.
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comfort. At least I would
put “warm arrowroot”
first - & then add,”If

to be eaten cold,” &c &c.

(2) P. 59

Who is “I”?
Is it the Queen ( the head
of the Army), the C. in C,
or Sir E. Lugard? -

I should like a copy of these
“Regulations for Hospital
Servants”, when completed,
for myself, please -
ever yours truly
F. Nightingale

initialled letter, ff276-77v, pen, pale blue paper [6:366]

[Burn in very large]
£276
Christmas Eve /66
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Burn Park Lane,
London. W.

My dear Capt. Galton

Could you write me one
line to tell me where the
P.L. Committee on London
Workh: Infirmaries (cubic space)
now stands?

Have you reported? -

Are you going to report?

Are you still sticking
at Question I?

Have you done sitting-?

Or do you stand over
indefinitely?

Can you learn from Mr.
Corbett whether there is to
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be any Bill brought in by
Mr. Hardy on this point?
And, if so, what?

I enclose you a letter from
Dr. Acland only to shew
you what was my last
information from your
side! Please return
it to me.

If you could add any
guess as to what
Ministerial prospects
are in the forthcoming
Session, you would
“greatly oblige.”

£277

What I hear “from my side
is: -

that Mr. Hardy has retired
altogether into private life.

- that Lord Carnarvon has
ceased to care about the
subject, since he became
a Minister -

- that there is to be no
Reform Bill

- that Ministers are to go -

But “my side” cannot

at all make out why the
Doctors (the Ernest Harts
& Co:) & the press are
so quiet about the subject
of the London Workhouse
Infirmaries on which they
were so keen.
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Burn
As to Muir: -
Genl Peel says: “IF it
DEPENDED ON ME, I would
at once appoint Muir.”
[Oh Adam! none but a
man would have said,
she gave me the apple.]
The C. in C., Genl Forster,
Germrt—Peet; appear &ft in

favour of - - - - - - Logan! -
Sir Hope Grant in favour
of Muir.

I have done all I can.

You must turn out Ministers
before March -
Please tell me how
Marianne is. ever yours
F.N.

signed letter, f££f278-79, blue paper, pen

£278
Private BURN Christmas Day /66 [16:730-31]
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.
P.1. “cubic space “ Commission

My dear Capt. Galton

I have heard from “my
side” - I may as well say
from Mr. V. -

“that the report on “cubic

space’ will not be

made till the beginning"

of the next year - -

& that “the Association”

are so satisfied with

the scheme hatched

by Mr. Hardy, that

they have postponed

their own incubation

till they know what it is.
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Please tell me by return
of post what you can.
- what is true & what
is not - what you are
likely to do, &c -

Certainly “my side’ is
very much up about
something. Mr. V.
sent to Embley (when
I was gone) to know
if he could see me -
And now he has sent
here to know if he
could see me this
week. But [I shall

£279
put it off till I can hear
from you] -
Mr. Farnall has also
come up to town with
the same request -
I am as innocent as a
baby - For I really have
no scheme at all -
Mr. V. says “nothing but
a general rate will do.
Please tell me anything
you can as soon as
you can -
Best Christmas love -
Tell me how Marianne is. [end]
ever yours
F. Nightingale
Burn



signed letter, f£f280-82v, pen, blue paper

£280
Private Dec 28 /66
{printed address:} 35 South Street,
Park Lane,
London. W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I return Dr. Sibson &
enclose a formal answer,
which you can make use
of, as you like.
Dr. Sutherland says - &
I agree - that, if I were
to comply with a flibberty=
gibbet note like that
of Mr. Corbett’s to “help
us about Nurses”, as
Mr. Corbett, through Dr.
Sibson, through you,
expresses his desire
that I should do - I should

£280v

only give myself a great
deal of trouble, (which
would nevertheless be
most cheerfully given
by me) to sketch them
a scheme which they
could shelve, or at least
of which they could take
a bit & leave a bit,
just as they like - And
I could not call for it,
or have it called for,
because it would only
have been asked for

231

“by Mr. Corbett, thro’ Dr. Sibson”

thro’ you, whom he does
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£281
not even take the trouble
to write to.

I trust you will think I
am right - & will not
think I want to spare
my trouble. The fact is:
Mr. Hardy has outwitted us
as Bismark outwitted
Louis Napoleon - He
wants to do nothing.
And he wants to stand
well with the Ho: of C.
by having your Committee
to fall back upon.

Now the only thing I can think

of to do (and I don’t

think I could write such

a paper for Mr. Corbett,

unless I were asked - I

have therefore taken for

f281v consists of 6 illegible lines written in pencil scribbled over with a
large x drawn through them, not FN I think

£282
_2_

granted in my formal note,
that I am to be asked
by the Committee) the only
thing to do would be to reply
that I would render every
assistance in my power,
if the Committee desired
that I should help them.

If my paper were a formal
document, it could then be
called for, & would not
back up Mr. Hardy.

I need scarcely say that Mr.
Corbett’s own proposal
about training Nurses is
simply absurd - as it
stands.

I will write again about the
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£282v
other parts of your letter.

I am not committed, =s
to “Ernest Hart’s 6 Hospitals
- not to any other scheme,
as you suppose.

I could quite well write
a scheme of Nursing for
your Committee in a
quite free & general way.
If it won’t fit on to the
Workhouses, that is not
my fault.

But I will write
again. I am much
pressed to day

ever yours

F. Nightingale

£f£283-84, an “Abstract” of the letters of 1860,

list



Add Mss 45764, microfilm, correspondence with Douglas Galton,

folios, 249 pages, Adam Matthew reel 13
ffl-2v signed letter, ffl-2v, pen, blue paper

f1

14 1/1/67 [15:176-77]

Purveyors
1268 35 South Street, {printed address:}

Park Lane,
London,
My dear Capt. Galton
What I think necessary, &
what is in accordance with

Reg. 32, p. 128, (green book)

is: --

If a woman is engaged at a
distance from any Hospital &
has to incur expence in
reaching her destination, she
should be allowed expences.

If she leaves the service for any
reason, except ill=health, she
is to receive no expences.

If for i1l health her expences
should be paid to her destination]

If a woman is requested by the

1867-80,

335



flv

Supt Genl to come to her in
order to see whether she is
suitable, & is not found to be
so, her expences both ways
to be paid.

All expences between Hospitals
to be paid.

All expenses to & from foreign
Stations to be paid.

In every case in which travelling
expences are granted, as
above, the Nurse to be
allowed the free transport
of such an amount of
personal baggage as the
Supt Genl may certify as
being necessary over & above
the quantity usually permitted

£f2
to be carried by passengers
by Railway or otherwise
Before proceeding on foreign
service, the amount: a kind
of baggage to be allowed to
each Nurse to be certified
by the Supt Genl

This is what appears to me
the rationale of the business.
I do not send it as
printing out the manner
the—marmer in which
the question of expences
is to be settled by the
Office. If what I have

said is necessary, as I believe,

the W. O. will of course
know best how to carry
out what is necessary in
the best way.

235
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f2v
[I would just observe that
the reason why the Regulation
does not consider the question
as to whether Nurses should
be allowed expences, on
entering the Service, is that
Regulations cannot take
cognizance of Nurses before
they are born. The
Nurse who enters the
service on probation is,
till that moment as tho'
she did not exist: But
I should never hesitate
as to the propriety of myself
of allowing her (the Nurse) her expences
on entering this, or any other Service]
yours sincerely
F Nightingale

initialed letter, ff3-4v, pen, blue paper

£3
PRIVATE Jan 2/67
{ "PrivaTE' IS UNDERLINED FOUR TIMES}
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.
Burn
My dear Capt. Galton
You see I have taken
your advice to the letter.
As for my seeing Mr. Corbett
-— at least before I have
made some kind of
statement on paper, -- it
is not only no great advantage,
but it is perfectly useless.
The utmost I could get
in would be a Lord
Burleigh's nod, 1r that.
{ 1r' IS UNDERLINED FOUR TIMES}
And I should have to

[end 15:177]
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f3v

listen to along waste

wishy-washy flood,

which I can quite well

write down for you

beforehand, if you & I

had time

Tho' I have never seen
him, I knew a good
deal about him before,
from the Guardians,
who laugh at him
behind his back, &
drink to their own
impunity. But, during

f4

the last 3 days, I have
heard a "pretty deal"
more about him.

I really have not the
physical pluck to see
him. I should be in a
state of collapse --

At the same time, I am
not only willing but
anxious to write a
short paper, if they ask
me, for them. And
then for civility's sake,
I will go thro' the
dumb show of a
Dialogue of one with
Mr. Corbett. You know

fav

he is guite sure to say
that I said what he
said. So I must
have my own statement
beforehand to appeal
to. ever yours

F.N.

You can make use of the
note enclosed, if you
think it will do.

Burn



238

£5 DG to FN 5 Jan 1866, re Sir T. Watson to write you a letter asking you for
suggestions wupon training nurses. He told me he feared you would not
recollect him. DG to visit her today or Monday?

signed letter, ff7-7v, pen, blue paper

£7
Private Jan. 15/67
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton

The smallest contribution
of information, thankfully
received -- as to what you
did at your P.L. Committee
(cubic space) yesterday
&, 1f not concluded, when
to meet again.

Has Dr. Sibson concluded
his "comparison between
"Workhouse cases & Hospital
"cases"?

I shall be thankful to
know any thing.

I have finished my paper

£7v
on Nursing (for your Committee)
But, it had Tables & was
so illegible that, as I have
no one to copy for me, I
sent it to Spottiswoode's to
be printed.
ever yours
F. Nightingale
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initialed letter, £f8, pen, black-edged blue paper

£8
Jan 18/67
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.

My dear Capt. Galton

Do you remember, about [15:475]
4 months ago, my troubling
you about these N.C. Officers
Clerks?

No doubt you know that
they have been refused.

And here they are again.

Do you think that any
thing farther can be done? --

Please return me the

enclosed with any remarks. [end]
ever yours
F.N.

£f9 notes on WO embossed, Comparison of scales of salary, n.d.
ff10-11v, pen, black-edged blue paper

f10
Private Burn. Jan 18/67
35 South Street,
Park Lane, {printed address:}
London, W. [16:730-31]
My dear Capt. Galton
Poor Law (cubic space) Commee
My paper has been & come
back & gone again to
Spottiswoode's for a Revise.
I expect it to-morrow.
Tho' I have re-arranged the
matter after the first
Proof, yet that is all
I have not had time to
consider the tone.
As you know the temper of
the committee, I should
much like if you would
let me send you a
Revise, & 1f you would
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fiov

criticize it severely.
But this would prevent

it from going to Sir T?

Watson this week, as you

desired.

Ernest Hart who, (tho' a
good fellow,) is very fond
of giving me, mysteriously,
"important information",
tells me that he hears
"with certainty" that your
"Report will go in next
Thursday". Is that true?
If so, I must make haste.
But I have heard nothing
of Dr. Sibson’s "comparative
statement" being ready, as
yet.

f11

I had much rather keep
my paper a few days longer
for your Revision.

Shall you be out of town
from Saturday till Monday?

Or may I send the
paper to you? -—--

Also, Dr. Sutherland has
absconded, & not seen
the Revise.

The paper is slow —-- not
to say funereal. Dr. Sutherland
took out all my good stories,
for fear of you -- And I
took out all my bad
stories, for fear of Mr.
Corbett, who is the
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fllv
greatest mischief maker &
has the greatest "Diarrhea
verborum" in the 3 Kingdoms--
And I was specially warned
against him. [He made
such inconceivable mischief
in the North.]
In short, I think the matter
of my paper requires to be
very carefully examined &
should be very glad if
you could give me a few
days for your & my own
criticism.
I hear that there are to be
"changes in the Cabinet"
probably -- "in the first
week of February".
Is that so? ever yours [end]
F.N.

£f12 DG to FN WO, Ernest Hart has been, by Markham, re edition of Med Times

£f14 DG to FN from Kingston Hall, Derby 20 Jan 1867
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initialed letter, ffl6-16v, pen, black-edged blue paper

f1e6
Jan 21/67
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton
Many thanks for your
criticisms upon my Nurse=
paper, which I am
trying to make use of.
Can you tell me when
your P. L. Committee
(Sir J. Watson's) next
meets?

Could you send me a
copy of the Report of
Ld. Strathnairn's Committee
on consolidating the
Commissariat, Purveying

fleéev
& Store Departments
into one? I should
be very much obliged
to you.
If "Confidential"™, please
tell me. And it
shall go no farther.
ever yours,
F.N.

£17 DG to FN 21 Jan 1867 [I think] black-edged WO re P.L. com, will send
report, but wants it back

£18 DG to FN 24 Jan 1867, check re Sydney
£19 DG to FN 25 Jan 1867, packed up, think the paper will effectually show
[can’t read] I think you have said enough about union school girls training

to ...that lie. Gathorne Hardy & illeg ask

£f21 DG to FN returns paper, I think it apmiraBrLE. It 1is a most logical
treatment of the workhouse inf question
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initialed letter, f£f22-24, pen, black-edged blue paper [6:390-91]

£22
Burn Jan 26/67
35 South Street {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.
P.L. (c. space) Committee
My dear Capt. Galton
I have sent in my paper
to Sir Watson. (many thanks)
[N. B. Pray remember that
I don't intend you to pay
for the printing -- if Dr. Sutherland
mentions it, "forbid" him.]
If you could find time
to write me a line, on the
following, I should be very
much obliged: --
I hear (from my Temple
to Friendship in the P. L.

£f22v
Board, or rather in the ex=
P. L. Board) that: --

Messrs. Corbett & Markham
have just sent in
(independently of you)
a Report or the London

Workhouses -- to the P. L.
Board —--

that it is "only just to hand" --
(sic)

"quite in a rough state"

that it is to be "treated as
strictly confidential till
the President is prepared
to commit himself to its
recommendations™.

[This, when it is perfectly
well known that every
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£23

"recommendation" was
dictated by that gentleman
himself who now
says: that he is going to
get ready to prepare
himself to commit himself.

What I feel excessively anxious
to know is: --

1. what you did at your
Sub. Committee yesterday?
when you are going to
report it? & c

2. can you tell me what,
(generally), Mr. Hardy's
proposed measure
is supposed to be?

What is the (general) gist
of this precious Report
of Messrs. Corbett &
Markham? --

£23v

[You see, in the Pall-Mall
Gazette, that something has
leaked out of what Sir
Watson's (your) Report
is to be] --

Have you finished going
thro' that Sketch of Report
you sent me? --

Or is there to be any
farther discussion upon
the body of the Report?

And what are your main
recommendations? --

I am guite sure that Mr.
Villiers would not
oppose any Bill of Mr.
Hardy's, even tho' it were
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£24

only an instalment provided
it were but of the
right sort --

But I have not the least
hope that it will be
of the right sort.

And my only hope is
that Ministers will

go out --
ever yours
F.N.
Burn.

£25 DG to FN 26 Jan 1867 re appendix, Gathorne Hardy has asked the PL
committee to dine with him!!!!, don’t know what that portends, knows nothing
of his intended scheme

£27 DG to FN 29 Jan 1867, T. Watson tells him er paper on nurses puzzles him
and he can’t understand it!!! (Don’t tell him I told you so) he proposes to
append it to our report

initialed letter, f£f30-31, pen, black-edged blue paper

£30
Private Jan 29/67
35 South Street, {printed address:}

Park Lane,

London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton

I have heard nothing
from Sir Watson about
this paper, which went
in on Friday night.

By Dr. Sutherland's
advice, I send a copy
to you & one to Dr.
Acland (not to any
one else.)

You won't get a
poor fellow, like me,
into trouble, now,
will you? -- if this is
irregular.
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£30v

You have not dined
with Mr. G. Hardy
yet, because you
are alive. Is it
a dinner a la
Borgia, that none
of you may live to
tell what your
Instructions were?

£31

Please tell me any
thing you hear as
to what Mr. G.
Hardy's scheme is.

The more I hear of it,
the less I like it.
But I don't hear
much --

ever yours
F.N.

signed letter, ff32-35, pen and pencil, black-edged blue paper
£32

Burn Jan 30/67
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W [16:715]
My dear Capt Galton
Could you find the
time to read the enclosed
about the Derbyshire
Infirmary from Mr.
F. Wright -- & counsel
me what to do --
for this reason that
Dr. Sutherland told me
that Lord Belper had
told you &c &c &c
From the very confused
account that Dr. S.



£32v

gave me of what you
did (or did not) say,
combined with the
information in this
letter: --

["Chinese Metaphysics" --
look out Article "China"
& Article "Metaphysics"
in Cyclopaedia -- and

"combine your information"]

I opine: -- that the Strutt
faction, headed by
Ld Belper, have
combined to upset

£33

the resolutions passed at
a General Meeting

that it is Mr. Wright &

I plus one or two
others -- against the
Strutts --
that Mr. Wright wants

me now to drag him

thro', if I can.

& that Derby will have no Infirmary.

Now it is not the
question with me
whether the Strutt
faction has been
factious --
Whether Mr. Wright -- is
right & Ld Belper
wrong

247



£33v

But what he asks me
to do is simply
impossible for me,

(1f the above wversion
is correct according to
you.)

I can't drag a good
County Infirmary thro',
against the will of
the County.

If a General Committee
chooses to ask me my
opinion, I will
give it as well as I
can.

If not, not.

However good the man,

I can't be made his

£34
backer to help him
to fight the County,
on the turf of my
opinion, [Mr. Wright is
in a mess & feels he is so.]

& wants me to help him out.

2. When does your
Workhouse Committee
meet again?

Have you heard anything
of Mr. Hardy's scheme?

I devoutly hope that
Ministers will be out
in a fortnight.

3. I will send back
your Linen Tormentors
to morrow. It

248
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£34v

seems to me that our

admirable friend,

Dr. Sutherland, & Mrs.

Shaw Stewart -- both

of Celtic blood, -- are

much of the same

complexion -- There
must be a debateable
ground, which they

SO much esteem &

admire, for the dear

delight of getting up

a "row" upon.

Whereas a respectable
old female, like me,
who goes plodding
on, they snub. [end]

£35
ever yours
F. Nightingale
I forgot to ask:
are you alive? --
what was Mr. G.
Hardy's culinary
entertainment?

Also:
when people don't
want water —-- they
don't work the
pump.
Mr. G. Hardy does
not wish for water.
Therefore your Committee does not meet.

{ does not meet' WRITTEN SIDEWAYS ALONG FOLIO}

£f36 DG to FN black-edged 30 Jan 1867, returns Wright letter, some think
Wright has taken too much upon himself
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initialed letter, f£f38-39v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£38
Private Feb 6/67
P.L. Committee
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I have received a
splendid acknowledgment
from Sir Watson, both
public & private, for
my paper.
[I was too old a
cove to tell him
that he had said
it was "unintelligible"]
You did not tell
me that you had a
meeting on Monday.
Is your Report
finally settled? --
But what I write

£38v
for now is: --

Mr. Hardy brings in
his Bill on Friday --
(at least, he moves for
leave) --

Dr. Sutherland is
very anxious I should
send a copy of my
paper privately direct
to Mr. Hardy to-day.

I don't feel very
eager to do this. It
won't modify the Bill.
And he might take
something out of my
paper, if anything, to



£39
strengthen his wrong
tack
(We guess what his tack
is: --
Principles -- none
Details -- beastly.
But I'm willing to be
guided by you --
I'm agreeable.
If you could send
me an answer
immediately by hand,
I shall be much
obliged as to what
Yyou advise (you
who know what your
Commee: did on Monday --)

me to do with regard to Mr.

£39v

And please tell me
what it did at the
meeting.

I will send my
messenger at 2 o'clock
for your reply, if
you are so good.

Confound Ministers

are they going to
stay in? --

ever yours
F.N.

Hardy.
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initialed note, £40, pencil, black-edged blue paper

£40
Feb 6/67

P. L. (c space) 35 South Street, {printed address:}
Committee Park Lane,
—————————————————— London, W.
For the answer, please,

about Mr. Hardy

to the note I sent

an hour ago.

F.N.

£f41 DG to FN, black-edged WO, feels not to send paper 6 Feb 1867
signed letter, ff43-44, pen, black-edged blue paper

£43
Private Feb 14/67
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton
A complaint is being
very forcibly urged
that, in your new Army
Regulations Vol I., 1866 —-
in dealing with the Army
Med: Dep: -- the compiler
has inserted the "style"
of Surgeon Major as
a separate "rank".
If this is the case,
it literally cuts up
the Warrant of 1858.
And a complaint is
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£f43v

also strongly urged
that, instead of the
Warrant of 1858 being
obeyed in regard to
progressive advantages,
after a man has
been specially promoted
from the rank of
Assistant=Surgeon to
Surgeon for food service,
the Department is so
worked that the man
promoted gets no more
than his promotion,
& that seniority steps in,

f44
& places all the inferior
men over him. If
this be really so, it is
contrary to the entire
spirit of the Report
of the R. Commission
& the intention of the
Warrant of 1858.
ever yours
F. Nightingale
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initialed letter, ff45-45v, pen, black-edged blue paper

£45
Private Feb 23/67
35 South Street,
Park Lane,
London, W.
Making "Surgeon Major" into a rank
My dear Capt Galton
Can nothing be done
to stay the evil of this
course about making
the "style" of Surgeon=Major
a rank?
In its working, it will
be disastrous to the
service.
There was no boon
in making it a rank
but an immense injury.
If you cannot put

£45v

a stop to it -- you will
have first, incessant
complaints -- then

you will have out=cry --
then you will have
falling off of men
for no one would
enter a service
whose very foundation
is bad faith, & in
which they might see
that no man's interest,
was secure.

ever yours F.N.



255
signed letter, ff46-47, pen, black-edged blue paper

f46
Private March 8/67
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.
Making Surgeon - Major
a "rank" instead of a '"style.
My dear Capt. Galton
You will remember
at my request, sending
me a Memo on this point
I send you a
"confidential" letter of
Longmore's on the case.
Please consider it
"confidential" & return
it to me.
What can be done? --

fae6v
Would the new S. of S. set
an enquiry on foot (on
a Minute paper) to
ascertain what the
bearing of the change
-- of making "Surgeon=
Major" a rank
instead of style --
would be on the
operation of the Warrant?
Should not this
be seen to, before the
proposed new Warrant
is out? -- ever yrs
F.N.

£47
Could you tell me
what will or might
be done now about
{Now' IS TRIPLE UNDERLINED}
the appointment
of the new D. G.
now due?
F.N.
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signed letter, ff48-49v, pen and pencil, blue paper

£48
Mrs. TRENCH March 9/67 [14:1023-24]
wants a Civil appointment 35 South Street,

for her son Park Lane,

in a Government Office London, W.

{35 South Street,
Park Lane,
London, W.' PRINTED LETTERHEAD}
My dear Capt Galton
Could you tell me
what to do? --
I don't know whether
you recall the circumstances
—--Surgeon (Dr.) Trench
was one of the best
Medical Officers in the
Army. His labours
at the General Hospital
at Scutari were known
to all. He then had

£48v

very hard work at
Malta, receiving Invalids
He was named for
one of the Professorships --
but died, (in consequence
of Crimean War fatigues)
before 1860.

I took great pains to
recommend the case
of the widow & children
to the Patriotic Fund
whro Commissioners, who
behaved most liberally
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£49
to them
Can you kindly suggest

anything to me that

I could do, with

regard to this

appointment which

she Mrs. Trench desires for her

son? -- in a Govt Office --

ever yours sincerely

F Nightingale

I ought perhaps to add that
Dr. Trench like Surgeon-Major
Matthew, was of quite a

£49v

different type of men from
the ordinary run -- more
of the type of Longmore &
Muir -- equally fitted to be
a Medl Professor or
Medl Officer -- more of
the class of mind of
Mr. Paget, of St. Bartholomew
than one usually meets [end]

F.N.
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initialed letter, f50, pencil
£50

Private March 9/67
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton

Your Proofs A & your
Proofs Y are dreadful.

And I have been
engaged without
intermissions since
"Feb 22" in trying to
make Y = A

But it won't:

can't help it
They have gone off on
score on a wrong
principle

ever yours FN

signed letter, £f£51-53, light pencil

£51
Burn March 14
35 South Street {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.
My dear Capt Galton
Do tell me the "outs" & the
"ins" of the Malta expedition
of Dr. Sutherland.
After not telling me
yesterday afternoon, he
appears this morning (when
he had told me not to
expect him - so that I
could not prepare the work)
& says he can do nothing
for he is going to Malta on
Saturday & will not be
back for a month.
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£52

If it is necessary, I have
nothing to say against it.

You don't know, I dare say,
that we (you & I) have
"cost the State 20 millions"
& have "put back the
"Sanitary cause 20 years"
by not letting him (Dr. S)
"go to Gibraltar & Malta
"last spring."

But, I am told it every
day.

About this Malta going now: --
it 1s the most inconvenient
thing (the Algerian Expedition)
&) this, taking place
between January & August
If this could only have taken

£53

place during April when

in the Easter recess it
would be less inconvenient

Our Indian work (with Sir
J. Lawrence has never
recovered that ill-fated
Algerian absence.
Nor has the Metropolitan
Poor Bill. But -- And now Mr
Hardy has given us this
wretched baboon of a
thing.
But if you tell me the Malta
Expedition now directly
is necessary, I'm your man
only I wish I could have
known it 12 hours sooner --
ever yours
F Nightingale
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signed letter, f£f54-55v, pen, blue paper

£54
March 16/67
35 South Street, [15:477-78]
Park Lane, {printed address:}
London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I am in trouble --
both about the India thing
& the Metropolitan Poor Bill.
I wish the Government
would go to Timbuctoo.
But that is not at present
the question.
What 1s the question is: --
Of course you have seen the
Notice of Motion.
Tuesday 19 March
Sir George Stuckley (who is
Sir G. Stuckley
"what is name & date of appointments
of Civilian Member of Army
Sanitary Comm: Vote 17 --
Why, with his travelling expenses,

£54v

"he is to receive £1200 per annum: -—-—
[T did not know you put it down
so, altho', of course, it is best so --
I thought it was £3.3 per diem]

"And, why an Army Medical Officer
cannot perform the duties
required from such Civilian
Practitioner."

Of course this is Dr. Sutherland.
Of course, (tho' the man worries
the very soul out of my body,)
we can't do without him.
It is nonsense to say what
"Army Med: Off:," what Civilian
Med: Off: could do his work?
Look at the wretched work
of Simon at the Privy Council
Office.
Look at the enormous absurdities
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£55
of the Cattle Plague Report -
Look at those in your own
Cubic Space Committee (your
Report has only just reached
me)
I think "Civilian Practitioners"
& "Army Medical Officers" all
cut off the same piece, all
except Dr. Sutherland -- (tho'
he does make me shed
soul's blood.)

But -- what is to be done? --
I presume, as Genl Peel
thanked him for his
Gibraltar Report, he would
defend him.
Ld Stanley fully appreciated
his work on the India R.
Sanitary Commn.
Sir H. Verney would say anything

£55v
we liked.
Who will answer on Tuesday?
Sir J. Pakington? --
What line of defence do you
advise? --
Shall I ask Ld Stanley? —--
The Army Sanitary Comm: would
be literally nothing now
without Dr. Sutherland.
How could the India work
be done without him? --
Pray advise
Your ill-used howling friend [end]
F. Nightingale
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initialed letter, f£f56-57, pen, blue paper

£56

Dr. Sutherland March 20/67

v. Sir G. Stucley 35 South Street, {printed address:
Park Lane,

London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I send the enclosed [9:566]

(which please return)
merely to know whether
you have any thing to
suggest.

The letter of Sir John
Lawrence (which Sir
H. Verney alludes to) was is
one, just received, which
I showed Sir H. V. quite
casually. Sir J. Lawrence

f56v
mentions that their Army
Mortality was only 20.11 per 1000 -- in
1866
" " 24.24 -- in 1865
Sir H. Verney said this

would tell very much
in the House, in Dr.
Sutherland's favour.
I always feel nervous
about this kind of use,
because of course, India
will say that Dr. Sutherland
& his Commission have
nothing to do with it --
(the decrease of mortality) --
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tho' I think it perfectly

legitimate to use such

an argument, IF it

will tell in your

favour for only 24

hours.

What do you think? [end 9:566]
ever yours
F.N.

I am very sorry that
Marianne is so unwell.

initialed letter, f££f58-59, pen, blue paper

£58
Surgeon Major March 20/67
rank 35 South Street,
Park Lane,
London, W.

My dear Capt. Galton

I send you the enclosed
merely to read & return
please.

It is always as well
to know how these things
tell.

Is Dr. Logan appointed
D. G.? And where is
Muir?

You could not give me

£58v
a copy, could you, of Col:
Reilly's Prussian Army
Campaign Report,
which Longmore mentions,
could you? --
ever yours
F. N.
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I hope to see Evelyn,
if she still desires it,
and if she is in London.
I will, with your &
Marianne's permission,
write her an invitation
some day this week or
next to coffee at 3.30.
But, alas!, a beautiful
little animal I wanted
to show her is dead

signed letter, ff60-61, pen, blue paper

£60
Private March 31/67
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton

You never answered my
question about Dr. Muir
& the Sanitary branch.

It seems to have
occurred to a great many
people that the best
way to remedy the
fiasco of Logan's appoint
ment would be to have
Dr. Muir there.

I enclose you a
letter I have just had

f60v

from Longmore, which
please return to me
at your leisure.

I hope that Marianne is
better.

I have been very sorry not
to be able to invite Evelyne
But I hope it is only put
off. My father is here
now & takes up all my
spare strength. And
before that I was so poorly
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with this unconscionably
late winter.
And all my cats died of
the Cat-tle plague; -- they
were distinguished cats,
which I wanted to show
Evelyne --
ever yours truly
F. Nightingale

signed letter, f62, pen, blue paper

f62
April 10/67

35 South Street, {printed address:

Park Lane,
London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton

In preparation for sending
this unique bird to Owen,
I send it to you —--

Can you tell me of any
Institution such as she desires
to leave money to usefully? --

Please return me the
enclosed. I shall have
it framed & glazed.

I believe I may say, like
Mr. Peabody, that, if I had
answered considered, or even
read the applications to me
for money, it would have
taken 10 whole years. This
is the first offer to give
money I ever had

ever yours truly

F. Nightingale

265
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signed letter, ff63-66, pen & pencil, blue paper

£f63
May 7/67
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London,
My dear Capt Galton

I have not seen the
Transport Committee Report,
except for five minutes

Please send it me.

I have only seen what I
suppose to be the Preliminary
Report. And therefore you
will look upon this as a
Preliminary Note, (like
Lord Stanley on the Tornado.)
n It appears now that you
have two schemes before you: —--
1. the Committee's schemes
which so far as I understand,
would make each branch
of the administration
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f63v

complete in itself, as we did
with the Army Medical &
Purveying Depts

But, instead of leaving the Depts
independent of each other,
they would make them each
a complete branch under
its own sub=Head -- and
the whole under a Controller
Genl at the W. O.

2. our old original scheme
drawn up after the Report
of Sir Jas: Graham's Ho: of C.
Commee.

This scheme has certain things
in common with the Transport
Cee scheme -- but in its central
idea it differs materially.

f64

We proposed in the first place
to deal with each of the
Depts, as we had done with
the A. M. D. & Purvs Dept
i.e. to make each Dept
practically complete in its
working details from its
humblest Clerk up to its
administrative head.

Next, we proposed to leave
certain details of administration
entirely in the hands of each
Dept.

Then, we proposed to deal
with questions of a doubtful
character where a higher
decision was required -- by
giving to each head a Portfolio --
which he would bring up to
the S. of S. for War at certain
fixed hours & days: on
which the S. of S. could meet
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f64v

all, or a certain number,
of the Heads of Departments.
Each Head would then open
his Portfolio, state his questions,
give explanations, or call forth
information from the Heads
of other branches. The S. of S.,
thus informed, would then
minute his decision.

The advantage of Scheme 1. is: --
that the Head or Controller
Genl would be permanent &
responsible to the S. of S.
direct.

The disadvantage would be
that, if the Controller Genl
were inefficient, the whole
machinery might fall to
pieces in war. All
centralized administration

£65

must necessarily rest on the
efficiency of the Agents. The
French succeed so long as
they have money. Could
we depend on getting equally
good men for our money.
This is really the question.

The advantage of Scheme 2 is: --
that each independent head
of a Dept would be, so to
speak, pitted against every
other head in the matter
of efficiency and there
would be a general
emulation among them
not to appear ignorant &
stupid when they came
before the S. of S. They would
have much more administrative



269

£f65v

liberty & consequently more
personal responsibility,
simply because they could
not move the responsibility
higher up

The disadvantage would be
that the S. of S. is a "moveable
body, according to the likes
or dislikes of the Ho: of C.

With either scheme, however,
much, of course, will depend
upon the men -- A bad
scheme & good men being
much better than a good
scheme & bad men.

I leave you with these points
for to consider;
Send me the Report I ask for.

f66

And I will write you a Treatise
in 39 points, if you like it.

[If T can get back a letter,
which I wrote "by desire" to
a Seminary (about Xmas)
on this subject drawn,
I suppose from the
"consciousness" of my innermost
"Ich" as to facts, I will
send you the substance of it]

Of course, if you finally
adopt the plan of the
Transport Cee, you will resolutely
avoid the weaknesses,
unreasoning despotic
method of proceeding,) of
the French Intendance.
They cannot avoid them.

You might.
ever yours, most truly
F. Nightingale
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note, ff67-67v, pencil

£67
Confidential
You cannot think how

I deplore the exclusion

of Muir from the

A. M. D. -- It is our

last chance gone --

I saw, a few days ago, a
letter from Muir -- saying
just what we should
have said ourselves --
(as to Sidney Herbert's
reforms --) & his desire
to remedy the neglect
into which they have
fallen

at the same time.

f67v
congratulating himself
on his exclusion &
consequent exemption
from worries &
fruitless efforts
[Personally, I am wholly
unacquainted with
Muir -- & he does not
even know the part
I have taken.]
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signed letter, ff68-71v, pen, blue paper
£f68 {archivist: Important}

Private May 28/67
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I want to consult you about [9:566-68]
our Indian affairs, which
are "getting as drunk as they
can be".
I divide our misfortunes
into two parts: --
1. the non=foundation of
any Public Health Service,
which remains, so far as I
know, exactly in the state
that Lord de Grey left it
on the fatal 18th of June
last year -- (You will remember)
Despatch still unanswered.
"That is "same drunk, Massa,
same drunk".]
2. the present absolute

f68v

confusion & want of responsibility
in everything that is done
in India as to details in
Sanitary matters.

They don't take the advice of
their own Sanitary Commissions
-- they don't take the advice
of yours at home.

Part.

1. I have spoken to Dr. Sutherland

over & over again about it.
I regret more than any thing

that I have ever done or not

done in all my life that,

for the last year, except,

of course, in private

correspondence with Sir
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John Lawrence, Mr. Ellis & others.
I have not attempted to do
anything -- about this P. Health Service
Sir John Lawrence's time is
up in another 18 months
And then we shall be able
to do nothing.

Dr. S. always says: —-- why
Sir John L is the chief
offender.

That is nonsense.

Sir John L. is not aware
of the consummate importance
of a responsible Public
Health Service.

But everything that has
been done in India at all
for us in the Sanitary line
has been done by him &
by him alone

The reason why I have done

£f69v
nothing at home During the last year in this has been
that I have always been
told: -- "oh Tories will be
out in another 6 weeks --
wait till then"
But Tories are not going out.
And Sir J. Lawrence 1is (in
1 ¥ years.)

You know how Dr. S. is. When he
is doing Malta, Malta
contains the world. And
the world moves round himself

Yesterday, I told Dr. S. that
I meant to wait no longer --
but that, after due
consultation with you &
with him, I intended to
do something -- the more so
as I have been strongly advised
to appry—to communicate with Sir J. Northcote
direct. Do you know him well? --
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Part. [2]

2.

What I want you to do is to
give me a locus standi,
which Ld Stanley did give
me with Ld Cranborne, (but
which I have lost by this
long delay)

And what I want to consult
you about is how this had
best be done.

Part.

2.

It appears that papers come
to your Commission, (but which
don't come to me,) reversing
all the judgments not only
of the R. Commission, not
only of your Commission but
of their own Presidency
Commissioners
(e.g. soldiers & sick are to

sleep on ground floors
doors & not windows are

to be used in construction

£f70v

And that these judgments are
obtained by sending the
fools cap all over India
to see whom it will fit
when of course it fits a
great many & then the
opinion of the majority
of fools is taken.

The next verdict you give will
be sent to the Deccan -- &
somebody's opinion in the
Deccan will be taken.

[Good tack if I were only
to do my Nurse=training
business in that way,
where would it be?)

It occurred to me that, if Dr.
S. would immediately see
the Sub-Committee called
(on these last papers) -- if
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you would then write me a
letter about them (as
assists S. of S.) & send me
me the papers? And if I were
to write to Sir J. Lawrence?
[That would give me a locus standi.]
Part
1. Still, important as this is,
it is not so important as
the total want of organization
of any Public Health Service
in India.
And I wanted to ask you: —--
i. do Ministers stay in till
next year?
ii. should I make a
statement of the case, taking
it up where Ld de Grey
left it last year -- & bring
it before Ld Stanley? --
I know he will only
refer me to Sir S.
Northcote.
Or i1iii -- would you introduce

£f71v
me at once to Sir S. Northcote
& advise me to write to him
direct? -- [I don't know him at all]

The Council of India in
India & the Council of India
at home are awful mistakes.
[Sir J. Lawrence is constantly paralysed
by his Council] [9:568]
ever yours
F. Nightingale
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Signed letter, f72, pen, blue paper

£72
Private India May 30/67
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton
Many, many thanks for
your letter about Sir S. Northcote.
I think I shall accept both
(as children do)
And as soon as the Sub=
Committee can be got on
the obnoxious India
papers, draw up my
"Statement" for Sir S. N.
& then write to you for
your help.
ever yours
F. Nightingale

JS note, f73, pencil, JS hand

£73

{archivist: June 1867}
{sideways in top left corner:} Capt G.
It has then come to
this - that after all these
years of painful almost
hopeless work, that we are
held up in the Times of the 7th to know of the 7th as having
done nothing for sick & wounded men. This
statement has shocked & scandalized me. If
it be wrong could you not get Delane to
contradict it. If it be right, what are we to
do. Should you not at once put it into
Longmore's hand for enquiry & report, & if true
should you not without loss of an hour get the
defects remedied. It cannot rest here.
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signed letter, f£f74-75, pen, blue paper

£74
Private &
Confidential June 10/67 [15:588]
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.

My dear Capt. Galton

I have heard a good
deal, directly & indirectly, of
our Military Hospital
display at the Paris
Exhibition, including a Royal
Princess' opinion.

And it: has come to
this that, after all these
years of painful, almost
hopeless, work, we are
justly held up in the
"Times" of the 7th, as having
done nothing for sick & wounded men. This
statement has shocked and scandalized me. If
it be wrong could you not get Delane to
contradict it. If it be right, what are we to
do. Should you not at once put it into
Longman’s hand for engquiry & report. & if true
should you not without loss of an hour get the
defect removed. It cannot rest here. [end]



Signed letter, f££f74-75, pen

£74
Private &
Confidential June 10/67

35 South Street, {printed address:

Park Lane,
London, W.

My dear Capt. Galton

I have heard a good
deal, directly & indirectly, of
our Military Hospital
display at the Paris
Exhibition, including a Royal
Princess’ opinion.

And it: has come to
this that, after all these
years of painful, almost
hopeless work, we are
justly held up in the
“Times” of the 7th, as
having done nothing for
sick & wounded

When I say justly, I mean

£f74v {on left}
unjustly, for nothing can
be more absurd than the
"Times" statement. It is
not a "Red Cross" Society
which will help us.
For that is of no earthly
good but to get together
good models, & exhibit

them.
However, something should
be done.

If the "Times" is wrong, could
you not make Mr. Delane
contradict it? --

If it is right, what are we
to do? —--

277
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£75 {on right}
Could you not at once put
it into Mr. Longmore's hand
for enquiry & report? --
And, if true, should you not,
without loss of an hour,
have the defects remedied?
It cannot rest here
ever yours sincerely
F. Nightingale
Could you kindly send me [9:569]
Sir Bartle Frere's address
in London -- and what
to call him?
Is he a Right Honble?
Is he already a member of
the India Council here? -- [end 9:569]
F.N.

signed letter, ff76-77v, pen, blue paper

£76
June 16 {archivist: 1867}
(What a June!)
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.
My dear Capt Galton
Can you tell me anything
about this "Domus Dei"? Is
it a thing one ought to subscribe
to? Have they not got a good
Garrison Chapel at Portsmouth?
The Knights Hospitallers
were great rascals -- And this
(Archdeacon) Wright caught
the horses of this dead on the
field of the Tchnernaya, &
sold them again.
Please return me his note
ever yours
F. Nightingale
Thank you for the Red Cross
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Society information. I will
return your minute.

2. I have seen Sir B. Frere. He [9:571-72]

came here on Friday by his

own appointment. And we

had a great talk. He

impressed me wonderfully

more than any Indian I

have ever seen, except Sir

J. Lawrence. And I seemed

to learn more in an hour

from him upon Indian

administration & the way

it is going than I did

from Ellis in 6 months,

or from Strachey in 2 days.

£77

or from Indian Council,

(Secretaries of State & R.

Commissioners & all,) in ©

years.

I hope Sir B. Frere will be of
use to us.

I have not yet applied to you
to put me in communication
with Sir J. Northcote. Because
why? -- your Committee
won't sit. It won't sit on
Monday, because Monday
is Whitmonday. And
Tuesday is Whit Tuesday
And Wednesday is Ash
Wednesday. And Thursday
is Ascension Day. And
Friday is Good Friday. And
Saturday is the Drawing-room
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-- And Sunday is Sunday

And that's the way that

British business is done

Now you are come back,

you must send for the

police & make them the Committee do

something. As for Sutherland,

I never see him. Malta

is the world. And Gibraltar

is the next world." And

India is that little island

in the Pacific, like Honolulu.

However, I think perhaps

we start at a fresh

advantage now with Sir

B. Frere -- only pray brush

up your Committee. Because

we can't really do anything

till your Commee gives us

the locus standi. [end 9:572]
F.N.

signed letter, £f£f78-78v, pen, blue paper

£78
12693

488 June 17/67

35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.

My dear Capt. Galton

I return your Minute
with many thanks about
the Red Cross Society.

It is very well that
this appointment has been made --

And when Mr. Longmore
has returned & has
reported, it will be very
well if something could be
done as well as written,
about training the Army
Hospital Corps with its
machinery.

Because the mere

reporting is, of course, no
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answer to what the "Times"
says of our defects.

In ten days, a couple of
energetic men could
thoroughly organize a system
of training the Army
Hospital Corps, if it is not
already done.

Believe me
ever yours sincerely
F. Nightingale

I was aware that Mr. Longmore
had been sent to Paris
He wrote to me from
thence about 10 days ago.

£79 DG to FN embossed WO 24 June 1867
note, £81, pencil

£81
Capt Galton
[archivist: Draft of letter 24th June 1867]

I have gone over the paper you sent to me
And it contains administrative points of so
very serious a character that I should have
to communicate with the India Office upon
the general question raised by it.
The paper refers to the ventilation of B &
H
I have to do specially with H. And I
object in toto to the decision of the India Govt
The point now is -- in what way I
could make use of this paper with Sir S.N.
Could you get it referred to me for
opinion on the H. question?

Sir P. Benson Maxwell is in England. He called
her & asked me to appoint a day to see him
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signed letter, f£f82-87, pen and pencil, blue paper

£82
Private June 24/67
35 South Street, {printed address}
Park Lane,
London, W.
My dear Capt Galton
I send back the India [9:571-74]
papers, for which I am
very much obliged.
They are very important
-- I think the most important
we have had as shewing
a principle.
The papers say this: --
we, the Govt of India,
intend to conduct our
Sanitary administration
on the principle of
universal suffrage And
this is the first fruits of
it.

£82v
If you look at the authorities
consulted, you will see: --

1. Local governments
2. " Sanitary Commissions
3. " Medical authorities
4 " Military "
5 " Public Works Officers
6 " Committees

Then comes a Summary

of Local Authorities

Then, the conclusions of the

Govt of India.
You will see that, by adding

(Number 2) ye "Sanitary Commissions",
we have simply added

another element of

disunion & uncertainty

we have committed an
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immense blunder & mistake
The Govt consults Nos 3 and

2. Then it consults No 1 --
then No 4, which is worse --
Not satisfied with this,
it must consult Nos 5
and 6. And then the
foolscap has been sent
all round And even then
it does not appear to
decide by the majority of
fools heads.

Could we have the least
idea that this was the
way business was done,
or rather not done?

If we had, we should
have seen our (Presidency)

£83v

Sanitary Commissions, a
long way first, before

we would have recommended

them (just to spoil the broth a
little more with another cook).

Sir Bartle Frere was so good
as to give me some
conversation on this very
point of administration

Nothing will ever do any
good until (if they must
work by Presidencies and
Governments,) each
administrative authority
has its own Budget & its
own responsibilities with
an inspection from the
supreme Government

But this manner of referring
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£84
[2]

& referring & referring, is
vile -- And, if they had
framed a procedure to
hinder work, instead of
to do it, they could not
have invented anything
better.

But the question is: --
what are we to do? --
You were so good as to say
that you would forward
any statement of mine

to Sir S. Northcote with
an introduction from
yourself. And I could

also get a double

-- backing from Ld Stanley

Dr. Sutherland is so very
etiquette=ish that he says

£84v
"but how are you to have
seen these papers?"
I don't know. It seems to
me that the cat has been
out of the bag so long that
it is no use tying the strings
(or untying them) now. Both
Sir J. Lawrence & Ld Stanley
know what my share of
the business has been.
[And both think that I
see a great many more
of the papers than I do
see —-- now.] If Ld Stanley
speaks for me at all to
Sir S. Northcote, he will
speak in this sense, as he
did to Ld Cranborne.
However, Dr. Sutherland will
have it that I must write
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to you to ask for the papers
to be referred to me or,
at least, for a letter of
yours to me, not "forwarding"
them but formally referring
them to me

I have to write to Sir J. Lawrence
on Wednesday. And, Dr.
Sutherland will have it
that otherwise I must say I saw
this paper "confidentially" --
I don't mind --

[T will say that "Broadhead,
of Sheffield", gave me
"£ 15" to steal it & to
blow you up, if you like it.
I'm your man.]

Only, what will you have
me do? --

£85v
The point is: -- in what

way I could make use

of the paper with Sir

S. Northcote? --

Dr. S says: —--

the paper refers to the
ventilation of Barracks
& Hospitals.
I (F.N.) have to do
specially with Hospitals.
And I object in toto to
the decision of the India
Govt.
Could you (Capt. G.) get --
it referred to me (F. N.)
for opinion on the
Hospital questions?

I am guite agreeable to

whatever you may
decide. Only, I
am going ahead, & am

35 South Street, {printed address, upside down in
Park Lane,
London, W

corner:}
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[3]

not going to wait for Dr.
Sutherland any more --
(not even for my £15
reward being "embezzled"
out of "Mr. Broadhead's
accounts.")

I should be rather glad if
you could let me hear
tomorrow -- or, if you
would let me have the
papers back to morrow,
just for one day -- for my
letter to Sir J. Lawrence -

I did nothing with Ld
Cranborne & have lost a whole year -- which
regret very much, But
I am not going to
regret byegones now --
only to say that I think

f86v

we have a new standing
point now, & must
go ahead --

I believe they have a Sub=
Committee at the W. O. on
Friday on these papers --
I wish you would attend
it -- & say your say --
[Then, if you chose & if you
think it needful, you
might have it referred
to me, as Dr. Sutherland
proposes —-- But I don't mind] [end 9:574]

ever yours most truly
F. Nightingale
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I shall claim your kind
promise about Sir Stafford
Northcote any how

F. N.

draft, £f88, pencil [very faint], JS rough hand
£88

Capt Galton {archivist:} About 16 July 1867
I propose to write to Sir S. Northcote in the
strain of the enclosed. But before doing
so I send it to you in order that
we may all act together. We have
thought it better to ask for a reconsideration
of the whole subject on the basis of the
Minute we drafted for Lord de Grey.
Will you kindly go over this draft
& suggest any further—changes changes
or &ddit additional points which
witt may strengthen it. The more
one thinks over it the more
deplorable does it appear. Lord
Stanley has promised to speak generally
to Sir S.N. about the matter.¥#h
Your subcommittee has decided ag=im
unanimously against the Government of India
You must get the General Committee
to adopt the decision & send it to the India Office
with as strong a letter as you can
without doing mischief by rather reason} than zeal
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signed letter, f£f89-91v, pen, blue paper

£89
Confidential July 16/67
35 South Street {printed address}
Park Lane,
London, W.
My dear Capt Galton
Here is my letter or [9:578-79]
rather a Draft of it to
Sir S. Northcote at last.
And I beg you to be so kind
as to go over it & criticize
it.
Lord Stanley I believe
spoke to him on Friday Saturday.
My letter to Sir J.
Lawrence has been gone
nearly a month.

And therefore if we are
to do anything with Sir S.N.,
the sooner it is done, the
better.

£89v

If we are to do anything will
depend mainly, I fancy, on
whether you can get Sir S.N.
to give his consideration to it.

I feel tolerably certain that
nothing has been done
with Ld de Grey's minute
at the India Office --
(you remember -- June 18,
1866) Because I think

I should have been quite
sure to hear of it from
Sir J. Lawrence -- For
Sir J. L. has always written
to me on these subjects, as
e.g. such & such a Despatch
went from me Sir J. L., on
such & such a date?
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If Sir S. Northcote does take
me into consideration at all,
I particularly wish that no
blame to Sir J. Lawrence
should be implied by me.
Because everything that
has been done for us
has been done by Sir J.
Lawrence himself --
However, I leave my letter
for your criticism.
[I could not get Dr. Sutherland
to do more than this.
You may take the horse to
the water. But you can't
make him drink. He
had mounted his
imagination to think
that Ld Stanley would

£f90v

strike out a new plan

of Public Health Service

for us -- as if it were
physically possible for

a man at the Foreign

Office to do that now --

Ld Stanley's letter to me
was much more than

I had expected -- instead

of less.]

However, I only mention this,
in case Dr. Sutherland should
have spoken to you.

I think we all three think
it better to ask for a
reconsideration of the whole
subject on the basis of the
Minute we drafted for

Ld de Grey. (June 18, 1866)
Will you kindly go over this



f91
my
Draft & suggest any changes
or additional points
which may strengthen it?
The more we think over it,
the more deplorable it
seems.

290

[Lord Stanley's promise on Friday was: -

that he would speak generally

to Sir S. Northcote about
the matter]

Your Sub=Committee has
decided unanimously
against the Government of
India.

You must make the General
Committee adopt the
decision, & send it to the
India Office with as
strong a letter as you can
without doing mischief

f91v
by raising jealousies
But indeed every body
seems to me to be jealous
of somebody else.
And without exactly
knowing why, I think
Sir S. Northcote is jealous
of Ld Stanley's interfering.
[How different all that
used to be under Sidney
Herbert --]
ever yours
F. Nightingale
I hope in this recourse to Sir
S. Northcote as a last
hope. Hope was green &

the donkey ate it (that's me)

[end 9:579]
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signed letter, f££92-94, pen, blue paper

£92
CoNFIDENTIAL July 24/67

35 South Street, {printed address:}

Park Lane,
London W.

My dear Capt. Galton

Your note of July 16 has [9:579-80]
been growing into a mustard
tree

1. I re-wrote my letter
to Sir S. Northcote in obedience
to your invaluable advice.

2. I have twice seen
Sir B. Frere, in consequence
of your hint to "make him
safe" -- because "the Council
are jealous."

He claims to be a connection
of yours.

[Except Sir J. Lawrence, I
have never seen any Indian
who impressed me so much.]

ever yours F. Nightingale

£f92v
He immediately took our
matter in hand -- ferreted

out Lord de Grey's Minute
(you remember) at the I. O.,
& what had been done

since -- [there have been

a Despatch on it from

Ld Cranborne & one from

Sir S. Northcote in April.
Neither has in the least
improved or even altered
our position.]

Sir B. Frere was of opinion
that my letter to Sir S.
Northcote should go in,
therefore, exactly as it
is now, as altered according
to your orders. [I shewed it
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£93
him. ]

He offered to take it with
him, & give it himself into
Sir S. Northcote's hands.

I thought it as well to
wait, for this reason: --
the famous "doors & windows"
paper is here --

this should go in from you
(with your Minute) to the
I. 0., so that Sir S. Northcote
may, if he sends for it
(my letter is founded upon it)
be able to see it at once.

I shall see Dr. Sutherland
to morrow -—-—

I shall send in then the "doors
& windows" paper to you,
(after he has suggested any
thing he wants to suggest)

And you will, I hope, aid
& abet me in my letter to

£f93v Sir S. Northcote, in which
I have mentioned you
as fathering my letter. This
I shall send thro' Sir B. Frere, as I could not well
refuse your offer to take my letter himself)
although, “my son, my
beard is white", I feel
more hopeful now than
I have done for a year
past.
It is an immense thing
for us to have Sir B. Frere
"safe" for us on the
Council.
[If we could get a Public
Health Dept in the I. O.
to ourselves with Sir B. Frere
at the head of it, our
fortunes would be made.]
At all events, we have
now a certain channel,
both of information & of
support, at the I. O., in
him. Many thanks for the hint



293

£94
P. S. Sir B. Frere rather
wished me to send the
"doors & windows" paper
(wiTH my letter) to Sir
S. Northcote thro' him.
But that would be
contrary to all order,
would it not?
F.N.
I think I shall
send my revised
letter to Sir S. Northcote
for you to look at again
to morrow, 1if you will be
so good. [end 9:580]

draft, £95, light pencil, prob JS hand, LM checked Oct 2005

£95
Capt Galton
Sir B. Frere whom I saw again yesterday offered [9:580]

renewed his offer to present the letter & I really

felt that I must give way & it is going to him

today. I have stated to Sir S. Northcote that

you would speak communicate to him on the subject. Which
you could very easily do in sending back the

Doors & windows paper. I have restricted my

letter solely to the administrative point & have

not said a word about your W.O.

Commission. I entirely agree with you

about this. [end 9:580]
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signed letter, ff96-97v, pen and pencil, blue paper
£96 {PEN}:

Private ‘July 26/67
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton
"Excuse haste & a bad pen" [9:585]

Yesterday To-day my letter to Sir S.
Northcote went in, under
the patronage of Sir B. Frere,
as amended by you.

I have been so immensely
hurried about various
things that I can only
enclose to you a copy
of what has gone in, &
beg for your co-operation
with Sir S. Northcote, as
you kindly promised, & as I
have stated in the letter

Please return me my
copy. It is only sent to
show you what has gone +m

foé6v
I hope it will meet with
your approbation.
Sir B. Frere renewed his
offer to present the letter

himself. And I really
felt, with you, that I must
accept.

If you would communicate
with Sir S. Northcote at
once, or on sending in the
"doors & windows" paper,
it would be very desirable.

I don't think you can
justly accuse me of being
too "sanguine".

[As for our having an I. O.
Public Health Dept under
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£97

Sir B. Frere, (if we ever could get
have it, which we shall

not) that would be the

only way of really getting

things referred to you for

your opinion]

The moment I can, I will
write you word what
have been the
intermediate Despatches
between Lord de Grey's
Minute & this time. And
also what, if anything,
comes of this.
ever yours sincerely
(in great haste)
F. Nightingale
Mr. Ellis is "too much afraid"
of me to come home, too

£97v

"much afraid of me to be
ill (what an exemplary
man!) & is to be made
"Chief Secy to Govt" (Madras)
if I "permit".

This will help us much.
Ld Napier is inclined
to give #&fm us a Public
Health Service, & to appeal
to home about it.

Lady Napier is in England &
brought me this word.

Dr. Macpherson is dead (Madras)

Dr. Leith has been dying (in

England) but is (this morning)

better. He is Bombay Sanitary Commission.
F.N.

Burn [end 9:585]
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signed letter, f£98-99v, pen
f98

Private July 30/65 {archivist: 1867}
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I send you the enclosed [9:585-86]
note, merely for you to
see the exact position in
which the matter is.
If I don't hear soon
from Sir S. Northcote, I
shall begin again, through
you & thro' Sir B. Frere.
But I should like
to be guided by you as
to the time.
[I am afraid of pressing
the matter while they
have this fag end of the
Reform Bill still in hand.]

£f98v

for fear of being forbidden
to press afterwards.

Will you talk to Sir S.
Northcote? --

Have you talked to Sir S.
Northcote?

He had not seen Lord
de Grey's Minute.
That is India office all
over.

I am told they are in a
great fright about this
Orissa affair -- & "really"
think that "something"



£99

must be done (about
Indian administration)

which gives us a favourable
opportunity.

I have read the Missa papers
Simplicity & direct action,
these are the two things
wanted. Hindoos are not
English. And, even if they
were, simplicity & direct
action are two good things.

Sir C. Beadon's defence is
pitiable.

But the fault is in the
system of administration.

The G. G. sits at Simla like
a great hen & sends lets all
his chickens scratchimg all

£99v
over India. And, if there
is a grain of corn too deep
for them to scratch up, he
gives a dig with his claw
to help them; -- that is all
Ld Dalhousie & Ld Canning
had made a step towards
better administration.
Elgin let it all slip
back.
Sir J. Lawrence has struggled
(in vain) against the
dead weights around him.
Please send me back the
enclosed.
ever yours truly
F. Nightingale

Ld

£100 DG to FN embossed WO 30 Jul
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[end 9:586]

1867, returns her letter to SN
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signed letter, f£f102-v, pen, blue paper

£102

Private July 31/67

{printed address:}35 South Street,
Park Lane,

London W.
My dear Capt. Galton
Sir S. Northcote wrote [9:586]

to me last night.
I will send you his
note & my answer
(to criticize, please)
if possible this afternoon
But my reason for
writing now is -- to
ask you not to see
Sir S. N. till you have
seen these two letters.

fi102v
as he is all astray on
one point -- and it

would be important

to us to reserve, (as

a party reserves a

debater,) you to answer

him on this point [end 9:586]
ever yrs truly
F. Nightingale
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signed letter, f£f103-v, light pencil, blue paper

£103
Private July 31/67

{printed address} 35 South Street,

Park Lane,

London, W.

My dear Capt Galton
I send you Sir S. Northcote's
note & my proposed answer

[9:586-87]

[A sentence of Dr. Sutherland's

about the dreadful
diseases caused by doors,
would come in (like King
Charles the First) But

I steadfastly resisted him
We are getting so excited
about doors. But we

shall insist upon having
(in "Registrar Genls List
of Diseases") next after
"Cholera," "Doors", but
immediately before "Delhi

Ulcers", (whom, poor fellows

I do so miss after having

£103v

seen them there for
2 years off your
Committee's List

of Subjects)

However tho’ I have

no doubt the men

do die of "doors," I

think they die more

of something much

worse than "doors.”]
Orissa certainly did not die of “doors”.

You will see that I have taken
advantage of your hint about
urging a Section of the
Council being devoted to
Health Matters.

I shall not at all mind

re writing my letter,
according to your criticism -
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£f104
(as I ought to have a copy of
my letter especially for
Sir B. Frere)

I do not propose showing

my letter to him before hand,

or sending it by him -

as there is mention of him

in it - unless you expunge it.

I would either send it by

you, 1f you advise it, or

direct by hand to Sir S

Northcote.

I am so busy - I saw a D.I.G.

from Madras, by Lady

Napier’s particular desire.

And today I see a Parsee

from Bombay - by Sir B

Frere’s - which makes

me incoherent.

ever yours truly
F Nightingale

£f104v

If you approve I propose to

send, wherr with this I send my letter

to Sir S. Northcote, a copy of

Sutherland's Algerian Report [end 9:587]
FN

£105 DG to FN embossed WO 31 July 1867, I think your letter is very good. shd
go in independently and form her direct
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initialed letter, f£106, pen, blue paper

£106
August 13/67
{printed address:} 35 South Street,
Park Lane,
London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton
A Capt Tulloch, R.E. has [9:886]
been sent home by the
Madras Govt, to see
drainage, water supply
& other sanitary works
in England for India
He is an "advanced
Sanitarian."
He is coming to see you
Will you take care
that he sees
water supply, drainage &
irrigation at Aldershot,
Herbert Hospital,
Woolwich, Married Quarters,
a new Barrack} ever yours [end 9:886]
&C &c &c } F.N.

draft, f£107, light pencil, JS hand

£107

Capt. Galton

I have seen Sir S.N. and the result is that there
will be a controlling & executive committee
at the India Office in these Sanitary matters
& your W.O. Committee will be the

Consulting body on Sanitary points. In any
conversation you have with Sir S. N. you
will know now how to proceed. He

proposes Frere, Anderson, Baker & Perry with
a Secretary. Their work will really be
introducing the elements of civilization
into India.

I also pressed strongly on him the necessity
of R.E.s going to India being acquainted
with drainage, water supply & sewage
irrigation works carried out here before
going to India. He said he would discuss

the matter with Ld Clinton [?] but you are
the person who can most expedite this

o matter.



signed letter, f£f108-11, pen

f£108
CONFIDENTIAL August 22/67

302

{ "ConFIDENTIAL' UNDERLINED FOUR TIMES}
35 South Street, {printed address:}

Park Lane,
London W.
My dear Capt. Galton

I saw Sir S. Northcote
on Tuesday. He came of
his own accord which
I think I partly owe to
you.

The result is -- (that
if he does as he says) --
that there will be a
Controlling Committee at
the I. O. (for sanitary
things) with Sir B. Frere
at the head & Sir H.
Anderson at the tail
and your W. O. Comm: as
the consulting body.

[I suspect that you will

£f108v

get a great many more
references from Sir B.
Frere than you do at
present from Sir P. C.

is,

[9:596-97]

As to the Public Health Service,

[I told Sir S. Northcote
that we want the
Executive Machinery in
India to do it -- & the
Controlling Machinery
at the I. O0. to know
that it is being done.]

The work of the Controllin
Committee will really
be introducing the
elements of civilizatio
into India.

g

n
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£109

Sir S.N. said something
about having Genl Baker &
Sir E. Perry on as members,
and an Assistant Secretary
to Sir H. Anderson

[T wish I could choose

the members as I did

in Sidney Herbert's

time]
But I have the greatest

faith in Sir B. Frere

and he asked me to

let him bring Sir H.

Anderson here. So we shall
have the Chairman & Secretary on our side
I liked Sir S. Northcote

but he appears to me

to have much the same

calibre of mind as Ld de

£109v
Grey. He has none of the
rapid unerring perception
of Sidney Herbert
none of the power of
Sir J. Lawrence.
None of the power &
keenness of Sir B. Frere.
However, we have no time
for moralizing
When you see Sir S.
Northcote (he is
coming back to town
week after next)
please back me up
all you can tho' of
course, you will not
betray me.



304
£110 black-edged paper

Confidential
[2]
Sir S. Northcote talks
about "talking it all
over" with Ld Clinton
And that alarms me,
tho' of course it is necessary.
Who was Ld Clinton?
And does he know any
thing about it?

But my principal reason
for writing to you now
is this: --

I went as fully as I could
with him (Sir S. N.)
into this: -- that no

time should be lost in
sending R. Engineers
intended for service
in India to examine

fli0v
& make themselves
acquainted with
improvements in
sewerage}
drainage} of towns
water supply}
& in application of sewage
for agriculture
& with improvements in
Barrack & Hospital
construction &c &c
as carried out here.
Now, there is no one
but you who can
properly advise Sir
S. Northcote in this
matter Pray do so.
f111
Do you know Ld Clinton? --
Please destroy this letter,
when read & acted upon. [end 9:597]
ever yours
F. Nightingale
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signed letter, ff112-13, pen pale blue paper

£f112
Private August 29/67
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London. W.

My dear Capt. Galton

It seems to be a very
unnecessary thing for me
to be troubling you with
Suggestions about the
Abyssinian Expedition. But --

You know Sir. S. Baker
was a whole year in
Abyssinia & on the Atbara
& Blue (?) Nile before
he went his great
Expedition to the Albert
Nyanza And on his
return from that, did he
not come back the very

flilov

way by Souakim (?) that
the troops are to go?

Have they consulted him?
Or would it be possible

to persuade him to

accompany the Expedition?
One would think a man

like that worth any money.

Major Ewart & Dr.
Paynter, who saw the French
way in Algeria of
managing these Expeditions,
tho' theirs are not of
half the difficulty that

£113 ours will be -- ought not they
to be of the Expedition?
What on earth does Massey
know? --
in great haste
ever yours most truly
F. Nightingale
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signed letter, ff114-15v, pen, blue paper

£114
Private 10 Nov./67
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,

London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton
Sir S. Northcote has [9:609]

formally appointed his
Public Health Committee at
the India Office. And it
will meet for the first time
on Monday (tomorrow)
Sir B. Frere, Chairman
Sir P. Cautley
Genl Baker
Capt. Eastwick
Sir E. Perry
Sir H. Anderson, Secretary
I am afraid that you do
not approve -- But I expect

fll4v
good work out of

this Committee. The
fact is: -- the irritation &
jealousy (as regarded the
W. O. Sanitary Commee) was
so perpetual that we
scarcely made any way
at this end. Indeed we
had come to a dead lock
Sir B. Frere, who is
completely above all that
sort of thing: & who is
very anxious to consult
your Commee, instructed
me how to proceed about
it. And I think we shall
be in a better position
than before. We could
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£115
hardly have been in a worse.
Sir B. Frere's Commee will
keep a hand over the question
in India, so that we shall
now have official means
of calling people to account
& of reporting to Parliament.
I believe that Sir P. Cautley
& Sir R. Martin will remain
on your Commee as before.
& that in future tho I. O.
Commee will send formulated
questions to you instead
of papers-- In this way
the grudge will be done
away with.

The next thing is to reply
as quickly as possible: --

£f115v
would you think well to
have a standing Sub=Committee
for Indian work, by whom
these questions might be
at once taken up -- and,
as soon as the Sub=Committee
had finished its Report,
a General Commee might
be called -- and the reply
sent to the Ind: Off: at once?
ever yours
F. Nightingale

Is Col: Greathed put on the
Council of Education? -- [end 9:609]

£116 abstract of 1867 [list of dates and subjects]
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signed letter, f£f118-18v, pen, blue paper

£118
Jan 25/68
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I have received the enclosed
from Mr. Spottiswoode
Please to tell me what
I am to answer him.
Was not the printing of
Dr. Angus Smith's pamphlet
paid for by the W. 0.7
Of course any surplus
should go to Dr. A. Smith,

(IF any.)
ever yours truly
F. Nightingale
£118v
84
8

7877



signed letter, f£f119-21, pen blue p
£119 FN to Capt Galton {archivist:

Col Wilbraham May 1/68
{printed address} 35 South Street,
Park Lane,

London, W.
My dear Capt. Galton
Tho' I can't say that you and
I have wasted much of the Queen's
time & paper on one another in
the course of the last two years.
yet I don't see what I can
do with the (enclosed.)
extraordinary letter from Col:
Wilbraham but send it to
you.
I might make a yard of
comments upon it. But I
will only make a few inches.
[A lawyer seeing this letter,
coupled with the fact that
Mrs. S. Stewart has never
once to any of her friends
breathed a word
against Col. W., while

309
aper
FN to Capt Galton}

[15:177-78]
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£f119v
he has filled the air
with his complaints
& to people who had
as little to do with
it as the Queen of
the Sandwich Islands --
would at once say
that it was he & not
she who ought to
resign. ]
[Of course I know of the "row" there
has been at the W.0. -- And
I have heard most of the
particulars].
Refer to enclosed letter:
1. Col: Wilbraham's last letter
to me about Mrs. S. Stewart
was not only entirely “couleur
de rose'. It was in the highest
degree of complacency.
2. Col: W.'s mind has been
constantly rankling on certain
refusals of Mrs. S. S. to come
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£120

to tea.

3. There have not been so many

changes among the Nurses as

there are in every Civil Hospital
The "none staying above a

few months" is a flower of

rhetoric -- disproved by the

Reports.

4. I have heard a great deal

of these "implorings" of "dying

men" -- "implorings" to keep

brandy bottles under their

pillows & to have favourite

-- friends (orderlies) to sleep with them

[I am rather too old a bird

to be taken in with this chaff]

5. This again is a flower of

rhetoric: I have this moment

seen letters from Dr. Maclean &

others saying that the "Nursing

is perfect". Do they mean

that the cooking is "perfect" in

£f120v
spite of the cook?

I have had for 3 weeks the
Report & papers of Mrs. S.
Stewart but have not had
time even to glance at them.

Possibly now it may be
vain to do so -- till this "row"
is settled.
I must apologize for this
delay. But as the papers
came to me unaccompanied
by any letter from yourself
or Sir E. L., & as I was over=
done with cares & business,
(since the death of our Supt
at the Liverpool Workhouse,
I have had 7 or 8 hours a
day writing additional)
I thought there was no hurry
And I put it off.
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£f121
[2.]
My advice to the W. O. is: --
Sentence
Order Mrs. S.S. to bed for
a week:

Order Col: Wilbraham, Dr.
Maclean, Dr. Anderson, Mr.
Longmore, & all those who
made the "row" in the ward,
to bed, for a week --

Then order them to kiss &
shake hands all round.

Could you return me Col: W.
in the course of the day? [end 15:178]
yours truly
F. Nightingale

signed letter, £f122, pen blue paper

£122
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
W. Oct 28/68
My dear Capt. Galton
I agree with Dr. Acland
Dr. Sutherland would be
the man to help them
I have no doubt he would
serve, 1f asked, on the
Commission in question
Yours very truly
F. Nightingale
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initialed letter, ff123-24v, pen blue paper

£123
PRIVATE
35 South Street, Oct 28/68
Park Lane, {printed address:}
W.

Burn

My dear Capt. Galton
I don't retract what I say

on the other sheet: But I
think the Comm: in question
a sheer waste of time -- that
Dr. Sutherland will Jjust
be wasted in a minority
of one —-- & that we can't
afford to lose his time

Take the men: --
there is no "Engineer" but yourself who
would be of any use on the Commission --
Mr. Rawlinson is a most able man, but
his temper unfits him for co-operation
on a Comm.

{ABOVE FOUR LINES ARE WRITTEN ABOVE LETTERHEAD TO BE INSERTED HERE}
There is Sir S. Watson -- you
know him. any very
good old nurse would
give a better opinion on
Public Health questions --
Mr. Paget -- he wrote to me
2 or 3 weeks ago, telling



314

£f123v
me he was to be on it -- &
asking, while on it, to
consult with me. He
is a man of more than
first rate ability, but with no
knowledge on the subject.

Dr. Rumsey -- I have long
known him by corresponding
with him -- he is without

exception the most
wrong headed man I know,
at practice, not at
book-making.

Dr. Acland -- [here I am afraid
I shall differ with both
you & Dr. Sutherland] -- he

is the fairest promiser,
the (I will not say foulest)
frailest most deceiving performer

£124

the world has ever seen [Long,

long ago, when I was disposed

to urge certain things about (for)

him very much, poor S. Herbert

told me this: I denied it.

How true I have found it

since! --

I don't want to damp any body's
zeal about this Commission,
which would be an
immense thing to do, 1F
poNE. But I find (I don't
know whether you find) it
more & more difficult to
rouse Dr. Sutherland to do
the work we have to do,

(he has always some pond to dig in his garden)
& I don't want to waste

him on a hopeless task.

Our India work 1is getting

overwhelming. I have to

see Lord Mayo this very day.
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fl24v
To Dr. Sutherland's want of
readiness, just before
Lord de Grey went out of
office, I attribute most
of our misfortunes. Had
we struck that nail
home in June 1866 in
time, much would have
been done that is not yet
done —-- & perhaps never may be
done —--
ever yours
F. N.
Burn {TRIPLE UNDERLINED}

signed letter, ff125-27v pen, blue paper with envelope, stamped, canc

£125
Private
35 South Street, Feb 1/69
Park Lane {printed address:}
W.
My dear Capt. Galton
I was very much obliged
to you for your note of this
morning.
Everything seems to me to
be going by the board in
these new Estimates
[I had four letters this
morning upon the topic of
reductions, Army Med: School,
&c —-- which, between ourselves,
I don't care much about
except as shewing what a
fight & perhaps what a
fall we shall have]
About Dr. Sutherland & your note:
After a good deal of cogitation,
I wrote a letter to Mr. Gladstone,
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£125v
& enclosed it to Lord de Grey
asking him simply to
advise upon it: & to let
me know -- This compromises
him to nothing (which he does not like)
You see, since Sidney Herbert's
death, all that I have
heard from Mr. Gladstone,
has been an occasional
kind intimation that
he "should always
remember my work with
Sidney Herbert".
Mr. Cardwell I don't know --
have not seen for 12 years.
All the people are out of
town by whom I could
send a letter to either
M. Cardwell or Mr. Gladstone.

£126

[As for poor dear Ly Herbert
I believe I am saying less
than the truth when I say
that to send any message
thro' her to either of Sidney
Herbert's colleagues would

be to ensure the thing not
being done. And can

you wonder at it? -- What
Mr. Gladstone said once
was: —- Has she not shewn

that she did not really
know anything about Sidney
& his wishes & plans?]

If I were you, I should
speak to Lord Northbrook --
but about this of course
you are a judge and I
am not. Did he not
say to you once that you
might always call upon
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fl26v
him to defend Sidney

Herbert's plans? -- altho
he did not agree with him.
As for Mr. Lowe, it is wvain

to appeal to him. fwe—Ffor
—me

ever yours
F. Nightingale

It has occurred to me to
write to Ld Stanley who
in his queer way has
always stood by me --
But perhaps he is
antipathetic to Gladstone
)

Please burn.

envelope for preceding letter, f£f127

£127
{front of envelope}
Private
Capt. Galton &c &c
12 Chester Street
Belgian Square
S. W.
£f127v

{back of envelope}
Feb. 14 1869
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Signed letter with envelope, f£f128-29, pen blue paper

£128
Private
35 South Street Feb 2/69
Park Lane, {printed address:}
W.
My dear Capt. Galton
It is almost worth
while to have been in such
a fright as I was to be so
relieved by your kind note
(about Ld Northbrook).
But I now only write to
ask your advice --
I sent my letter to Lord
de Grey yesterday by hand
to Carlton Gardens (enclosing
the one which I told you
I had written for his opinion,
which might be for Mr.
Gladstone or any body)
The answer (from the servants) was: -- that
he (Ld de G.) would not

£128v

be in town till to-day.

[I do not know whether

my letter to him wd be

forwarded by post or not.

It was sent about 5 p. m.]
You know Ld de Grey so

much better than I do that

I need hardly say he is

rather priggish -- and one

does not like to ask a

favour from him unnecessarily.
He did ask me when

he went out of Office in

June/66 to keep him

informed of what went

on at the India Off: in the

Sanitary line. But I have
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£129 in another hand [seems to be a copy of FN letter]

Never presumed upon that (nor
done it indeed) tho' I made
use of it in writing to him
yesterday.
What had I better do now?
I suppose I can't get my letter
back --
Should I write to him?
And, if so, what am I at liberty
to say?
[He would probably get my second
letter st—the—same—time as soon as my first
if T write.
ever yours most truly
RSVP. F. Nightingale
[Postscript in answer to something written by Galton regrets
having had
not communication, with Storks
for 2 or 3 years -- "and yet
at Scutari we were like brother
officers, and he has always come
to see me most affecttormately on his
going to & coming from his different
commands."

envelope, f130 pen

£130

{front of envelope}

Private walit

Capt. Douglas Galton

12 Chester Street
R. S. V. P.
£130v {back of envelope}

Feb 2nd 1869
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£131 letter, pen, pencil at end blue paper

Private
35 South Street Feb 3/69

Park Lane, {printed address:}

W.
My dear Capt. Galton
Many thanks for your
note. As you say, we are
safe for the present.

Ld de Grey had spoken
to Mr. Cardwell -- & has
engaged me to write to Mr.
Cardwell -- which I suppose
I must do --

Ld de Grey has written
me a nice note -- which
I will send you as soon
as I have answered it.
I think the "Lancet" should
be answered as we have
none so much to boast of

£f131v
in the security of our position.
The Extract indeed shows
nothing more than that the
writer is unacquainted with
the distinction between
administering Sanitary
regulations which is the
duty of the Army Medical
Officer -- & the planning
of new works & new
Sanitary procedure of a
practical kind.
You & I & all of us know
what a hopeless confusion
the Medical Officer even
in India has made of
such questions whenever
he has gone beyond his

[9:655]

[end 9:655]
[9:892]
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own line -- e.g. Dr. Goodeve,
& Dr. Farquhar (Sir John
Lawrence's Physician) in

the India Office Blue

Book —-- lately out

And we have almost

weekly experience of

the same thing in India.

[I have actually a letter

from a high authority in
India proposing to me
that Medical Officers
should positively be
excluded from all
Sanitary work on account
of their interminable
contradictions & theories
& fights among each
other.]

£132v

work,

Half of all our practical
(yours & mine, & Dr. S's

in this line consists in neutralizing
the evil influence of

opinions which, however

applicable at the bed-

side of the sick, are

simply injurious when

carried into the principles

which are to prevent

people from being sick.

You have, I believe, yourself

proposed that, with the
view of avoiding all this
bringing forward of theory
as if it were practice (or
practicable,) the basis of
education of Officers of
Health should be laid

not in Medicine but

in Engineering.
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£133
I would do the answer for
the "Lancet" -- but I have
so many irons in the
fire -- And you would
do it much better
Dr. Farr would put it in

for you —-- But please
remember that Dr. Goodeve
is his friend -- And

also of course my "high

"authority in India" must

not be mentioned --
Burn [end 9:893]
[in pencil] ever yours most truly

F. Nightingale

[pencil] I send the last of the Pheasants -- tho'
I dare say you have plenty of the

feathered monsters of the grave --
Will you thank Marianne for writing

to me -- I am so glad to find

she is really better -- F.N.

envelope, fl1l34 pen, blue paper

£134
Private with {1 hare
{2 pheasants
Capt. Douglas Galton
12 Chester Street
£134v

Feb 3rd 1869
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£f£135-37 letter and envelope, blue paper

Private
35 South Street, Feb 9/69
Park Lane, {printed address:}
W.
My dear Capt. Galton

I thank you very much
for sending me your paper
on W. O. Administration --

It is a very able paper --

I had heard of it before --
the ablest that has been
written since Sidney Herbert's
death. It might form

the guide to Mr. Cardwell

in his administration

But it won't.

I did not expect any
thing from any communication
of mine with Mr. Cardwell
Every body knows -- is it
not so? —-- that Messrs.
Cardwell & Childers were

£f135v

put in not as Ministers
but as Mr. Gladstone's
Secretaries. And as to

Mr. Gladstone, I knew even
in Sidney Herbert's time,
what his ideas on Army
administration were.

I enclose Lord de G's note,
because I said I would --
I have written the paper
on Sanitary things in the
I. O. which he asked for
(from June loth till now)
& sent it him.

I also enclose Mr. Cardwell's
note —-- which I think (I
hardly know why) a nasty
one.
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£f136
Please return me these two
notes -- & burn this.
ever yours
F.N.

envelope, f137

£137
Private
Capt. Douglas Galton
12 Chester Street
£f137v
9 UL/t 4.8 1800
Feb 9th. 1869

££138-41 letter blue paper

Most Private
35 South Street April 19/69
Park Lane {printed address:}
W.
My dear Capt Galton
All that I know of the [15:625]
"Knights of S. John of Jerusalem"
& of their work, -- principally
in the Sadowa campaign, --
is greatly to their disadvantage.
But I have heaps of these
people's papers. And if
you will allow me, I will keep
Sir E. Lechmere's letter, look
over my papers, & give you
a more settled answer to morrow.
For dirt, for insanitary
arrangements, for want of
all modern knowledge of the
laws of health of Hospitals,
the War establishments of
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£138v

"S. John" in Bohemia & Silesia,
including the Civil Surgeons &
attendants, including, I
regret to say, my beloved
Deaconnesses -- & men-nurses, --
were only to be equalled by
their arrangements for foul
sin & general want of
administrative power.

The contrast between these
voluntary efforts & those
of the Army Medical service
in Bohemia, Silesia &
Prussia, proper, was, I am
told by eye=witnesses, most
painfully striking.

One of these eye-witnesses
was the Crown Princess (our

£139

Princess) an exceedingly
clever little body, whose
ludicrous account to me
of their dirt & incapacity
was very unlike what
has been put forward
(falsely) in her name

But this is of course strictly
between you & me.

2.

By the way, Lieut: Ommanney
appears to be dead.
He gave me endless trouble
in January about a plan
for a 36 single=bed ward
Lying=in Hospital —-- which
plan was partly for the
Crown Princess. It is

now April -- And nothing

comes of it. Could you enquire? [end 15:625]
£139v

Also: I am doing Notes [8:216]

on Lying=in Hospitals --
something after the same
fashion as my "Notes on
Hospitals" with plans --
for which I have collected
a mass of curious facts.
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This ideal plan of Lt. Ommanney's was to have formed
one in the book. And also
Lieut: Ommanney or Col. (?)
Murray, promised Dr.
Sutherland to get me
a sketch ground=plan of
Q. Charlotte's Lying=in Hospital
(I would most gladly pay
any body who would go &
do it for me from your
Dept) & of some others.
But I have heard nothing
more of it.

Is it feasible? [end 8:216]
£140
3. I am glad to hear that [16:699]

you are going to preach at
Leeds on Hospitals. And
I will try to get up some

"ideas". But my advice
to you is: to dwell with
great force, -- grounded on

the experience of the "Herbert

Hospl," on the propriety

or necessity of organizing

insanitary measures to

fill the Hospitals. Otherwise

they will not do us justice. [end 16:699]
As for the Herbert Hospl, [8:459]

I am almost glad that

you do not mention a

thing I have heard, viz.

that Simon Magus (simon

of the Pr. Council Off:) has
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£f140v

been

What

£f141

over to inspect it --
& that there is talk of
its being handed over to
the Home Office for a
Hospital for 650 London
Prostitutes under the
"Contagious Diseases Act".
a nice destination --
worthy of the finest
Hospital in Europe,
as it is!

ever yours sincerely

F. Nightingale

The other day a poor woman

in Manchester blew herself
up with an escape of gas.
Some wild beasts were
passing in the street at
the time -- and they roared
with terror & broke
out of their wvan
that wild beast. And
the way in which the
Sanitary & administrative
work of the W. O. is
done now is the escape
(very dangerous) of gas.
And I roar with terror.
And if I don't break
out of my van, it is only
because I am not strong
enough.

F.N.

[end 8:459]
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draft, ffl142-44, light pencil {archivist: Draft of letter written by F.N. to

Capt Galton and dated 21. 4. 69} JS and FN

£142

[JS:]

The upshot of this appears to be that [15:591]
the Nights or Knights of St John want

you to help them to form a local

branch of the great Société de Secours.

There is no harm in this. You might

possibly put some practical strength

into them. Otherwise you may

serve under Sir G. Bowyer or Mr

Whalley or both together if you like.

[FN: ]

I have always declined.

I'd have nothing to do with the Société

I don’t understand now what Sir E. Lechmere

means. He mixes up the Société & the Knights. [end 15:591]

£143v pencil draft JS hand

first line illeg

[illeg] perhaps tracing [illeg]

[illeg] every purpose

But if it is as easy to draw

as to trace I should like the copies to be half linear size.

The plans I want done are

1. the basement to shew the beautiful sewer
traversing the building.

2. The 1st floor plan

3. The cross section on the sheet showing

the North elevation.

£144 pencil [very faint] JS rough hand

Capt. Galton

If you [illeg] off hand you must do so with the
view of improving the administration of the
order which I have every reason to know

was far from satisfactory during the last
German war. Perhaps the best thing

to do would be to go to their meeting

& here [yes] what they have to say & then

feel your way.
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signed letter, f£f145-48v, pen blue paper

£145
Private
35 South Street, April 21/69
Park Lane, {printed address:}
W. [15:625-26]
My dear Capt. Galton
After examining & weighing
& considering & digesting
(which is more than the
"Order of S. John" does)
I cannot come to any other
conclusion than that, if you
join the "Order", it can only
be for the express purpose
of improving its administration,
which I have every reason
to know was far from
satisfactory during the
last German War.
But, if I were in your
place, I should go to the
"meeting" they propose,

£145v

hear what they have to say;
& then you will be far
better able to judge for
yourself than I to advise
what to do.

2. I do not gquite understand

the exact relation of the

"Order of S. John" to the

"International Society" (which

has its conference this year

at Berlin & has

corresponded with me on

the subject.)

The "Order of S. John" always
talks as if 1T were the
"Internat: Socy:". But the
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fl46

"Internat: Socy" does not at
all talk as if it were the
"Order of S. John".

[Both wear the same Insignia
And these have been sent
to me.]

Sir E. Lechmere's letter only
makes this confusion worse
confounded -- since he
says "the great Internat:

Socy" the great Internat:
Socy: at whose conferences
this country has not

yet been represented".

This country has been

represented at every one

of its "Conferences" -- had

it is mainly owing to the

fldev

"representations" of Gr. Britain
that the "Society" has not
made itself more
ridiculous than it has
& that a sensible & not
over ambitious scheme
has been substituted for
what was perfectly
impracticable-- And, if it
had been practicable,
would have interfered
with all responsible
Govt action.



£147
Most Private [2]

3. Prince Charles of
Prussia is the "Grand Master"
of the "Order" in Germany --
which is, if not exclusively,
at least pre-eminently, &s
Protestant or (as they call it)
"Reformed".

Sir G. Bowyer (excellent
fool!) is, or calls himself,
the "Grand Master" of the
"Order of S. John of Jerusalem"
in England wearing
the same Insignia as the
German Order & "International"
"Socy" d wear.

Perhaps this (Sir G. Bowyer's)
to do with the "British
Section”™ or "English branch"

£147v

which Sir E. Lechmere
proposes.

But I would take very
good care to find out if
it has, if I were you.

Is Sir E. Lechmere a R.
Catholic? -

If it will be of any service
to you, I will tell you the
story of the collision of
Dr. Manning as Archbishop
& Sir G. Bowyer as "Grand
Master" (in which Dr.
Manning played rogue &
Sir G. Bowyer fool)
which ended with the
closing of the Hospital
in Gr. Ormond St., kept
by those admirable nuns

331

has nothing
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£148

who served so well with me
in the Crimean War

I appealed to Rome And
Rome sent orders to
Manning to re open the
Hospl, which he has
done -- under conditions
which must secure its
failure.

Have thou nothing to do
with that "Order of S. John"
which, by its folly,
interrupted a most
promising Institution.

4. The proposal as to what

the organization of the
"Internat: Society"
should do "in times of peace,"

£148v
was, as I saw it, simply
absurd.

Many thanks for your
letter of yesterday
I will answer it.
in great haste [end]
ever yours most truly
F. Nightingale
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signed letter, f£f149-51v, pen blue paper

£149
Private
35 South Street, April 24/69
Park Lane, {printed address:}
W.
My dear Capt. Galton
Is it true that Ld
Northbrook's Comm: has
upset Ld Strathnairn's
recommendations?
Tho' I am not at all
fond of the former, I
shall vow him an
eternal gratitude if he
has.

Lying-in Hospitals [8:216-17]
many thanks for your two notes.

"Charles Hawkins" was &
probably is "Surgeon Consulting"
to Q. Charlotte's --

=== T do not think that Col:

£149v

Murray said anything

more to Dr. Sutherland than

that "he could find

"some one -- not so good

"as Lt. Ommanney -- to

"go to Q. Charlotte's -- to

"take a plan." Any how,

I feel sure that nothing
was done -—-

[Dr. S. had asked him,
without my knowledge,
to send Lt. Ommanney]

I have no doubt that
QO Charlotte's has plans
which might be borrowed,



£150

if you are so good as to

do the drawings I need.

But it is rather awkward
for me to write to ask
permission for them

I have another object besides
merely writing a paper
in doing this enquiry, as
perhaps you know. viz:
our anxiety to re-establish
our Midwifery=Nurse School
(which was put a stop to
by the very high Mortality
in King's Coll: Hospl.)

Now all the Lying=in Hospls
in London have pestered
me to Joim place our School
with them. And Ch: Hawkins
applied not only to me
but formally to Harry B. C.

£150v

And I believe was

considerably mortified

by refusal

[The fact is that the

Mortality in Q. Charlotte's

has always been higher

than even in so bad a

Hospl as K. C. H.]

Dr. Edmunds of the British

Lying=in Hospl has come

to grief, which I am not

sorry for as he always

wanted us to join with

his very absurd Female

Medl Socy, which has, in

my opinion, done a great

deal of harm

All this makes it awkward
for me to ask favours.

Nevertheless, if you are so

334
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good as to do the
drawings, (when Mr.
Mennie comes back,)
& do not think you
can write for permission
to see the plans, if any --
I will put my scruples
in my pocket & write

To Q. Charlotte.

The Marylebone Lying-in

Workhouse wards are

certainly successful

Did you have plans

of them before your

Cubic space Comm:?

"Beggars should never

be choosers' -- else I

would "choose™ those, To00,

if you could kindly make

a drawing of those for

me too? I would gladly pay

f151v
for having these done --
ever yours most truly
F. Nightingale

I was aware of the
antagonism to Sidney
Herbert's memory --
which accounts for
many things which
would be otherwise
unaccountable

I did not know however
to what a pitch it had
risen.

I am sure H. R. H. was fond
of him once almost
too much in his hands
Perhaps this is a
re-action --

F.N.

335
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signed letter, f152, pencil pale blue paper, black-edged

£152
Capt Emerson 28th Regt {archivist:} 6/5/69
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
W.
My dear Capt. Galton

Could you kindly tell me
do what to do about this?

I have not the slightest
recollection of the persons named
[they surely are not Americans?]

And I am not in the least

an "influential person with the
"Duke of Cambridge" or with

any body else on this planet

Could you tell me anything
that I could suggest to her
as the way to compass what
she wants? --

-— by Medical board or otherwise?
ever yours
May 6/69 F. Nightingale
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signed letter, ff153-54v, pen blue paper [8:217-18]

£153
Queen Charlotte
35 South Street, May 6/69
Park Lane,
W.

My dear Capt. Galton

I am exceedingly obliged
to you for these Q. Charlotte's
plans --

I think there is little
difficulty in understanding
why the women die there.

As you are so good as to
ask me what plans I want
& how done, I answer:

if it is easier to do
tracings than copies,
tracings would answer
every purpose of mine --

if you propose to draw
instead of tracing, the
copies should be half linear
size for my purpose.

£153v
The plans which would be
essential for me are: --
1. the basement, -- to shew
the agreeable sewer traversing
the building
2. the first=floor plan
for Patients --
(the second floor
appears to be the same)
3. the cross section on
the sheet showing the
North elevation
I do not think it is
necessary for me to have
the two Elevations showing
the beautiful character
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£154
of the Architecture.
N.B. There appears to be
no Delivery Ward which
must much increase
the danger to the Patients.
There should be always
two such to be used
month & month about
& thoroughly cleansed
in the interval, month
& month about. Even
with this precaution the
danger of Fever seems
enormous
ever yours most truly
F. Nightingale
It appears that there is another

£f154v

floor, a top of all, for Servants
& Nurses -- so that the
Patients are in a sandwich
between a nice
arrangement.

There is also a trap-door in
ceiling of 2nd floor W. C.
compartment. But T
suppose this is not for
the aeration of the Nurses
above. If it is, it
would be instructive to
copy the 2nd floor plan
instead of the 1st floor --
for me -

F.N.
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signed letter, f155, pencil blue paper

£155
35 South Street, June 19/69
Park Lane, {printed address:}
W.
My dear Capt Galton
I hear that the "A Mr.
Lushington”™ is to be the new
Secretary to the Admiralty —--
Is this Godfrey Lushington?
I should be so glad --
in haste
ever yours
F. Nightingale
R.S.V.P.

signed letter, f156, pen blue paper

£156
35 South Street, 6/7/69
Park Lane, {printed address:}
W.

My dear Capt. Galton

You know this man, Major
Buckley. He was the Prince
of Barrack Masters.

Is there anything to be
done for him? --

I need hardly say that
my "influence" availeth
nought.

Is there any truth in the
rumour that Mr. Lowe is
going to upset all the
"Controlling" arrangements?

I am sure he ought --

ever yours
F. Nightingale

July 6/69
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signed letter, f£f157-58, pen

£157
35 South Street, Oct. 28/69
Park Lane, {printed address:}
W.

My dear Capt. Galton

About 3 years ago you were good
enough to procure some information for
me about a young man, son of my
mother's maid, who had foolishly
run away from a Clerk's place where
he was in receipt of an excellent salary
& enlisted as a soldier.

We are afraid that he has again
disappeared -- at least to us.

To save you trouble, may I subjoin
the description you procured for me
of him on Dec 18 1866.

Charles Henry Watson No. 19044 Depot
stationed at Warley Bombardier R. Artillery
ft inch
Height: 5 11%s Enlisted February 1866
Complexion: Fair Age at } Years Months
Eyes: Grey Enlistment} 21 4
Hair: Dark Brown Born at Kenilworth
Has been a Clerk &
Accountant
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£157v

Upon the receipt of this information, his
mother went down to see him &
all seemed going on very well about
him for 2 years when, on
August 17, 1868 he wrote to her from
Gravesend that he was "going away"

& would "let her know when he was
settled."

Since this, nothing at all has been heard
of him.

His mother, always hoping to hear from him
& unwilling, I suppose, to expose him,
only recently told me of this. She is
now, of course, most earnestly desirous
to hear any news of him whatever, if
only she could obtain any thro' your
kindness & that of the authorities

He is her only surviving child has been
brought up only too kindly & well
educated.

£158
His mother who is a widow a well
educated woman lived as Head Nurse
with me when I kept a Hospital in
Harley St. & has now lived for
many years with my mother as maid,
to whom her services are inestimable.
She is one of the best women I know.
I should be truly grateful to you if
you could procure us any
information as to what has
become of this very wilful youth.
Pray believe me
ever yours sincerely
Florence Nightingale
Capt. Galton
War office
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note, f158v, pen and pencil

£158v Galton note on embossed War Office re Herbert Hosp 21 Jan 1871 with
letter to Galton on embossed War Office re request of Miss N, forwards letter
of intro for Miss Torrance to Dr Inglis, CB, dy insp gen of hosp, PMO at
Herbert Hosp who will afford facility to Torrance

28 Oct 1869
answered: he deserted 18 July '68

£f159 DG to FN 21 Jan? 1870 embossed WO, heard re kitchen of Herbert Hosp

f160 DG to FN letter to ack his note in compliance with request of FN,
forwards letter of intro for Torrance to Doctor Inglis, CB, dep insp gen of
hosp PMO at Herbert Hosp, from Logan?

f161 covering note forwarding to FN from Galton 22 Jan 1870
f162 re Torrance, embossed something Jan 21/70

signed letter, ffl64-73v, pen and pencil blue paper

fle64
Address Lea Hurst {archivist: Sept—}
Matlock {11 Aug 1870}
Dr. Becher 35 South Street, {printed address}
Park Lane, [15:653-56]
W.
My dear Capt Galton
1. Would you look at this
note of Dr. Emil Becher's?
I should have thought that
the Govt might have waived
a point & allowed him
to volunteer for the North
German Confederation, as it
has expressed its willingness
to receive Surgeons "with
"the permission of our Govt"
But, of course, had it
been possible, you would
have told him so.
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fle64v
2. "Sick & Wounded Socy"

2. If you are permanently
in London, & if you attend
its Meetings regularly --
[I was thankful to see that
you were a Member, ] might
I correspond with you from
time to time about it? --

I am deluged with
applications of all kinds,
from French & German

Hospitals -- (many quite as
absurd as any from English
people -- which is saying a
good deal) -- “Journaux
Officiels' sent me from
France -- similar things from
f165

Prussia -- enquiries from English people what
kind of supplies the Comm:
will take -- where they are
to be sent what kind

of lint & bandages -- &c &c

applications from Nurses
volunteers as War: Nurses
With your permission, &
if you have time to attend:
regularly at the Meetings,
-— I would gladly pass some
of these applications
(excluding the last)
through you -- I being
in the full confidence
that all & my applications which
I forward direct to the
Office (8 at Martin's Place)
are never answered --
probably never even read
& the public sharing this my confidence
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f165v
in the fullest degree
What I gather from this
deluge of letters is: --
that no Advertisement has
appeared from the "Aid" Socy
(2 non-aid-endo) till
yesterday.
not even where to send money --
not even where its Offices are
[they conclude that its Offices
are: "Miss Nightingale: London"
sic]

[The consequence is that the Aid socy.
they have collected fewer

hundreds £ than the German
Association had a week

ago, collected thousands]

that, up to this day, no
advertisement at all has

f166
[2]
appeared as to
what kind of supplies they
will accept
what patterns should be used
where to send them -- i.e. any
supplies in kind.
Also,
the Socy is perfectly unknown
as a place where people
may apply for grants (from
the belligerent countries, I
mean.)
They the Socy must themselves have
seen advertisements in
the papers -- (these from people
who wrote to me --) for aid to
divers War=Hospitals --
e.g. Bishop of London
for Darmstadt
a retired Bengal Surgeon
at Bonn (Madden
Ranke, a Munich man,
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fle66v
& many others.

The only "List of articles
required" was published
by a man (Von Ernsthausen)
in no connection with our
Socy, in London --

And this is the only List
that I have had to send
about to people who,
receiving no answer from
the Socy, have asked me.

I am a very poor publicist.

But I should have thought,

if the Socy had been in
hiding from its creditors,
instead of being an Aid Socy,
it could not have had a

more complete success.

f167

I should have thought
it ought to have had a
Ladies' Comm: in every
provincial town to collect
sums of money, tho smallest
& tho supplies most wanted.

I should have thought it
ought to have advertised
in every London daily paper,
daily, immediately above
the "Theatrical announcements,
(gratis) what it would
accept, with all particulars

of pattern, kind & place
[There is not a creature
of those who have written
to me who knows even
where its Offices are.]

I should have thought that the very way
not to collect money was to allow
all these little advertisements, Bp of London's
Madden's &c &c to appear, instead of there
being one great Central subscription.

[The public gets puzzled & subscribes to
none.] to make grants to others.
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[3]
3. Many absurd things are
sent me from the belligerents
(as well as some information
which might be valuable if
the "Aid Socy" Office were an
Office)
I have been asked to lay the marked passage
in the enclosed "Journal Officiel"
before the "Aid Socy". The
person who sends it me
does so with the following
interpretation: --
"by it they will see that
the money which is not
actually required goes
into the Treasury -- just
what was anticipated --
& so the people
(this, I suppose, 1is fact.
F.N.)
£f168
[3]
"have decided to keep their
own collections, & dispose
of them as they please
for the benefit of widows
& orphans, wives & children
-- & for any sick that may
be sent them" --

The sender goes on to imply
that, if the "Aid Socy." does
not send its grants direct
to these particular places
especially "temporary Hospls",
about establishing which, it is stated,
"not one word is said" (by
the French Govt) -- the
Aid Socy's gifts will go
"into the Treasury" too

Now I don't see what is
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fle8v
implied (by the writer sender,) in the Article
I see that "objets non utilisables"
are sold -- & the money
placed in the "Trésor" to
"contribuer au bien-étre des
"soldats blessés."
[There are "blés" & "chevaux" too
which of course cannot
apply to what we collect.]
Also: have we anything to
do with "Préfets" & "Ministres
"de 1'Intérieure"? I mean,
grants from our "Aid Socy"
go to the Branch Organizations
(Red Cross) at Berlin or at
Paris, do not they? -- which
have nothing to do with
"Préfets" & "Départements de
la Guerre, de "l1l'Intérieur" &c

£f169

-— I have no doubt it may be

a fact that country populations

in France are now in such

open enmity to the Govt that

they do keep their gifts back,

under the conviction that their

money goes into the "Trésor".
But I should be glad

to re—-assure my correspont

& be re-assured myself that

this Paragraph does not

affect us at all, if you

can tell me so, & that

the (Red Cross) International

Organization has nothing

whatever in common with

this Para: (or with the French

Ministry --)
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4. I have the most deplorable
accounts from France which
I have no doubt are true: --
"pauvre stricken people’
"bowed down with the sad
news'
‘something bewildering'
"anxious excitement of the
last 2 days never seen since
1814"'.

then again

‘not one word from Govt
(French) about establishing'
"temporary Hospitals"

£170
(4]

4. a I see, in to-day's "Daily News",
"the Committee (at 8 St Martin's P1l)
"hope to be able to do more
"when the machinery of this
"Society i1s better known to
"the public who may wish

"to contribute help".

Why, in the name of wonder,
what has the Socy done to
make itself "better known"?
If it had been "Sick & Wounded'
itself, what could it have
done less? —--

I declare that I have not met
with a single person, or heard
from a single person, who
knew that it had an Office,
or where its Office was —--
or that it accepted subscriptions,
or supplies -- And not till

£f170v

yesterday's "Times" have I
seen that it advertised at
all -- even for money
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Mrs. Cox
5 [5]

I have received a letter
(enclosed) from Mrs. Cox,
wife of Col: Cox of the Crimea,
addressed to your Aid Socy,
which I don't know that
I have any right to keep
back, (she encloses it to me.)

I will therefore, with your
permission, send it thro' you --
and it is only one of the many
I shall have to send, if you
permit.

I must however premise
that I do not endorse it.

"Miss N. to give directions"
[I expressly told her that I could
not "give directions" --]

"to be on her system" --
[what she means by being on my

"system" is to receive supplies

£f171v

as sufficient from us as
I was able to give Col: Cox's
Hospitals in the Crimea]

"Sisters of Charity to do the Nursing" --
[They certainly don't "nurse"

"on my system", tho' I am very
fond of them & have served
under & over them]

"Col: Cox established 2 Hospitals
for Miss N. in the Crimea" --

[He did not establish any --
All the Hospitals I "established,"
I "established" myself --
I supplied him with Hospital
Stores, (which I believe were
very well used,) because Stores,
otherwise sent, too often went

into Military Stores -- (the
authorities had no time to
issue them) -- and -- never

came out again.]
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[5]

With these provisos, I don't
at all wish to check the
Comm:'s liberality, (if it has
anything to be liberal with.)to
Calais St. Pierre.

The distress in France must
be dreadful. The supplies
which Mrs. Schwabe & others
sent off to the German Hospls
on the Rhine would have been
delayed for weeks, 1if they
had waited for the "Aid Socys".
So, It is possible that the "Aid
Socy" might open a communication
with French Hospls at the
front thro' a Depot at Calais --
in unison with the "Red Cross' --

At all events I have no
right to keep back poor
Mrs. Cox's letter:

£173
6. I send you another
"Journal, Official"
with the List of the Civil
Hospitals which have
put beds at the service
of the Wounded
Also: —--
a Journal de Lille
(Préfecture du Nord) --
I will send these to-morrow --

I should not be sorry (if
you are so good) 1f you
would send on: this "Journal
Officiel"™ to Dr. Sutherland --
& also this letter, if you like --
But please, if you are so
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kind as to write to me, £
write to me first --
(Lea Hurst
Matlock.) [end 15:656]

I should like to have this
"Journal Officiel™ again,
(I must answer my correspond
about it, as soon as I hear
from you --) unless you
think it can be of the
least use at 8 St. Martin
Place.
Also, I should not be sorry
if you liked to let Sir Harry
Verney see this letter. It may
help him -- [end]
in great press
ever yours sincerely
F. Nightingale

signed letter, £f£f174-75v, pen blue paper, {archivist:

£174 Lea Hurst
Matlock
35 South Street, {printed address:}
Park Lane,
W. Aug 12/7

My dear Capt. Galton

I send you, at Mrs. Cox's request
the "Mémorial de Lille" a Préfecture du
Nord paper

FN to Sir Galton}

She wants you to look at the Paragraph: -- building

handed over for a Hospl for Wounded at
Dunkirk. But I want you to look at the "Comité
des dames de Lille" Paragraph.
That is what they are doing in every
provincial town in France in every
town & village in the N. German Confederation
That is what the "Aid Socy" ought to be
doing in every provincial town in Great
Britain by means of a Ladies' Committee
for supplies in money & in kind.
I am glad to see that there is a
faint beginning at advertising in the
"Times".
But, excuse me if I say that, for the
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purposes of an immediate & urgent Subn
for present dreadful necessities,
the printed sheet, issued by the
"Central Comm:" is quite useless, tho'
very good in itself.
People look upon it as an appeal to
subscribe to a Social Science Association
or to an Agricultural Improvement Soc"
What is wanted is: daily:
3 or 4 lines representing in a few
striking words the numbers & necessities
of the wounded -- Mannheim -- Treves --
&c &c &c -- known, (pardon me for saying
so —--) to every one whose intelligence is not
obscured by official intimations of the
Aid Socy
These ought to appear every day in every
daily London paper —-- in every provincial paper

£175
(immediately above the Theatrical announcement)

Every day ought to appear the List of
Articles wanted the acknowledgment of
those received. [No one I hear from knows what
is wanted -- where to send.]

It makes me mad to see the "Voysey
Defence Fund" -- what does it signify
whether Voysey" is "defended" or not? --
the "Derby Memorial Fund" -- what does
it signify whether Ld Derby has a "Memorial"
or not? the &c &c in the most
prominent place of Acknowledgments
in the "Times" day after day --

The "German National Comm:" have got
I am delighted to see, £26,000. They
advertise. Why can't we get that & more?

O wonderful! -- O wonderful! O wonderful!

But, if you don't hold up to people the
necessities & suffering of the Wounded
it is not wonderful. Those "Resolutions
of General Committee:" won't get a sixpence.
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Could not Col. Lindsay & one or two
others on the Comm: go round & call Meetings,
in the Provinces & start Ladies' Committees

You would oblige me very much if you
would show this letter with its enclosures
to Sir Harry Verney, or forward it to him.

I don't pretend to know what should

be done in publicizing. There must
be many things to be done beyond what
I have suggested --

I enclose also a List from a "Journal
Officiel" (which has been sent me)
of the Civil Hospl in France which
up to the end of last week had offered
beds for the Wounded

It is terrible to think of the distress in
France.

ever yours most truly
Florence Nightingale

signed letter with envelope, ££f176-78, pen and pencil
f176

{front of envelope}

to be forwarded

Capt. Galton C.B.
12 Chester Street
Belgravia
London S. W.

f176v {back of envelope}

{PENCIL IN UNKNOWN HANDWRITING}:
Aug 19th tr
Sep 9 1870
Please return this letter
next week
13 August 1870
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£177
Lea Hurst
Matlock Aug 25/70 [15:682-83]
My dear Capt. Galton
I hear that you are come back. Pray
excuse -- me if you are not
I send to-day this poor Mrs. Cox's letter
(the same Mrs. Cox, from whom I sent
a letter to the Aid Socy before thro' you.)
I have put in the names again which she
had scratched out & send a previous
letter by way of explanation.
Dr. Darnell is a very able Administrator,
Sanitary & Medical, Anglo=French Doctor

I hear from the Aid Socy that they have

been advised from France not to send
Medical comforts, still less money, unless in
the care of some one who will see them
properly employed.

This may come from you —-- Any how I
shall be most anxious to hear what
advice you bring.

It is a very strong impression in France

£177v
that the Govt takes every thing it can
lay its hands on for the general
purposes of the War -- even gifts for Wounded
I don't say a word for or against this poor
woman's petition (that the Aid Socy
will send some help direct to Calais
Or I will, if you like it.)
Of course, as a general rule, it is better
to work only thro' the Paris & Berlin Societies
[Also: of course our Aid Socy is right to
accept only things & money for both sides
—-— not "to accept subsns solely for the French"
(this in reference to Mrs. Cox's expression in her
letter)

I will write to her whatever you recommend
or not write at all.

I hear that the Prussian Armies before Metz
have not only "enormous" numbers of Wounded
but Dysentery & Ophthalmia owing to bad
food & sleeping in the wet fields - that there
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£178
is "encombrement" every where in the
Hospitals --

[pray don't let Col: L. Lindsay
write such nonsense as that about
"preventing pestilence in Hospitals
by Condy's Fluid" -- (v. to-day's Times) .]

that the disorder & disorganization
of the French even in the Camp at Chalons
was excessive -- no food -- no lodging --
hence disease

just what you said --
that Thiers & Trochu are for the moment
the centres of France; & may be in
a few days at the head of a
Gouvernement Provisoire -

I shall be most anxious to hear
what you think about the Aid Society's
operations -- [end 15:683]

Did you bring Evelyne home with you?

in great haste (but I shall have
to trouble you again)
ever yours sincerely
F Nightingale

unsigned letter, f£f179-80, pen
£179
Lea Hurst
Matlock Aug 26/70
My dear Capt. Galton
Excuse my asking you
about my Floors now —-
on the ground that I have
been intending to ask you
every day for a month -- but
Do you remember being
so good as to recommend
Myers, the Herbert Hospl
contractor, to stop the joints,
plane & varnish two of my
floors in a durable manner,
after the French fashion.
A month ago he came &
looked at my floors (they
have been so prepared
already but with so little
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£179v
durability that they have
had to be done 3 times
in 4 years)
I enclose his note.
The floors are: a bed-room
& dressing room.
Would you kindly say
whether you think I should
accept his offer -- but
whether I may decline the
more expensive ome part (the
French polishing) Also: how long it ouGHT to last in a bed-room
which has ~NoT Hospital wear &
tear?
{THE ABOVE "Also: how long it ouGHT...' extends into £180}

{£179v CONTINUED}

I had rather not have it
done at all this year -- for
money 1s short with me.

But I suppose floors
get worse, i1f not looked to

£180
Was that your
letter in Times of
Thursday, signed D.G.?
VERY interesting.
But why did
they head it
"French Prisoners"?
{THE ABOVE SEVEN LINES ARE WRITTEN SIDEWAYS AT BOTTOM OF PAGE}



357

signed letter, f£f181-84, pen blue paper

£181
Lea Hurst
Matlock Sept 9/70
My dear Capt. Galton
Thank you very much
for your kind advice about
my "Floors' -- I have written
to Mr. Myers to begin the
"Varnishing" process &c (not the

French polishing) -- as Parquet
is too dear for me -- I dare
say 2 years' will last my

time.

I was quite ashamed to
trouble you at all about it --
knowing that you are so busy --

& fearing that you were much
knocked up with your hurried
journeys -—-

I cannot talk about the

£181v
unutterable woe & horror of
the misery of this War.
the baseness & frivolity of
the "Times" & the English,
when such a convulsion of
agony is closing round the poor
world —--
(the Guillotine of the Great
Revolution was merciful

compared to this) -- and when
none can tell but that Prussia's
military supremacy —-- urged by

the popular clamour which
Bismark himself has raised.
may bring about terms so hard
that they can only endimg in a disastrous universal
European war —-- preceded by
a disastrous universal armed
peace. Poor France! poor
world!
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BurN
Private
I quite agree with you

as to the very bad effect,
the great want of judgment,
of Col: L.L's letter about
the exporting guns --

which I never heard of

till after it was done.
But why did you not

prevent it? --
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I think they the "Socy" have done such

wonders, grabbing together
£ 100 000 & stores --
especially when one thinks
of the desperate state

they were in not more

than 3 weeks ago -- &

how hard Col: L. L. & Sir H.
V. have worked.

£182v
that I don't like to be
always pecking at them,
tho' I answer freely when
I am asked.
[They would not ask me
about the letter which you
deplore.]
But they do want -- 1. a man
of great practical ability.
(somebody like Sir J. Lawrence,
2. some official experience
3. some knowledge of the world,
the great international
middle=class professional
world of England, France &
Germany —-- 4. some Agent
& Correspondent out there
of the calibre of a "Times"
Correspondt, I don't mean
to write, but to organize & report



£183
Private
Capt. Brackenbury's & Col:

L. Lindsay's letters in the
"Times" are very good (of
this morning.) But they
are the first which have
been good- except perhaps
some of the Surgeons' --

I wish there were somebody
to tell Col: L. L. what a
bad effect e.g. Mr. Furley's
letters have. He may be
doing his work well -- but
no one could tell it from
his letters -

And it has such a bad
effect to be told
that "21 cigars" & "19 blankets"
& "5 bottles of wine" were
"distributed"
that so & so "got up early" in the
morning

359
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£183v

& the superhuman efforts to
procure "a cart"!

in a catastrophe of ten times
the magnitude of the
Crimean one

when as many hundreds of
blankets & of bottles of
wine were given out
every day as units appear to
be given here on one --

& when, if any body had
been in bed, certainly every
body "got up early" --

But the Surgeons' letters are
good --

It appears however as if we
ought to be pouring in
Hospital marquees, blankets,
wine, food, medicines, linen
at about 100 times the rate we

£184
BURN
are doing.

Major de Winton here is
doing his work well.

Could you not, without
quite killing yourself, give
them a little help & advice
-— as you only can? --

I had rather be poor McMahon now
do you know? -- than Mr.
Cardwell, Ld Northbrook & Storks -- in the
event of an Buropear universal war.

in great haste
(I would not have written
today but that I did not
like delaying longer to thank
you) —-- please thank Marianne
for her 2 kind notes -- ever yours
truly F. Nightingale
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signed letter, f£f185-88, pen

£185
PrivaTe {UNDERLINED FIVE TIMES}
35 South St. 4 Nov/70 [15:732-34]

My dear Capt. Galton

I have great scruple -- I have no scruple
in asking you to be so very good as to look
over this packet to return it to me & to
tell me (or Sir Harry Verney) what you
think the Committee had better do.

From all the private letters I have
seen, the £20 000, given by your Committee
to the Prussian Sick & Wounded before Paris,
seems to have vast difficulty in reaching
those for whom it is intended.

These letters of Miss Rumpff's make
one shudder that, when such assistance
is at hand, men should literally be dying
of want of some of the first necessaries for
sick.

She writes in the garrulous German way
But I think she speaks the truth

What then should be done?

£185v

I have obtained from the "Aid Society"
Committee (thro' Sir H.) £50 -- to be paid
in French gold thro' Dr. Guy to Miss
Rumpff. [This is the first & only

thing I have ever obtained
out of your £260 000 --
Never mind that.]
I do not want more for her.
What one feels is that, if she or any one
appears to be spending, somebody else
will save The whole thing is rotten.
What is to be done? --
1.
What I should have thought the best thing
if it could be done would be for you
to go over to Versailles & to look into the
facts, as regards the Stores, the Society's
agents, & the real wants of the Patients.
[Nothing of the kind seems to have been
done]
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2. What Sir Harry wants me to do is: --
to write him a letter about the
wants of the Hospitals & ambulances
before Paris & for him to send it
(my letter) to the Crown Prince to
induce him (the C.P.) to look into
the distribution & immediate
application of our £20 000 to
the wants of the Ambulances:
This I do not like to do.
I do not think that we shall be able
to influence the expenditure now of
the £20 000.
Every body knows that it is there
And it must all pass through the
hands of the War Minister.
It is doubtful if even the Crown Prince
could influence it.
Any interference within the Hospitals
would be resented.

fl86v
3. The stores, however, (our Agents' stores)

require to be placed on a better footing

They should be more accessible
[Of course Miss Rumpff's way of putting

this part of the case must be separated

from the case itself.
She writes with a certain arrogance.]

4. The "Society" should also be looking
after THEIR own Ambulance
The sooner the better.
They should not scruple to save upon
it, if the circumstances are not such
as to render the whole expenditure
as beneficial as was intended.

5. What we want now is a rigid economy
in grants & a better system of applying
the remaining funds.

Please give me your opinion on all
these 5 points. [I have said that I would ask
you & have been encouraged to do so.]
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£187
[2] PRIVATE
6.
N.B. I have had another noble & touching letter
from the Crown Princess (which I think
I will trouble you to read, as soon as
I know where you are) --

And it has been suggested to me that, in
replying to it, I might mention generally
that I had had very bad accounts of
the state of German Sick & severely wounded men
taken from Versailles Hospitals to be sent home
without due clothing or comfort in
this cold weather -- & suggest that
perhaps some of the our £20 000 might be
devoted to this object?

[T might do this, but I don't think much
would come of it.]
Sir Harry might write similarly to the
Crown Prince at Versailles
What do you say?
[The whole Prussian Hospital administration
requires reform
So far as one can see, these Versailles Hospital
would require the entire produce of the our Fund
to make them endurable to humanity]

£187v
7. Would you kindly let me see any
Report you have written to the Committee
(I have seen nothing)
[Hy. B.C. tells me that you have reported
all the measurements &c of Hospital huts
&c 1n the Rhine Lazareths --]

also: -- anything that you have written which
touches on those questions of mine
as to the working of the Red Cross &
the temporary Hospital accommodation
you would recommend for it to adopt.
(which questions Sir Harry tells me
he showed you)
I am so anxious to see all that you
have written --
May I add this ----- that
the Committee have received vast & most
valuable information -- quite enough to form
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conclusions & guide their course.

They appear not to read their own
letters nor to read each other's letters
& no précis seems to be written (or spoken)
of all the information they receive
for the modification or direction of
what they do or should do --

[I have myself found, in their own
letters, information which, they said
they were without.

With a tithe of the information they
have already, important conclusions
might be drawn.

E.g. on this one matter of what has
been done with their £20 000 at
Versailles, one would think the Committee
would be most eager for information.

They have not even read what they have
received themselves !!]

ever yours sincerely,
Florence Nightingale
Do not show
any more letters
of mine to
Col. L.L. to
"make him
angry"
FN [end 15:734]
{ " Do not show
any more letters...' WRITTEN SIDEWAYS IN RIGHT CORNER}
Private
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unsigned letter, £f189-92, pen and pencil

£189
PRIVATE 35 S. St. Nov 12/70
{ "PrivaTe' UNDERLINED 4 TIMES}

My dear Capt Galton
I scribbled these questions before it
was light this morning,according to your
desire, but simply as a sort of
guide to elicit questions from you (& Dr.
Sutherland of him more anon.
The difficulty in answering them for
the Abstracter will be undoubtedly this: --
-- to see what are the facts in the
correspondence which do bear upon
the points -- & to give these without
a particle of the Abstracter's own opinions
[This is not so easy as people think,
as you & I know.]
It would be better if a person of
considerable experience could mark the
points (in the corresponde) to be abstracted
To see exactly what the experience has been
to deduce the principles if any such appear
to obviate at once some existing difficulties
is of course the of immediate object of such
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Abstract

Ultimately, I suppose, 1t is quite
possible that other Red + Societies
& other countries may be doing the same
thing -- & that general rules for future
guidance will have to be agreed to by
all.

2: A careful overhauling of the correspondence
by an experienced person would, I am

certain, suggest many more points of

detail than I have included in these

questions -- which ought to be attended

to in future.

3. To reply to many of the questions
would involve no much experience

as is not (?) possessed by many Army men

of long standing

4. And on the other hand there might be

£190
invaluable hints all bearing on
the replies -- which the abstracter
might overlook from want of
technical experience.
5. And it is possible that the Abstracts
might answer questions which we
cannot put at present (as above said)

Now for Dr. Sutherland:
I sent him my scribbled questions,
with a general explanation of what we
wanted, & asked him to add to,
alter, enlarge, modify mine.

As usual with that luminary: --
he does not answer mine, but proposes
something else which I had told him
was quite impossible.

He proposes (in view of the above difficulties
which I did not suggest to him, but which
of course he feels more strongly than I do)
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+s that the Committee should send
the whole corresponde to me.
(as 1f they would do such a thing!!)
that I -- he offers his help to do it here --
should mark out the proper passages
to abstract
Emily Verney, he says, might get the letters
in detachments, bring them here,
I mark out the points,
she abstract them & shew me the Abstract

He also proposes that they should have
a copy made at the W.O0. (which
I suppose is utterly out of the question)

I merely mention this to you, because
I think there is reason in what he says --
tho' it is wvery aggravating to be talked
impossible reason to -- [And I had
told him that it was impossible]
You may be able, 1F you agree, to suggest

f191
[2]

some middle or possible course
so that Emily Verney may not be launched
in a sea of corresponde without much
or any technical experience under a
head of Iess than any to answer
questions which only long=standing
Army men fully understand

[I am certain that, if my name appears in
it at all, th=t it will put a stop to
the whole thing.]

Dr. Sutherland condescends to say that the
questions are so full he can't add to
them -- but advises us to keep
the questions till we get the Abstracts
& THEN ANSWER THEM
[There is some sense in that --
the only thing is: it is I suppose impossible]
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[Do not suppose that I am always
in a “fronde' against our poor Society

On the contrary. I think there is
evidence that you have done more good
than all the Orders acting under rules.

What has been pointed out to me is: --
that the directing head must have
technical knowledge & skill, experience,
Or uncommon common sense & judgment
that he has none
& that the want of this has been the
want here.
This however has been -- Alas! , much more
abundantly true with the other Societies --
e.g. Prince Pless
I do not know M. de Flavigny.]

£192

An old letter of mine will accompany
this: I don't know that it is any use your
sending it. It might suggest some
points

Please return it as soon as read

It is quite private
N.B

I have been told on private information
(which I don't wvouch for) that now

in the Pr. Army before Paris a German/Prussian
superior Medical Officer is placed in &
over every foreign (neutral) ambulance
& that the only reason why this has not
hitherto been done in ours (Dr. Guy's) is: —--
that they have only one Patient, a casual.

The above is a matter of the highest
importance for our Society to find out
And only they can do it. But they don't
care to do it.
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notes, ff193-200, pen and pencil

£193
Merely a few examples
of Questions by way of
beginning
Matériel
1. what Store accounts
are kept?
what should be kept?

what regular information
was supplied from
Committee's Depots abroad
to Comm: at home
as to amount of stores
from time to time
in hand at Depots?

What should be made?

what tables or estimates
of quantities of various
articles required for a
given No of men per day
were made?

What should be made?

what were the steps
taken for obtaining
information?
were these sufficient?
if not that should be taken?

what invoices & lists were
made or required?
2. what shall be made?
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A few scattered examples
of Questions
35 South Street,
Park Lane,
W.
{35 South Street,
Park Lane,
W.' PRINTED LETTERHEAD}
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should each Nation have

its own complete Ambulances
or help the Ambulances

of Belligerents with
material & personnel?

is it the Belligerent's custom
to place a superior Medical
Officer of its own over
neutral Ambulances?

IF so, how does it work?

how can the movement
of Patients be best directed?
-— how 1is it directed? --

if complete Ambulances are

to be sent by each Nation
what are their best sizes?

how best to use
international Surgeons?

with an Army?

b..in villages & outlying cottages

what kind of agreement
could am foreign Aid Society
best make? -- for these!
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2. should women be 2. Women nurses

sent as Nurses? --

if so, how to insure

their services being

used? —--

whether with their own

special ambulance or

to be attached to other,

ormre two here, orme two there?
how best to use

international Nurses?

upon what condition should
women nurses , if any,
be sent one? --

where do they fail?
where succeed? --

what are the causes of such
failure or success?

£195
Orderlies 3. same question as
Infirmiers

to
or Orderlies

what provision has been
made, by means of a Civil
(Men's Nursing Order, by

Volunteers,

or otherwise,)

to supply an adequate
number of properly
qualified men-nurses

to both Belligerent sides?

what provision could be

made? --

how far have Military
Orderlies been employed?
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5.

f196v
6 as to temporary. or
improvised
bed & bedding?

as to temporary or
improvised utensils?
specially for means
of cleanliness?

as to temporary or
improvised kitchens?
kitchen arrangements?
immediate supply of
hot cooked food?
water? —--

stimulants?

&C

as to clothing for sick
& wounded who have had
theirs compulsorily destroyed?

£197
7 as to transport
a. of wounded?
b. sick?
c. supplies
to battle field?
to Ambulances?
to Hospitals?

372

(5 As to mortality?

specially among operation cases)
what to be attributed

to the crowding in closed
buildings? or without

beds? or want of cleanliness?
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ex. 8
1. What are the methods
in use in the two Armies
for supplying the Hospitals?
where are the weak points?
in what way could we
avoid these?

£198v

2. what are the weak
points in the Red Cross
Societies' work?

What would be the

best direction to give
to give to the Red Cross
Societies' work?

What kind of temporary
Hospital accommodation
should be used by the
Red Cross Societies?

what organization,

what instructions & authority
has experience shewn

to be best given to

Red Cross Societies'

agents?

£199
3. organization for
carrying wounded as
quickly as possible off
Battle fields
what is? --
what should be?

=== as to searchers?
bearers?
surgeons?
Nurses?
supplies brought to
the ground as soon
as firing has ceased?
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4. organization for
attending to Sick & Wounded
immediately round battle
field?
What is?
What should be
recommended?

as to Sick & Wounded in towns?
in villages?
in scattered
country houses?
in ditches, under
trees, hedges,
in holes where
they have dragged themselves
for safety?
in Ambulances?

£200

I. I 1. what should be relation
of English Red + Society

to other Red + Societies?

to Belligerent Head Quarters

to their own Inspecting
people?

to their own Agents?

what the power of the

Agents over supplies &
money?
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signed letter, f£f201-02v, pen, black-edge pale blue paper

£201 35 South Street, Jan 3/71

Park Lane, {printed address:}

W.

My dear Capt. Galton

Perhaps you will like to see
the acknowledgment of Madame
Werckner, of Breslau, for your
Committee's £100.

I told her that I was only
the spokeswoman of your Comm: --—
But, as I wrote at some length
about the general operations
of the Society, of which Germans
really know nothing -- & also to
impress her with the fact
that the Society's grants were
for the Sick & Wounded, I suppose
she thought it more convenient
to herself to answer me, unless
she has also written to your

£201v

Committee, of which I gave her
the address --

Please make any use of the letter
you like, & then return it to
me. [I shall try to get her
something from our "Widows' &
Orphans' Fund "Committee.]

I cannot doubt, from so many
various sources which write
to me, that the sickness &
mortality among the French
prisoners in Germany is very
heavy. It is quite absurd to
make any Statistical calculation
at present -- But, if it were
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ultimately to turn out that,
what with Dysentery, Typhus
& small pox, acting upon
underfed or 111 fed & half
clothed bodies, the Total
Death-rate, as has been
roundly asserted, will not
be much under 50 per cent,
it will not be very surprising.
Far from attributing it to German
unkindness in Germany. I
have not doubt that the
prisoners have, on the whole,
been not ill=treated -- But
the LoNG journeys by slow open trains
have been frightful to men & boys
almost starveding. And we must

£f202v

remember how utterly exhausted
they were before these -- [Even
German authorities describe
their state on arriving as
lamentable]

As for the Johanniter, there will
be a heavy reckoning to their
account some day. There
cannot remain now the
slightest doubt that they
have diverted the funds,
German, English & French,
subscribed for the Sick &
Wounded, to the use of the
Army —-- & also the goods —--
I shall have a good deal to say
about this -- but not now --
ever yours most truly
F. Nightingale
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signed letter, f£f203-04v, pen

£203 35 South Street, Jan 12/71 [15:761-62]
Park Lane, {printed address:}
W.
My dear Capt. Galton
Very many thanks for your letter & its
enclosures. I will act upon all you have
said

I am afraid you will think that la
reconnaissance n'est qu'un vif sentiment
des bienfaits futurs when however I begin
again: --

Dr. Laseron (I dare say you know all
about him -- he is the Director of a miniature
Deaconess' Institution at Tottenham here
—-— & has been since the very beginning of
the horrors, since Gravelotte, at work
always in the thick of them with several
of his Deaconesses)

Dr. Laseron returns next Tuesday
to 3 of his Deaconesses now managing in an
Ambulance near Orleans with Hospital
requisites which he has come to England
to fetch -- Meat & Soup Extract, indeed every

£203v

thing is, as you know, wanted & every thing
he will be happy to convey to the Hospitals
of Orleans.

Dr. Laseron 1is immensely indebted to English
help in general, & to your Committee, I
believe, in particular & always tells the
Prussian authorities that he could have
done nothing without you

I do not want to press his claims --

(possibly he may have gone to St. Martin's
Place by this time himself -- but I do not
think he has --) as your Committee

has such magnificent operations of its own
on the Loire. But the wants there are

like a Maelstrom which swallows every
thing up. Dr. Laseron is an excellent
channel for sending things -- And I shall
send something by him, sure that he

will hold on to his goods, like grim Death,
till he has got them actually into his Patients'
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mouths or on their backs --
But what I can do is of course
the merest trifle compared with what
another grant from your Committee
could do for him, either in money or goods:
I write in haste, as Tuesday is near.
I was very glad of your Nos. 6 to 8. But
if the Committee would publish a great
many more of these, it would please
the Contributors
I hope you are better --

Please thank Marianne very much for
her letters which I am going to answer -- But
she must excuse my hurry. The reason of
my missing her letter was that she directs
to 32, not 35. [32 is Sir Harry Verney's now

let -- & let every year. I have not been there for 7
years -—- Of course all depends upon the good nature
£204v

of strange servants whether I get my letters
directed there. It was my little maid
Temperance, who suggested that the
missing letter was there -- & went &
routed it out. For 3 months a
business letter from India to me from the
G. G. once lay there thrown into a
drawer by the careless servants of a stranger
This is 35 {UNDERLINED THREE TIMES} And it was at 35 that I once
had
the pleasure of seeing Evelyne to tea -- [end 15:762]

ever yours most truly
F. Nightingale
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signed letter, f£f205-06, pen, black-edged paper

£205
Embley -- Romsey March 7/71
My dear Capt. Galton
I know not what I can do with the
enclosed letter from Mrs Cox but send

it to you.

[You see that she does not wish her
name to be mentioned -- And I think she is
right].

I do not wish at all to advise as to
what should be done with the remains of your

Fund. But I concur with her as to what
should not be done -- I mean that I could
£206

corroborate her statement from my own
former personal experience & from what
I have learnt during this War -- viz. that gifts
given in the way proposed (if it is
proposed) only go to save some Civilian
or Military pocket -- to enrich some Intendant
or Econome -- ITt—= not to bring additional
comforts to the Patients -- but to supply them
instead of the Governments, the Administration
or the proper authority supplying them --
But I can only state this -- as my experience
I cannot advise as to things I do not know
Please send the letter to Emily Verney after
you & Marianne have read it.
[But do not show it in Committee]

By the way, has anything come of the "Heads
of Questions" & Précis of the Society s experience
-- of Col. & Mrs. L. Lindsay's letters?
in haste
ever yours sincerely
F. Nightingale
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signed letter with envelope, f£f207-09v, pen pale blue, stamped,

£207 {FRONT OF AN ENVELOPE}
Capt. Douglas Galton CB

(or Mrs. D. Galton)

12 Chester Street

Belgravia

London S.W
£f207v {BACK OF AN ENVELOPE}
DATED BY ARCHIVIST

March 9th -- 1871
£208 black-edged paper

Embley -- Romsey March 8/71 [15:784-05]

My dear Capt. Galton

I send you 2nd part of Mrs. Cox's letter
I suppose the Committee will consider it due to the
subscriber to keep money-subscribed for the "Sick
& Wounded" for that purpose.
They might however contrive some organization for
its reaching the "halt & maimed" after the Peace as
Mrs. Cox proposes —-- other than the Hotels Dieu"

Ought not she to apply for "Widows & orphans" to
"Widows & Orphans" Committee? Unfortunately, there
is in this Comm: no fixed responsibility, no reasonable
arrangement by which French & Germans should share

can
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& share alike -- I know of French applications which
have been (not refused but) entirely ignored. All goes
to Germany.

I believe that all Mrs. Cox here says (in the
letter I now enclose) about Prussian Hospitals is true
everywhere.
The Prussian War Hospls are systematically bad.
The French War Hospls only accidentally bad.

i.e when you see the best (really organized) Prussian
Hospital, you see how bad it is.

when you see the best (really organized) French

Hospital, you see how good it is.

The Prussians don't intend to give their Patients
every possible chance of recovery.

As to what Mrs. Cox says about feeding, all
thro' this War I have felt that "Hospital treatment"
was a case of beef & porter beer or soup & wine.

Miss Lees, who had the charge of & Prussian
Hospitals near Metz & elsewhere says just the
same as Mrs. Cox about the loss of life from
giving no stimulants & no fresh air -- she being
an experienced Hospital Supt

One thing I think the experience of the War has
taught (my theory was very different) And that is:
that English gifts must be as much as possible
distributed by English hands. & as little as possible
by the hands of priests, nuns, mayors -- & not at all
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by the hands of Economes, Administrations, Intendance.
This experience results also from the Lord Mayor's
& Mr. Bullock's & other Funds
And as to German Army Hospitals, too, as little
as possible by the hands of Administrations,
Medical or Military -- or "Johanniter"
But how to make the difficult application of
this experience?
And will the "Questions" bring it out? --

Please forward to Emily Verney Mrs. Cox's letter
in haste [end 15:785]
ever yours sincerely
Florence Nightingale

draft, f£f210-11, light pencil [16:745-46]

Proposed Hospital by Mr. Roberts
Sydney
Remarks on proposed plan

1. The ground will answer

2. (a) unadvisable to introduce the Administration
block AAA in a long line between the wards.
(b) no objection to the front & back blocks. AA-
but the intervening block A joining the two
would interfere injuriously with the outer
ventilation- no objection to joining front
& back blocks by a Corridor, but this would
scarcely be necessary as access could be
secured otherwise--e.g. by ye Corridors joining Pavilions

3. War plan a a good
No objection to proposed bow window at end.

4. Proposed dimensions of Nurses’ rooms & Sculleries
17 x 14 too large. 10 x 12 sufficient Yes?

5. One small ward for 1 or 2 beds at 2000 c. ft
per bed, on each floor of War Pavilions
6. objection to multiplying small operation wards.
[Mr. Roberts proposes 4 small wards adjoining
Operating Theatre in broad part A besides Cottage
block H I]

H I with 2 quite separate small rooms for capital
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operations as proposed enough
accessible from operating theatre as shown
All other small wards an expence & an incumbrance
not without danger
7. Cottage block H I must have 2000 c.ft. per room
only 1 bed in each
a Nurse’s room 10 x 12
a Scullery do with hot & cold water
sink, W.C. sink,
small range for cooking
[W.C. scarcely needed]
8. Mr Roberts wanted to consult Capt. Galton
on temporary construction for Cottage block
What does Capt. Galton say? [Galton reply in ink: see letter]
9. Is not the stair-case as he proposes in
one of the squares in the Ward plan difficult? [end]
[Galton reply in ink: I think there is space & would
[fTtreg—iFtegT be height [very faint]
D.G.]

signed letter, ££f212-13, light pencil, black-edged paper

£212
Frotteur 35 South St. [16:796]
St. Thomas' Park Lane W

See D Galton 16:3 7472 March 10/74

My dear Capt. Galton

Could you be so very
kind as, thro' any of
your Contractors or otherwise
to discover & recommend
a good Frotteur?

The Treasurer of St
Thomas' Hospital has
at last (and it is
desirable to strike while
the iron is hot) sanctioned
the engagement on trial
of a Frotteur to do one
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or two wards.

The “trial' means that
-— 1f it is found to be half
penny per ward cheaper
than the present (porters)
floor. work to which
Erysipelas has been
distinctly traced
the Treasurer may then
extend a real Frotteur system
[An ignorant bay of 19 is
now their only Frotteur
and the porters who
clean are stated
actually to leave

£213
mud in the wards] [end]
Pray help us
& oblige
yours sincerely
F Nightingale

signed letter, ff214-15, pencil [8:375-77]

£214
35 South St.
Park Lane W.
April 15/76
My dear Capt. Galton
Are you in London?
Might I send you: & would you be so good as
to look at & criticize some Plans for a
Lying in Institution & Training school for Midwifery
Nurses? about to be built --

I am so very glad that you are going to give
on Saturday a Lecture on Sanitary Results
in India.

£215
How is Evelyne?
& how is Marianne?
Excuse pencil. I will write more intelligibly
when I know that you are in London.
ever yours most truly
F Nightingale
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signed letter, f£f216-18, pen

£216
35 South Street. W.
April 21/76

My dear Capt Galton

I am so thankful to hear that Evelyne's
trial is happily over: & that she & her
"little girls' are going on well.

May her health now entirely return' her
happiness, except in being separated from
you, has, I trust; always been perfect.

Will you tell Marianne (who I hope
is better) & Gwendolyne that I
give them joy with all my heart & soul?

£217
& will they tell Evelyne so with my very
best love when they write to her?

Your Indian Sanitary paper
2. I am so very glad about your proposed
reading to night of the Indian Sanitary
paper: (I shall read it with avidity
& that you think "So much has been
done".
It is particularly needed just now:
[e.g. the W. O. say: unless, you can prove that
the Army Medical School saves money, it should
be given up.]
Private Army Medical School Netley
3. I dare say you know that the decree for the
abolition of this had already gone forth
we have had a tremendous correspondence
in which the Professors were most efficient
Dr. Acland most kind & Mr. Hardy not
unreasonable.
The result is: that the sole question
now is: how to adapt the school work
to the new Short Service at medical Dept. system:
Dr. Acland (in whose hands the copy

[15:511-12]

[end]
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of the Professors' statement now is:

otherwise I would send it you.)
sees Mr. Hardy tomorrow at Oxford.

And with Dr. Acland's assent I have

had it proposed to Mr. Hardy to appoint a
Ctee, consisting of you, Dr. Acland, Sir James
Paget, & Dr. Sutherland, if well enough: to go to Netley,
examine into the Teaching means of the
School (the accommodation is most
deficient) & report to him, Mr. Hardy,
as to the best method of adapting these
to the increased numbers &c under the new

£218
[2]
Army Medical Warrant

I do most earnestly wish for this Ctee:
& that you will serve upon it:

& I think that so the School may be
placed on a securer and wider basis than it has
been for years

Dr. Parkes is an " insupportable' loss
4. Do not look at the Midwy Training School
wh: I send:

papers: till you have read your Indian
paper. & believe me
ever yrs most truly F. Nightingale

signed letter with envelope, ££219-21, pen
£219
{FRONT OF ENVELOPE}

Immediate
Capt. Galton
12 Chester Street
21/4/76
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£220 [8:377-78]

Proposed Lying-in Institution
& Training School for Midwife Nurses [in red pencil]
35 South St W
April 21/76
My dear Capt Galton
I am extremely obliged to you for being
willing to overhaul these plans
This possibility of re-opening our School
for Midwifery Nurses comes from the quarter
whence I should have least expected it
St. John's House with “force civilités'
from the female Superiors.
This great civility is of course due to the
hope that we, the NF; should spend our money
with them, as we did with our ill-fated School
at King's College Hospl
And this we should:
that is: if not only we were satisfied
with the Lying-in accommodation
and with the accommodation for pupils:
but also with the Training means afforded
we might very well spend money
(not in maintaining beds, as we did at K. C. H.)
but
in maintaining Pupils there: at this next
Institution

£220v

And if the "National" District Nursing Assn
gets money, they might do so too

[At present I must say the Training prospects
appear of the gloomiest

The Sisters of St. John's seem to intend to be
themselves the Midwives: & to contemplate
only MonTHLY Nurses: & for the rich.

In that case, of course we should have
nothing to do with them.

But we have this hold upon them: that
they want our money & our name. They

will not get it unless they do what we think

essential.

This prospect not only of saving Lying in

lives: but of possibly re-opening our Midwifery School

under good conditions makes me willing
not only to take a good deal of pains
but to ask you to do so too.
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[I will ask you at present not to show
these plans to any one. for some reason
that I do not understand they ask this
Afterwards I shall of course show the
criticisms that you are good enough to
make. ]
ever yours sincerely
F. Nightingale

Enclosed or accompanying are:
1 roll (2 plans: Estimates: & letter)
1 Envelope of 5 plans &c
1 Envelope of 3 letters &c
F.N's Notes of criticism (3 sheets
Dr. Sutherland's (L "

& a copy of F.N's book on Lying in Institutions
in case you wish to refer
that you may have it at hand.
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note, ff222-25v, light pencil and pen [8:375-77]

£222
Proposed Maternity Hospital & Nurses Home and
Notes on Plans Nursing School 15/4/76

1. 48 Lying in beds: but in fact only 36 occupied.
Beds indeed by Architect's own showing, only 27: since, as
there is no Delivery Ward, he intends 3 only out of each group of 4 to be
occupied
together.
2 Is not Basement accommodn unnecessarily
Large?
A Dispensary not necessary in a Lying in Institution: where the fewer
drugs
the better.
3. No Basement accommodation especially not an
but Patients Waiting Room, or Surgeon's Room should be
under Lying in Wards The two, out Patients &
In Patients, indeed the two, Patients & administrative, buildings shd. be
separate: or if this is impossible, only
harmless stores should be under patients. Not Coals: Even a Linen store where

there
is much passing to and fro, not desirable.
4 3 We should think the Ward Scullery accomodn
insufficient for this reason that every
block (of 4 beds or Ward on each floor) Must
have it's own Scullery accomodn, Sinks &c
in order for the periodical cleansing of the
whole: one block with all its appurtenances
to be always vacant for cleansing.
Also, a Bath Sink. (Infants Baths essential)
Slop Sink, W.C., Linens & everything. to each
floor of each block quite separate
"Nurses's Room" may be well turned into a
Scullery: but there must be either 2 Linen Rooms
one for each block or the Linen may be
in Scullery. which is quite admissible In that case the
Linen Room might be made into a Nurse's Room: But it would be far
better to give up the “Nurse's Room,” throw half of the Linen Room into each
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Scullery, where—irnfantsmust—Te—washed, where there

Must be a hot linen closet a small kitchen range, wh{cut off}
syringes &c one for each women must be kept & washed

Where infants -- must often be washed and dressed:

& where there must be room for Nurses and pupils

The Scullery is the "Nurse's Room" in a

Lying in Institution & must be

made proper for the purpose.

£223
2
5. 3 We suppose it is proposed to deliver
each woman in her own ward, in this case, after each
Delivery, the Ward ought to stand empty for at least 10 months,
to "assimilate it to

"a woman's own home'": objectionable also, (ffXFreg] for the danger
of disturbing the women in the 3 next Wards
especially if one were in a state of exhaustion):

This makes hwowever—the periodical vacating
& cleansing of the whole appurtenances still more essential: for if the

Scullery
is to do duty as the Scullery of a Delivery Ward as well, it will have a good
deal to
do.
6. Is it intended that the Lying in Woman

shall occupy the same Ward from time

she comes in till time she goes out

no convalescent Ward [3 changes are good.] But if only
there were a Delivery Ward no other change is necessary.
7. It is not desirable to have Ward doors
opening oPPOSITE each other.

8. Will not the "open" spaces make dangerous draughts?

If there is a Delivery Ward (which is considered essential), the passages &
corridors must
have no “open” spaces; & must be capable of warming: as the Women will have
to be carried thro them after Delivery
9. Yes: Lifts
10 We see no provision for ISOLATED accommn
for a sick Lying in Woman. This is essential.
11. We see no accommn for having RELIEFS
of Pupil Midwives
Nor is the number proposed to train given:
? 30
{There are only 12 Nurses' beds} shown
& 5' Ladies " } & no reliefs & [check #s]
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12 We see no accommodation for Head Midwife
or Midwives

There must be one if not two, or even three, Midwives at—Zteast—atfirst

The Head Midwife stre will expect two rooms
The "Sister's" accommodn however might be turned
to this purpose.

13. Is not the Mortuary (tho' there should
be no deaths) too much in sight of the left
hand block?
Even if there were no deaths this is objectionable
[ Of course no Post Mortems will be done here]
14 Points of Compass not indicated
15 4 floors & 3 floors of Wards
objectionable. This is the blot of the plan. both for
health & convenience
Also it necessitates vacating 12 beds: viz a whole block]
Always for periodical cleansing: of course you
cannot be scraping, white washing &c over the heads of—the Lying in

Women: The whole block from top to bottom must stand empty at

one & the same time. [end 8:377]
F.N.

Begin Separate Notes on Mr. Salter Architect's Letter

folio

A. Mr. Salter appears to forget that in trying

"to assimilate”™ his "plan" to that of "Lying-in women's
"own homes" he has omitted the most essential
condition: viz. that in any room inhabited by

the same couple a second Delivery cannot take
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place within ten months = & may not take place
for years This I believe to be the real secret
of safety at home

The nearest approach that can be made to this
is: to have 2 Delivery Wards to each floor:
one of them always standing empty: month &
month about:

And these Delivery Wards I believe to be essential
in any Lying-in Institution of more than 3

OrR 4 BEDS: & 1in constant use: for any safety

Mr. Salter's single bed Wards are then capital

But Fhe delivery in the single-bed Ward would not
be without danger: nor would it be assimilated

to Home lyings-in, as Mr. Salter wishes, unless

each Ward after each Delivery remained

empty for 10 months: a condition which

renders any Institution at all - impossible.

Neither does economy appear to be attained

by this plan: since the mecessary essential "standing empty'
of each Ward, -- even for a much shorter period,
than 10 months -- seems, by Mr. Salter's own

shewing, to be greaster necessarily longer than if there were for—a Delivery
Ward:
& Since, -- for this is important, if the Ward Scullery
is to do the duty of a Delivery Scullery this so
greatly increases the Scullery Work that it
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renders absolutely essential one good sized
Scullery to each 4 beds -- not to be used for any
other Ward together with Bath Sink, Slop Sink
W.C. &c &c Sink Bath for soiled linen:
& all this standing periodically empty with its
Ward.

N.B [To have all the soiled Delivery linen in this Ward
Scullery somewhat increases the risk to the
Lying in women in the Wards.] It is so much

better to have all the Delivery bustle & mess apart

B. It would be impossible to nurse this
in many respects admirable construction
with only 12 Pupil Midwives:
even were there 3 qualified Training Midwives,
as there ought to be:
[& for the first year, 2 qualified Nurses besides]
Nor could there be any training worth the
name: in such a case.
With 27 occupied beds, there might well be
25 Pupils: or with 36, 30 Pupils
& there must be a thorough, sufficient, completely organized,
& thoroughly qualified Training Midwife Staff
[I do not think one Midwife to every 6 or 8 Pupils
too much: (this is roughly speaking: for the staff Midwives
are, of course, not "told off' in this way]

£225v

C. Are there not too many windows &

draughts (tho' a fault on the right side) to
the Wards?

D "Organ" could not be borne by an
average woman during or soon after Delivery
& would wake the Night Pupils sleeping by day
Where half the Patients are under 9 days old
& the other half lying in women who cannot
leave their beds an organ seems superfluous.
F.N. [in blue pencil]

ff226-28 Observations on Plans for Maternity Institution at Battersea, in a
neat hand not FN or DG but dated and initialed by DG 25 April 1876
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signed letter, f£f229-30, pen and pencil

£229
35 South St
Park Lane W.
May 6/76
My dear Capt. Galton
1. I was most thankful to have a second

notice of the well doing of Evelyne, & her
little girls.
I hope you still have the best of news.

2. Thanks many & great for your
valuable notes on the Maternity Instn
plans.
You shall hear of these, I must, again

£230
They are now in Hy B. C.'s hands

3. Great thanks too for your
Indian Sanitary paper:
(also for sending me a copy:)
I thought it inimitable, exhaustive,

powerful.
I would you had Indian affairs in your
hands'!
Private
4. I have heard nothing more yet of [15:514]

proposed Committee for Netley School
But the School is saved: replaced
in new Army Medl Warrant: & orders
sent for increase of accommodation
for Candidates. [end]
I still however hope for Comm tee:
How is Marianne? My love to her &
Gwendolyne: please: & believe me
ever yrs sincerely
F. Nightingale
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signed letter with envelope, ff231-32v, pen and pencil

£231
Dr. Quain's Dictionary 35 South St.
Article on Nursing Park Lane W
May 6/76 [12:716-17]
Private

My dear Capt Galton
I have made an attempt to do this Article: because
you & Marianne were so good as to wish
it: & because you thought it would be useful
[Do not be alarmed: it will be quite easy with
a pair of scissors to cut out a short Article

from the enclosed -- I have had it
printed in order to do so.]
But: X

Nursing cannot be treated like a disease:
it must be treated like an Art in its
relations to Medicine, Surgery & Hygiene:
it is almost coextensive with these.
A real Dictionary of Nursing would be
almost as lengthy as a "Dictionary" of Medicine
An Article on Nursing cannot be like an
Article on Amputations or on Fevers or on
Ventilation, since +t Nursing embraces all these: &c

x Your kind instructions to me were: to be "quite" technical
"& professional": very much condensed: about 2 pages of
"double columns", (very close point,), to be in proportion
with the other articles: practical and not historical:



396

£231v

‘much more:

It must be more like an Article on Therapeutics
or on Hygiene:

I have tried to treat of Nursing here in its
relations to the Medical Profession: & from
the point of view of the Medical Profession:
what the Nurse has to do for the Physician

or Surgeon:

& on the other hand one cannot treat

of it without considering what the

Physician & Surgeon have to do for the

Nurse:
in training her, in building up the Art

of Nursing, & making it fit to be their

intelligent servant:

[If they would give me this heading & space for my an
Article on Nurses, "Nursing & Nurse Training,

I think a very respectable Article might be

made. X If not, & 1if a strictly

{the following is a long footnote at the end of the page}

x You will hardly believe it, but in this year a "Physician's
"Vade Mecum" has been put into my hands, revised up to this year,
in which nearly every one of all the old errors of Nursing is

revived: reproduced (The article on Nursing is of considerable length:

longer than Dr. Quain's): eve